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Statement of the Management of the Bank 
 

General information on AS “SEB banka” 
“SEB banka” (the Bank) is a joint-stock company registered in the Republic of Latvia (registered office: Meistaru iela 1, 
Valdlauči, Ķekava parish, Ķekava county, LV-1076, Latvia; uniform registration number: LV 40003151743; the credit 
institution operating licence issued on 23 September 1993, licence registry No. 06.01.05.011/242).  
The Bank and its subsidiaries (the Group) are engaged in providing banking and financial services. The parent company of 
the Bank and the Group is the bank Skandinaviska Enskilda Banken AB (publ) registered in Sweden.  
 
Group companies: 
 
SIA “SEB līzings” 
SEB finanšu centrs, Meistaru iela 1, Valdlauči, Ķekavas parish, Ķekavas county, LV-1076 
Uniform registration number: 50003334041 
seblizings@seb.lv 
 
IPAS “SEB Investment Management” 
Antonijas iela 9-12, Riga, LV-1010 
Uniform registration number: 40003525797 
investment.management@seb.lv 
 
AS “SEB atklātais pensiju fonds” 
Antonijas iela 9, Riga, LV-1010 
Uniform registration number: 40003485047 
pensija@seb.lv 
 

Business sustainability  
Business objectives 

The long-term objective of the Bank is to be the leading bank in the Baltics excelling in customer service. This objective is 
supported by our vision, i.e., to provide world-class service to customers. The Bank has been pursuing this long-term 
objective concurrently with balanced business returns and handy remote solutions for its customers, which enable use of 
financial services wherever our customers are. 

In the retail business and small and medium-sized business segments, the following medium-term objectives have been 
defined: ensuring sustainable and balanced growth in financing and improving customer service models across all 
customer segments through the use of the new customer service tools created for customers in recent years, including in 
2020. As we have underlined in our business objectives, the Bank plays a significant role in creating a transparent business 
environment. We will therefore continue to cooperate with our customers with a view to assessing their impact on 
environmental, social and governance principles. This assessment forms a part of the responsibility imposed on the Bank 
of knowing its customers. In this customer segment, our goal is to be a professional advisor and support in meeting financial 
needs.  

In the large companies segment, the Bank aims to be the leading bank for large companies operating in Latvia. The Bank 
has an objective of ensuring such growth in lending, which underlies sustainable, environmentally friendly and socially 
significant progress.  

Governance principles 

In 2020, the Bank further strengthened its adherence to good governance principles. The Bank's business principles and 
focus on aspects such as corporate governance, responsible and ethical conduct, attitude towards the confidentiality of 
information and management of personal data, open communication, managing conflicts of interest, safe and healthy 
working environment, ensuring compliance, internal reporting, which are set out in the Business Conduct Policy, are just 
some of the principles that guide our daily work. Increasing importance is being attached to sustainability aspects both in 
the evaluation of our own operations and in the selection of suppliers. When selecting counterparties in the lending 
business, this aspect is of particular importance. 

We have continued to significantly strengthen our anti-money laundering and terrorism and proliferation financing (AML) 
prevention and sanctions risk management oversight mechanisms. We have invested significant resources in this area, 
including strengthening the team and developing IT systems. In 2019, an agreement was signed with FCMC for the 
payment of the administrative penalty and further investment in the AML area. In 2020, the priority for the development 
of IT systems was precisely on these aspects of governance, with further improvements in controls in line with the 
requirements of the regulator. In addition to ensuring compliance with the administrative agreement and improving 
controls in line with the AML requirements of the FCMC, which led to the termination of the administrative proceedings,  
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Statement of the Management of the Bank (continued) 
 

Bank also made several proactive investments in AML/sanction risk management aimed at being among the European 
banks using the best available governance and technology practices. 

Strategically, we have continued to maintain a conservative assessment and selection of customer segments, focusing 
primarily on providing services to low-risk residents and seeking to reduce our presence in higher-risk customer segments 
or transactions. It is critical for SEB bank not only to comply with the formal requirements of the regulator, but also to do 
everything reasonably possible and necessary to reduce the risk of becoming involved in financial crime or having a 
negative impact of any other kind on the Bank's business or reputation. 

 

Operating environment  
Financial sector 

The beginning of 2020 was significant for the financial sector, as international institutions positively assessed that Latvia 
had built a strong and sustainable financial system to prevent money laundering, terrorism and proliferation financing due 
to a broad and ambitious change process. The Europe Experts Council for the Evaluation of Anti-Money Laundering 
Measures and the Financing of Terrorism (Moneyval) gave a positive assessment of the sector's improvements. While the 
Financial Action Task Force (FATF) decided in February 2020 not to include Latvia on the so-called “gray list”. 

In order to move from a rules-based approach to a risk-based approach, the industry, led by Finance Latvia Association, 
developed a proposal during the year for a more proportionate risk assessment approach, i.e., a 20-point plan to improve 
regulatory requirements, which was also welcomed by the government. This will help to better achieve the common goal 
of effectively tackling financial crime and ensuring that day-to-day interactions with customers are more convenient and 
understandable, the process of customer research is simplified and the process of information sharing is improved. 

Also in 2020, in cooperation with banks, various Open Banking options have been developed. Customers now have the 
ability to view their account balances at all major banks in one place. Similarly, with the help of Open Banking, e-commerce 
customers can enter into an agreement with a single service provider and offer their customers the option to pay from 
accounts in different banks. Cooperation between banks at this level has not happened before and is an important step 
towards making everyday life more convenient for customers. 

The economy as a whole  

Although economic activity will be limited at the start of 2021 as the risk of contagion decreases, a rapid recovery is 
expected in the future. This will be aided by vaccination, which will increase population mobility and consumption again. 
Vaccination will also reduce the risk of infection at the end of the year, so severe restrictions will not be necessary. Growth 
will be supported by expansion in manufacturing and exports. In 2021, the Latvian economy is expected to grow by 3.9 
per cent, after a decline of 3.6 per cent in 2020, with inflation rising to 1.2 per cent from 0.2 per cent in 2020. 

The unexpectedly widespread outbreak of COVID19 in 2020 and the measures taken to contain it during the first and 
second waves led to a rapid disruption of economic activity and a recession. Restrictions on business and population 
mobility caused household consumption to plummet. Changes in foreign demand led to a decline in the volume of exports. 
At the same time, entrepreneurs' expectations about the temporary effects of contagion kept the level of investment 
activity close to the 2019 level.  

The Latvian economy survived the crisis relatively more successfully than most eurozone countries , owing to the balanced 
economy, competitiveness of entrepreneurs and lower dependence on the tourism, accommodation and foodservice and 
entertainment industries. In addition, the crisis was aggravated by the steady decline in transit freight volumes. Despite a 
rapid decline in the spring, manufacturing successfully recovered by year-end. The economic recovery will strengthen up 
in the second half of 2021. 

The decline in activity aggravated the situation in the labour market and led to an increase in unemployment. The balanced 
economy and timely measures helped to contain the rise in unemployment. As a result, the increase in unemployment was 
much more reasonable than what happened in the Latvian economy during the global financial crisis. The positive trends 
are expected return to the labour market in the second quarter of 2021.  

The unexpectedly rapid crisis only partially slowed wage growth. This result was due to the sum of many factors. 
Entrepreneurs were able to adapt quickly to the new circumstances and maintain business. The decline in average wages 
was registered in the accommodation and food service sectors and in the transport and storage sectors. It was also 
expected that the problems would be temporary, and that employee motivation would need to be maintained as demand 
for skilled labour remained high. Consequently, wage pressures have eased somewhat in 2020 and will pick up again in 
2021 due to the economic cycle. This will be due to the unabated demand for higher wages in the public sector and the 
increase in the minimum wage. 
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Statement of the Management of the Bank (continued) 
 

Business environment 

During the reporting year, the Bank regularly monitored the condition of the Bank’s customers. A comparison of April and 
June 2020 performance shows that the economic impact of Covid-19 has been lower than expected. Although the number 
of newly registered businesses has fallen to its historically lowest levels, the general sentiment among entrepreneurs is 
relatively positive. According to survey of small and medium enterprises SEB conducted in all three Baltic countries, 
digitisation has become more important, at the same time, however, many companies do not yet see the benefits of such 
a transformation. 

Covid-19 has accelerated the growth of e-commerce – companies have found solutions to adapt to the new conditions. 
The demand for people has increased significantly, and the number of market participants in the industry has also 
increased. 

Due to the changes brought about by Covid-19, it was important for the Bank in 2020 to support its customers in situations 
of financial difficulty. The Bank joined the credit industry moratorium developed jointly by Finance Latvia Assocciation and 
its members. Since the spring of 2020, the Bank has assisted more than 2,000 individuals and 400 businesses that have 
experienced difficulties as a result of the new challenges. 

 

Risk management 

In the reporting year, the Bank continued to maintain its focus on risk management. Specifically, work was undertaken to 
further strengthen the oversight processes in the areas of IT, information, and cyber security, which will continue to be 
important areas of risk management for the Bank.  

The spread of Covid-19 and related limitations required significant adjustments regarding management of the bank's 
internal processes, where, among other things, solutions were found for more employees to be able to perform their duties 
remotely. To strengthen the Bank's ability to ensure the continuity of critical processes and services in the circumstances 
of potential infection spreading, the Bank has separated employees who perform critical functions at the main office and 
has found solutions for additional workplaces elsewhere. 

The Bank continues to apply a rigorous KYC approach to lending, which includes a thorough assessment of customers' 
cash flows and their ability to repay loans. Despite the wide impact of the Covid-19 restrictions on individuals and 
companies, the Bank has maintained a high and stable quality of its overall loan portfolio. During the reporting year, the 
Bank closely monitored the development of the situation, performed in-depth analysis and organized stress tests to assess 
the impact of potential credit risk. Bank has established portfolio provisions for potential additional losses and will continue 
to perform enhanced supervision and analysis in the future. 

Taking into account the significant increase in deposits, the bank's liquidity reserves have also increased, thus further 
strengthening the performance of significant liquidity risk indicators (the liquidity coverage ratio has exceeded 400 per 
cent). With deposits growing faster than the loan portfolio, the loan-to-deposit ratio has decreased to 88 per cent (98 per 
cent in 2019). With interest rates remaining negative, significant attention was paid to management of Bank’s overall 
interest rate risks and pricing of services during the reporting year. 

Although the ECB's overall approach last year was to find ways to reduce the supervisory burden on banks, including 
postponing the entry into force of certain rules and reducing standard supervision activities, during 2020 the ECB's strong 
supervisory focus was on Covid-19 issues. 

 

Business performance 
Dynamics of the number of customers 

In 2020, more than 10,000 new customers chose SEB bank as their financial counterparty. 44 per cent of the new 
customers are between 18 and 65 years old, whereas 50 per cent customers are under 18 years old. 87 per cent of the 
new customers are individuals, and 13 per cent are companies. Overall, the bank provides services to nearly 442,000 
individuals who use banking services on a regular basis, and 29,600 small and medium-sized enterprises and 1,400 large 
companies. 

Lending activity 

General uncertainty caused by the pandemic has affected the economy and the activity of the population, however, the 
Bank’s loan portfolio remained healthy and grew by 2 per cent on average.  

In the reporting year, the Bank issued EUR 767 million in loans, which is by  29 per cent more than in 2019. EUR  589 
million was issued to companies and EUR 131 million was issued to individuals for the purchase or repair of housing. The 
total loan portfolio was EUR 3.1 billion at the end of December 2020, up by 1 per cent compared to the end of December 
2019.  
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Statement of the Management of the Bank (continued) 
 

According to the data of the fourth quarter of 2020, the Bank was the second largest provider of finance in the financial 
sector. 

 

Deposits 

In 2020, customer deposits increased by over 13 per cent, reaching EUR 3.5 billion. Corporate deposits grew by 14 per 
cent (up 22 per cent in 2019), while retail deposits grew by 13 per cent (up 10 per cent in 2019). At the end of 2020, 
retail deposits accounted for more than 56 per cent of total deposits. At the end of the fourth quarter of 2020, SEB banka's 
deposit market share in Latvia was 19 per cent. 

 

Financial performance  

In Latvia, SEB Group 2020’s revenues reached EUR 109 million, a decrease of 2 per cent compared to the 12 months of 
2019. Costs amounted to EUR 53 million, a decrease of 4 per cent compared to the previous year. Profit before provisions 
was EUR 56 million, a decrease of 1 per cent compared to 2019. Operating profit after tax and provisions reached EUR 
39 million in the 12 months of 2020, a decrease of 21 per cent compared to the previous year. 

In the period from 1 January to 31 December, provisions of EUR 15.8 million were created. As at 31 December 2020, own 
funds amounted to EUR 430.2 million. At the end of December 2020, assets amounted to EUR 4.3 billion. 

 

New solutions and opportunities for customers  

In order to provide customers with comprehensive and convenient banking services, the Bank both improved existing and 
sought new solutions during the year. In 2020, some significant improvements were made to the mobile application, e.g., 
the “Payment to a phone number’ service was launched, which allows a payment to be made just by providing the payee’s 
phone number. Improved options for saving and defining multiple savings goals have been provided. Customers can also 
track their investments using the app. 

 Since the end of 2019, the number of users of SEB banka’s mobile application in Latvia has increased by around 41 
thousand (21 per cent), reaching more than 195,000 by the end of 2020, of which more than 121,000 bank customers 
actively used the app on a daily basis. In the Baltic countries, more than 750,000 users already use the SEB mobile app. 

There has been a marked trend in payment cards: 80 per cent of new and 99 of renewed debit cards were delivered to 
individuals by post in December, whereas in the previous year most customers visited branches to get them. 

Restrictions on arranging face-to-face meetings have led to customers relying more on remote communication with the 
bank. The number of online video consultations has increased from 2,500 (2019) to almost 8,000 in 2020. The most 
significant increase is observed in the small and medium business segment – from less than 100 (in 2019) to more than 
1,500 video consultations in 2020, which is related to the possibility for SEB banka customers, individuals, to open 
corporate accounts remotely during video consultations. In the retail segment, there was an increase from 2,400 (in 
2019) to over 6,400.  

During the reporting year, the Bank created several new solutions for its clients and entrepreneurs. At the Baltic level, the 
new solution “Baltic Gateway” was created, which allows entrepreneurs to exchange financial data with the Bank quickly 
and securely. The solution makes it possible to view daily reports, company account information, and account statements 
for the last two years online, as well as to prepare and sign SEPA payments, flash payments or international payment 
orders in the accounting programme and receive information on the status of payment processing. 
A new e-commerce solution “Banklink 2.0” for entrepreneurs has also been launched, significantly enhancing the 
capabilities of online merchants in processing and accepting payments. Real-time transaction monitoring, statistics and 
reports, payment history, card transaction selection and export, cancelation and refund, an anti-fraud tool and 
management of e-shop checkout settings that can be added to an invoice are now available to businesses. These can be 
added to invoices, emails, SMS or the QR codes where payment information has already been included. 

The Bank offers the e-commerce payment solution for entrepreneurs in partnership with financial technology company 
EveryPay, which was named the best cloud payment solution in the world at the PayTech Awards 2020. 

 

The performance of SIA “SEB līzings” 

SIA SEB Līzings is primarily engaged in providing leasing and factoring services to individuals and businesses. In 2020, the 
company's net turnover was 9.9 million euros which is a decrease of 1 per cent compared to 2019. Developments in the 
car dealer market in Latvia play an important role in the company's business. In 2020, sales in this market decreased 
significantly (by 25 per cent). This explains the decline in the volume of new lease financing issued in times of national 
emergency. 
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Despite the decline in demand, the company has been able to maintain a stable market position, keeping its leasing 
portfolio above EUR 290 million euros (down 4 per cent compared to 2019). Auto financing accounts for 46 per cent of 
the total leasing portfolio, with the level of the portfolio remaining at the same level as in previous years. The decrease in 
the portfolio is observed in the commercial vehicle sector and in equipment financing, which can be explained by the fact 
that customers are more cautious when investing in the corporate sector. 

 In 2020, new financing in the amount of EUR 101 million was issued for the purchase of leased assets, of which 51 per 
cent was for the purchase of new cars. SIA “SEB Līzings” market share in new car financing is 24.7 per cent. 

 The year 2020 was also important with regard to the implementation of the Green Leasing strategy. In terms of 
sustainability, more attractive terms and conditions for financing electric cars were developed. 23 electric cars were 
financed in 2020 with a total volume of EUR 685 thousand. SIA “SEB Līzings” also continued to work on making processes 
more efficient and offering convenient remote customer service. 

In 2020, the factoring market was cautious towards borrowers due to the macroeconomic uncertainty triggered by the 
pandemic. Credit risk and limits were reassessed by debtors' insurers (Atradius, Coface), especially in regions and 
countries with tightened quarantine conditions that restricted economic activity (e.g., UK, Italy, etc.). According to data 
from Latvian Leasing Association, SEB Līzings increased its market share in the factoring portfolio by 5.5 per cent year-on-
year in the third quarter of 2020. Sales declined by 4 per cent year-on-year, which can be explained by the improvement 
in the overall risk of the loan portfolio and an associated decline in the average loan rate. 

 

The performance of IPAS “SEB Investment Management” 

In 2020, assets under management of IPAS “SEB Investment Management” increased by EUR 116 million (6.9 per cent). 
At year-end, total assets under management amounted to more than EUR 1.797 billion. Net profit (investment 
performance) for all customers reached EUR 25 million. The positive results were achieved despite the rapid fluctuations 
on the global financial markets under the influence of the Covid-19 pandemic, which did not paint such a promising picture 
at mid-year. 

In 2020, all investment portfolios of state pension funds, private pension funds and institutional clients managed by IPAS 
“SEB Investment Management” showed positive returns. The performance of the “SEB Index Plan” (+3.56 per cent) is 
particularly notable. It has maintained its top position among all state-funded pension plans over the past two years with 
a total return slightly above the +30 per cent mark. 

Owing to good cost discipline and positive financial market performance, the company’s overall financial performance was 
stable in the second, third and fourth quarters of 2020. The operating profit amounted to EUR 2.49 million. 

The investment environment in 2021 will be challenging. Given the constantly changing circumstances of the Covid-19 
pandemic, investors will need to remain vigilant. In late 2020, financial markets experienced a sharp rise that can be seen 
as a “credit” in hopes of a fairly quick victory over the coronavirus. Stock valuations are high relative to historical averages. 
Conversely, extremely low interest rates are causing investors to take some risks in search of positive returns. The long-
term impact of the Covid-19 pandemic will likely not be felt by the global economy and financial markets until the second 
half of this year or even 2022. It is highly likely that there will be a need to react quickly to new developments. The 
formation of a new US administration might make the geopolitical situation more stable, but it is too early to draw 
conclusions from this. 

 

The performance of “SEB atklātais pensiju fonds” 

As a leader in long-term private pensions, the company continued to advise customers on managing their financial savings 
and pension funds in 2020. Due to the outbreak of the Covid-19 pandemic in the spring, the value of pension fund assets 
fell temporarily. However, the year ended with a positive investment performance of EUR 1.7 million, which together with 
contributions from pension plan participants led to a 5 per cent increase in pension plan assets. Pension plan assets 
totalled EUR 194.5 million, which is the highest historical value in the 20 years of SEB pension fund’s existence. 

It is particularly noteworthy that the number of employers offering sustainable salaries, including private pension plans to 
their employees, increased in 2020, which is like in the countries of Western Europe. The number of new companies that 
have set up private pension plans for their employees has more than doubled in 2020 compared to 2019, and there are 
now 851 such companies. 

 Despite the challenges facing the economy and the labour market, employer contributions to employee pension funds in 
the amount of EUR 6.4 million increased by 2 per cent compared to 2019. Private contributions increased by 3 per cent to 
EUR 18.3 million in 2020. Most customers prefer regular monthly contributions to their pension savings, which reduces 
the impact of negative financial market fluctuations on the value of their savings. 

 In 2020, the use of remote services increased by 87 per cent of the total transactions – both through individual 
participation agreements and through related private pension fund management services (disbursement applications  
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from participants, their heirs or nominated persons, changing pension plans or the pension fund, and various transaction 
reports). 

It is particularly noteworthy that the SEB Group’s asset managers achieved a positive investment performance for SEB 
pension fund customers. The return on investment for the SEB - Balanced pension plan reached 1.50 per cent p.a., while 
the SEB- Active plan achieved 1.60 per cent p.a. At the same time, at the beginning of the year the company decided to 
reduce the commissions charged to customers by 5 per cent, as well as to charge lower commissions to customers for 
whom contributions had been made by the employer but were no longer being made. 

All in all 87,496 customers and 851 companies make voluntary contributions into SEB’s private pension plan. This speaks 
for mutual trust and long-term cooperation with the best services of SEB online bank. 

In the future, the company will expand its product range and related services for younger customers as well as socially 
responsible investments, including in environmentally friendly investments and in companies with good corporate 
governance. 
 

Valuable content, information and events held for our customers 
For entrepreneurs  

In implementing the Bank’s corporate sustainability strategy, one of the priorities of which is to support innovation and 
entrepreneurship, the Bank continued to implement its programmes to enhance the skills and development of 
entrepreneurs during the reporting year, such as the Growth Programme and the Grant Programme “(ie)dvesma” 
(“Inspiration”). 

Under the Growth Programme, 14 Latvian companies worked for six months under the guidance of experts to develop 
innovative products or services to promote faster and sustainable growth for their businesses. For the first time the Bank 
carried out Growth Programme online, generating an unprecedented response for a public presentation. The total number 
of views was 100,000, and an average of 16.7 thousand people watched the presentation. Under the “(ie)dvesma” 
programme, a business start-up support programme that the Bank implements jointly with six municipalities, grants of 
EUR 70,000 were again awarded for the development of new business ideas. In this programme, the Bank received a 
record number of applications (77 ideas), and this was held entirely online as well. 
 
The Bank continued to seek new partnerships with financial technology start-ups under the Mastercard Lighthouse 
programme. To support the development of existing social enterprises and new social entrepreneurship ideas in Latvia, 
the Bank supported the Latvian business idea competition "Tam labam būs augt", jointly organised by Social 
Entrepreneurship Association of Latvia and British Council, which received more than 60 different social entrepreneurship 
ideas and project applications. 

Considering the constraints caused by the Covid-19 pandemic and its impact on economic development, the Bank regularly 
informed its customers about current developments in the Latvian and global economy. In addition, the Bank offered its 
customers the opportunity to participate in the economic forum CexitBiz (over 2,100 views). 

 
For individuals 

In the summer of 2020, for the third consecutive year, 15 young adults participated in the Bank's two-month internship 
programme, which gave them the opportunity to engage in daily work and participate in the Baltic-level innovation 
programme, handling various challenges aimed at improving the Bank's business. 

In the reporting year, various conferences were offered by the Bank, such as the public forum “Cexit” (over 4,800 online 
views), the “Līdere” conference (over 93,500 online views) and “Celtspēja” (over 3,300 views). 

To contribute to the formation of a socially responsible generation by educating young women – the future leaders and 
drivers of change - the Bank started supporting the leadership, entrepreneurship and growth programme for young 
women “Future Heroes”, launched by National Education and Content Centre and British Council representation in Latvia, 
with the participation of 50 girls aged 13-17 from Latvia. 

In the reporting year, the Bank provided online webinars for customers on various financial and economic development 
topics with a special focus on sustainability. In 2020, a webinar series on a sustainable society was launched to reflect on 
how everyday habits (studying, working, travelling, etc.) will shape future society. A webinar on the impact of the 
European Green Course on car choices in Latvia in the near future was also organised. 

One of the objectives during the reporting year was also to educate and raise public awareness on cyber security. To 
promote awareness of data and financial security, educational videos, and an interactive test, CyberQuest, were created  
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by experts, and the Bank encouraged everyone to test their knowledge and skills to recognise the traps set by scammers. 
Overall, 77.5 thousand people took the test. 

As a long-standing supporter of the Cēsis Art Festival, the Bank continued to allow its customers to enjoy a high-quality 
arts and culture programme in 2020. Each year, the Bank also provides study scholarships in the amount of EUR 55,000, 
which the Vītolu Foundation helps to manage and award. The Bank is also a long-standing supporter of SOS Children’s 
Villages. 
 

Acknowledgments 
For the fourth consecutive year, the Bank was awarded the Platinum category in the Sustainability Index and received a 
rating of 94.2 per cent. 

 

The team and contribution to employees  
The team that takes care of customers and manages various projects daily is the basis of the Bank’s work. Continuous 
learning, strengthening leadership skills, learning and introducing new work environment formats describe the Bank as an 
employer in 2020. 

At the end of the reporting period, the Bank had 839 employees. In total, the Bank provided 53 different types of training 
to improve staff skills and knowledge. As part of talent management, the Bank revised the nomination criteria for the 
Talent Programme to include key executives and specialists as well as aspiring executives and specialists, doubling the 
number of talents from earlier - to just over 150. A special training programme and growth toolkit was prepared for the 
talents this year. The Bank is also running a separate training programme for managers, focusing primarily on managers' 
skills in leading a team remotely, thinking strategically, managing and leading teams, and ensuring the achievement of 
business objectives. 

During the reporting year, the Bank had the opportunity to make a new digital training platform SEB Campus available to 
employees, a shared training program of the Bank’s parent company, which offers extensive opportunities for online 
training on various topics. The number of users of the new employee training platform Campus Online has risen to 96 per 
cent, which confirms that the prepared content and selected topics are relevant and important for employee development.  

Campus Online offers more than 7,000 different training courses for employees. The goal for 2021 is to increase 
employee training from 23 to 40 hours per year. 

The Bank’s traditional internal events such as “Health Week”, the tribute to long-serving employees and the “Thank You” 
initiative were the initiatives that continued to strengthen the Bank’s team in 2020. To strengthen the team spirit, a special 
entertaining and informative series  in format of television show “TGIF or Thank God it's Friday!“ was launched in 2020 
for employees. 

In the reporting year, the Bank also adopted the flexible working hours and workplace policy, thereby increasing staff 
motivation, ensuring even better customer service and the satisfaction of counterparties, customers and peers. 

In 2020, the Bank began to seriously address the issues of diversity and inclusion. A series of meetings were organised 
where, for example, the issue of equal pay was openly discussed, which Bank has also implemented in the remuneration 
review process, and will continue to pay more attention to in the future. The Bank advocates equal career development 
opportunities for employees with different experience and strives to build teams in order for everyone to have equal 
opportunities. During the reporting year, the Bank continued active participation in the Diversity Association where 
focused on work with diversity issues, participated in defining the main future directions, as well as took part in events 
organized by the association. 

The Bank's employees are active members and experts in several other significant platforms, where they contribute to 
solving various issues and improving policies - the Finance Latvia Association, the Foreign Investors Council in Latvia, the 
Latvian Employers Confederation, the American Chamber of Commerce in Latvia, the Swedish Chamber of Commerce in 
Latvia, the Baltic Institute of Corporate Governance and others. 

Participation rates in the 2020 employer survey remained at their previous high levels. Despite the changes that 2020 
has brought, employees with one of the highest ratings pointed to the importance of being a team, meaning that the 
company is able to take care of the team and help strengthen the internal culture, even though many employees work 
remotely. Overall, ratings for leadership feedback and meaningful work were also high. 

In the reporting year, Kristaps Strazds temporarily joined the Bank’s Management Board and became Chief Financial     
Officer of SEB. 
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Future prospects 
The Bank continues to elaborate and develop its business by pursuing the objective stated in its Business sustainability 
strategy, i.e., to ensure sustainable economic growth for the population of the Baltic countries, including Latvia. SEB is 
firmly committed to contributing to sustainable development and supporting customers to grow according to 
environmental, social and governance (ESG) requirements. 
 
In 2021, the Bank will focus on sustainability aspects in its business even more, both in its cooperation with customers and 
in ensuring its processes. In addition, the Bank is specifically reducing its CO2 emissions by measuring carbon dioxide 
emissions from electricity and paper consumption, use of company cars and business travel since 2008. The Bank has set 
itself the goal of having a net climate footprint close to zero from 2021 on. SEB Group prepares SEB’s sustainability report, 
which is available on their website at http://www.sebgroup.com. The Group provides input to that report as a member of the SEB 
Group.  

The digital and financial literacy of the population will continue to be an important focus on the Bank’s agenda, as will 
cooperation with industry to strengthen the attractiveness of Latvia and the Baltic region among foreign investors. The 
Bank aims to actively promote the development of the savings culture in Latvia by creating simple investment tools, 
educating customers, and encouraging them to invest and think about more sustainable solutions. 

The Bank has a goal of being an excellent, digitally accessible financial counterparty for individuals and SMEs. In the area 
of large corporate services, the Bank's ambition is to be the customer's first choice and a leader in terms of products and 
solutions offered, as well as to work purposefully with customers to achieve sustainability and excellence goals in 
corporate governance.
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The Supervisory Council and the Board of Directors of the Bank 
 
           Date of appointment 

The Supervisory Council 
 

Stefan Stignäs Deputy Chairman of the Council Re-elected – 
08/06/2017 

Erkka Näsäkkälä Member of the Council Elected – 
08/06/2017 

Mats Emil Torstendahl Member of the Council Elected – 
08/06/2017 

Aušra Matusevičiene Member of the Council Elected – 
08/06/2017 

Juha Lassi Johannes Kotajoki      
 

Member of the Council     
 

Elected – 
02/07/2018 

Nina Anna Sofia Hammarstrom             Member of the Council                                                              Elected – 
15/01/2020 

Changes in The Supervisory Council during the year 2020: 

Riho Unt has resigned from the position of the Chairperson of the Council as of 31 July 2020. 
 
 

The Board of Directors  
 

Ieva Tetere Chairperson of the Board, President Re-elected – 
04/07/2020 

Kārlis Danēvičs Member of the Board  Re-elected – 
14/01/2019 

Ints Krasts Member of the Board  Re-elected – 
01/08/2019 

Arnis Škapars Member of the Board   Re-elected – 
09/10/2020 

Erki Pugal 
 

Member of the Board 
 

Elected – 
05/08/2019 

Kristaps Strazds Member of the Board, CFO Elected – 
01/09/2020 

 

Changes in The Board of Directors during the year 2020: 
 
Jeļena Cīrule has resigned from the position of the Member of the Board, CFO as of 31 August 2020 and Kristaps Strazds  
as of 1 August was elected as the Member of the Board, CFO.  
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Statement of Responsibility of the Management of the Bank 
 

The Board (the Management) of the Bank is responsible for the preparation of the consolidated financial statements of 
the Bank and its subsidiaries. 

The consolidated financial statements on pages 13 to 83 are prepared in accordance with the source documents and 
present fairly the financial position of the Group as at 31 December 2020 and the results of its operations and cash flows 
for the year ended 31 December 2020. 

The consolidated financial statements are prepared in accordance with International Financial Reporting Standards as 
adopted in the European Union on a going concern basis. Appropriate accounting policies have been applied on a consistent 
basis. Prudent and reasonable judgments and estimates have been made by the Management in the preparation of the 
consolidated financial statements. 

The Management of AS “SEB banka” is responsible for the maintenance of proper accounting records, the safeguarding of 
the Group’s assets and the prevention and detection of fraud and other irregularities in the Group. They are also 
responsible for operating the Bank in compliance with the Law on Credit Institutions, regulations of the Bank of Latvia, the 
Financial and Capital Market Commission and other legislation of the Republic of Latvia applicable for credit institutions. 

The consolidated financial statements on pages 13 to 83 have been approved and authorised for issue by the Board of 
Directors of the Bank on 16 March 2021 and signed on their behalf by: 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Ieva Tetere  Kristaps Strazds 
Chairperson of the Board, President  Member of the Board, Finance Director 

 
THIS DOCUMENT IS SIGNED ELECTRONICALLY WITH A SAFE ELECTRONIC SIGNATURE AND CONTAINS A TIME STAMP 
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Consolidated Income Statement 
 
(millions of EUR) 

 Notes  

2020 

 2019 
reclassified 
(Note 38) 

 

       
       

Interest income calculated using the effective interest rate   64.8  64.6  

Other interest and similar income   8.1  8.2  

Interest expense   -11.6  -8.9  

Net interest income 4  61.3  63.9  

       

Fee and commission income   55.9  55.1  

Fee and commission expense  
 -17.6 

 
-17.4 

 

Net fee and commission income 5  38.3  37.7  

       

Net financial income 6  7.7  8.7  

       

Dividends    0.1  -  

Other operating income 7  1.8  1.5  

Net other income   1.9  1.5  

       

Personnel expenses 8 
 -27.5  -27.5  

Depreciation, amortization and impairment of  
tangible and intangible, and right of use assets 9 

 
-7.4 

 
-7.3 

 

Other expenses 10 
 -18.4  -20.9  

Total operating expenses  
 -53.3  -55.7  

       

Net expected credit losses 11  -15.8  -5.3  

       

Profit before income tax   40.1  50.8  

       
Income tax expenses 12  -1.1  -1.2  

         
Net profit for the year   39.0  49.6  

       
 
The consolidated financial statements on pages 13 to 83 have been approved and authorised for issue by the Board of 
Directors of the Bank on 16 March 2021 and signed on their behalf by: 
 
 
 
 

Ieva Tetere  Kristaps Strazds 
Chairperson of the Board, President  Member of the Board, Finance Director 

 
THIS DOCUMENT IS SIGNED ELECTRONICALLY WITH A SAFE ELECTRONIC SIGNATURE AND CONTAINS A TIME STAMP 
 
 
 
 
The accompanying notes on pages 18 to 83 are an integral part of these consolidated financial statements. 
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Consolidated Statement of Comprehensive Income 
 
(millions of EUR) 

  2020   2019  
       
Net profit for the year  39.0   49.6  

Other comprehensive income for the year  -   -  

Total comprehensive income for the year  39.0   49.6  
 
 
 
 
The consolidated financial statements on pages 13 to 83 have been approved and authorised for issue by the Board of 
Directors of the Bank on 16 March 2021 and signed on their behalf by: 
 
 
 
 

Ieva Tetere  Kristaps Strazds 
Chairperson of the Board, President  Member of the Board, Finance Director 

 
THIS DOCUMENT IS SIGNED ELECTRONICALLY WITH A SAFE ELECTRONIC SIGNATURE AND CONTAINS A TIME STAMP 
 
 
 
 
The accompanying notes on pages 18 to 83 are an integral part of these consolidated financial statements. 
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Consolidated Statement of Financial Position  
 
(millions of EUR) 

 Notes  31/12/2020  31/12/2019
Assets      
Cash and balances with central bank 13  375.0  602.3 
Loans to credit institutions 14, 15  472.1  39.6 
Loans to the public 15  3,062.5  3,028.1 
Debt securities 16  275.7  150.6 
Derivatives 17  31.4  44.7 
Equity instruments 18  4.4  8.5 
Intangible assets 19  7.9  8.7 
Property, plant and equipment 20  7.0  8.6 
Right of use assets 21  6.9  10.2 
Investment property   0.1  0.1 
Deferred income tax assets   -  3.1 
Other assets 22  19.4  42.3 
Prepaid expenses and accrued income 23  5.9  6.4 
Total assets   4,268.3  3,953.2 
      
Liabilities      
Deposits from central banks and credit institutions 24  235.5  327.6 
Deposits and borrowings from the public 25  3,505.0  3,089.2 
Derivatives 17  33.5  45.9 
Deferred income tax liabilities   3.3  2.0 
Provisions 26  5.2  2.9 
Other liabilities 27  43.3  84.3 
Accrued expenses and prepaid income 28  12.3  10.4 
Total liabilities   3,838.1  3,562.3 
      
Equity      

Share capital 29  145.3  145.3 
Share premium   5.1  5.1 
Other reserves   0.7  0.5 
Retained earnings   279.1  240.0 

Total equity   430.2  390.9 
      

Total liabilities and equity   4,268.3  3,953.2 

     
 
The consolidated financial statements on pages 13 to 83 have been approved and authorised for issue by the Board of 
Directors of the Bank on 16 March 2021 and signed on their behalf by: 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Ieva Tetere  Kristaps Strazds 
Chairperson of the Board, President  Member of the Board, Finance Director 

 
THIS DOCUMENT IS SIGNED ELECTRONICALLY WITH A SAFE ELECTRONIC SIGNATURE AND CONTAINS A TIME STAMP 
 
 
 
 
The accompanying notes on pages 18 to 83 are an integral part of these consolidated financial statements.  
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Consolidated Statement of Changes in the Equity  
 
(millions of EUR) 

 Share 
capital 

Share 
premium 

Other 
reserves 

Retained 
earnings 

Total 
equity 

      

Balance at 1 January 2019 145.3   5.1   0.6   236.0   387.0   

Profit for the year - - - 49.6   49.6   
Total comprehensive income for the year - - - 49.6 49.6 

Dividends  - - - -45.9   -45.9   

Share-based compensation - - 0.2   - 0.2   

Realisation of share-based compensation - - -0.3   0.3   - 

Balance at 31 December 2019 145.3   5.1   0.5   240.0   390.9   

Profit for the year - - - 39.0 39.0 

Total comprehensive income for the year - - - 39.0 39.0 

Share-based compensation - - 0.3 - 0.3 

Realisation of share-based compensation - - -0.1 0.1 - 

Balance at 31 December 2020 145.3 5.1 0.7 279.1 430.2 

 
 
 
 

The accompanying notes on pages 18 to 83 are an integral part of these consolidated financial statements. 
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Consolidated Statement of Cash Flows  
 
(millions of EUR) 

 2020  2019 
    
Cash flows from operating activities    
Profit before income tax  40.1  50.8 

Amortisation and depreciation of intangible assets and property and equipment 3.9  3.9 
Increase in allowances for loan impairment 15.8  5.3 
Interest income on loans -71.6  -71.1 
Interest expense on customer and bank deposits 3.5  1.6 
(Profit) / loss from revaluation of foreign currency -6.7  1.5 
Loss from disposal of tangible property and equipment  -  0.1 
Lease expenses 3.9  3.9 
Increase in share based compensations 0.4  0.2 
(Increase) / decrease in other assets  24.0  -11.0 
Increase/ (decrease) in other liabilities -33.1  31.9 
Increase / (decrease)  in cash and cash equivalents from operating 
activities  before changes in assets and liabilities -19.8  17.1 
    

Increase in loans to credit institutions and mandatory reserve in central bank -1.9  -3.3 

(Increase) / decrease of securities designated at fair value through profit or loss -125.0  104.3 
Increase in balances due from banks -34.0  -0.8 
Increase in loans and advances to customers -50.2  -76.1 
Decrease in balances due to banks -92.1  -219.1 
Increase in deposits due to customers 415.8  394.6 
Increase in cash and cash equivalents from operating activities before 
income taxes 92.8  216.7 
    
Interest received from loans issued 71.6  71.6 
Interest paid on customer and bank deposits -3.5  -1.5 
Income tax received 3.4  - 
Net cash flows from operating activities 164.3  286.8 

    
Cash flows from investing activities    
Purchase of property and equipment  -1.6  -3.2 
Increase in investment securities 4.2  -2.7 
Net cash flows  from /(used in) investing activities 2.6  -5.9 

    
Cash flows from financing activities    
Lease liabilities paid to supplier -4.2  -4.3 
Dividends paid out -  -45.9 
Net cash used in financing activities -4.2  -50.2 

    
Net cash inflow for the year 162.7  230.7 
    
Cash and cash equivalents at the beginning of the year 608.8  379.6 
    
Effect of exchange rates on cash and cash equivalents 6.7  -1.5 
    
Cash and cash equivalents at the end of the year 778.2  608.8 
    

 
The accompanying notes on pages 18 to 83 are an integral part of these consolidated financial statements. 
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements 
 

Corporate information  
AS “SEB banka” (the Bank) is a joint-stock company incorporated in the Republic of Latvia, Meistaru street 1, Valdlauči, 
Ķekava parish, Ķekava region, LV-1076. The Bank is registered in Commercial Register with common registration number 
LV 40003151743.The Bank and its subsidiaries (the Group) are engaged in banking and financial services business. As 
of 31 December 2020 and 2019 the Bank holds investments in the following subsidiaries:  

Company name Registry code Address Activity 
Holding 
(%) 

Investment 
value 
31/12/2020 

EUR mil. 

      

SIA “SEB līzings” 50003334041 

SEB finanšu centrs, Meistaru 
street 1, Valdlauči, Ķekavas 
parish, Ķekavas region, LV-1076 

Leasing and 
factoring 
activities 

 
 
 
100 

 
 
 
3.8 

      

IP AS “SEB Investment 
Management” 40003525797 

Antonijas street 9-12, Riga, LV-
1010 

Investment and 
pension fund 
management 

 
 
 
100 

 
 
 
0.6 

      

AS “SEB atklātais pensiju 
fonds” 40003485047 

Antonijas street 9-12, Riga, LV-
1010 Pension fund 

 
100 

 
0.6 

 
The sole shareholder of the Bank is Skandinaviska Enskilda Banken AB (publ), who is also the ultimate controlling party, 
registered in Sweden. 
                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                 

These consolidated financial statements for the year ended 31 December 2020 have been approved by the Management 
Board on 16 March 2021 and are subject to approval by the ultimate shareholder. 

 
 

 Significant accounting policies 

1.1. Statement of compliance 

These consolidated financial statements of AS “SEB banka” Group (the Group) are prepared in accordance with the 
International Financial Reporting Standards (IFRS) as adopted by the European Union. 

 

1.2. Basis of preparation 

These consolidated financial statements are prepared on historical cost basis, except for the certain financial assets and 
liabilities (including derivative instruments) measured at fair value. The accounting policies used in the preparation of the 
consolidated financial statements for the year ended 31 December 2020 are consistent with those used in the annual 
consolidated financial statements for the year ended 31 December 2019 apart from certain presentation changes 
disclosed in Note 38. 

The consolidated financial statements are presented in millions of euro unless otherwise stated. 

 

1.3. Consolidation 

The subsidiaries being consolidated are listed under section “Corporate Information”. Investments in subsidiaries and 
associates in the Bank’s separate financial statements (see Note 40) are accounted for using the cost method less 
impairment and are initially recognized at cost. 
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (continued) 
1. Significant accounting policies (continued) 

1.3. Consolidation (continued) 

1.3.1. Subsidiaries 

These consolidated financial statements combine the financial statements of the parent company and its subsidiaries. 

Subsidiaries are companies, over which the Group has control. The Group controls an entity when it is exposed to, or has 
rights to, variable returns from its involvement and has the ability to use its power to affect the amount of the returns. 
Control is deemed to exist when the parent company (i) has power to direct relevant activities of the investee that 
significantly affect their returns, (ii) has exposure or rights to variable returns from its involvement with the investees, 
and (iii) has the ability to use its power over the investees to affect the amount of investor’s returns. 

The financial statements of the parent company and the consolidated subsidiaries refer to the same period and have been 
drawn up according to the accounting policies applicable to the Group. A subsidiary is included in the consolidated financial 
statements from the time of acquisition, being the date when the parent company gains control over the subsidiary. The 
subsidiary is included in the consolidated financial statements until the date when control over the company ceases to 
exist. 

Business combinations are accounted using the acquisition method. The acquisition value is measured as the fair value of 
the assets given, equity instruments issued and liabilities incurred or assumed. 

The identifiable assets acquired and the liabilities and contingent liabilities assumed in a business combination are 
measured initially at their fair values on acquisition date, irrespective of any non-controlling interest. Intra-group 
transactions, balances and unrealised gains and losses on transactions between Group companies are eliminated. 

 

1.4. Foreign currency translation 

The functional and presentation currency of the parent company and subsidiaries is Euro. Foreign currency transactions 
are translated into the functional currency using the exchange rates of the European Central Bank prevailing at the dates 
of the transactions. On subsequent Events after reporting date monetary items in foreign currency are translated using 
the closing rate. Non-monetary items, which are measured in terms of historical cost in foreign currency, are translated 
using the exchange rate on the date of the transaction. Non-monetary items, which are measured at fair value in a foreign 
currency, are translated applying the exchange rate of the European Central Bank on the date on which the fair value is 
determined. 

Gains and losses arising as a result of exchange rate differences on settlement or translation of monetary items are 
recognised in profit or loss. Translation differences on non-monetary items, classified as financial assets or financial 
liabilities at fair value through profit or loss, are included in the change in fair value of those items.  

 

1.5. Cash and cash equivalents 

For the purposes of presentation in the cash flow statement, cash and cash equivalents are cash on hand, demand deposits 
with the Central Banks and demand deposits with other credit institutions, which are readily convertible to known amounts 
of cash and which are subject to insignificant risk of changes in value. 

 

1.6. Financial assets 

Financial assets are recognised on the Statement of financial position when the Group becomes a party to the contractual 
provisions of the instrument and are measured at fair value on initial recognition. Transaction costs are included in the fair 
value on initial recognition except for financial assets at fair value through profit or loss where transaction costs are 
expensed in profit or loss. Financial assets are derecognised when the rights to receive cash flows have expired, the Group 
has transferred substantially all risks and rewards and upon substantial modification. Financial assets at fair value are 
recognised on the Statement of financial position  on trade date, with exception of loans, which are recognized on 
settlement date. Financial assets measured at amortised cost are recognised on settlement date. 

The Group classifies and subsequently measures its financial assets in the following categories: 
- financial instruments at fair value through profit or loss (‘FVPL’);  
- amortised cost (‘AC’).  

The classification will depend on if the financial asset is a debt instrument, an equity instrument or a derivative. 
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (continued) 
1. Significant accounting policies (continued) 

1.6.  Financial assets (continued) 

1.6.1. Debt Instruments (loans and debt securities) 

The classification is based on a combination of assessing the business model for managing the financial assets and whether 
the contractual cash flow characteristics consist of solely payments of principal and interest (‘SPPI’). The business model 
assessment is performed for homogenous portfolios identified based on how the business is managed in the divisions of 
the Group. The assessment is based on reasonable scenarios taking into consideration how the portfolio is evaluated and 
reported to management; the risks affecting the performance of the portfolio and how these risks are managed; how 
managers are compensated; and the frequency, value and timing of sales including the reasons for the sales. In 
determining if the cash flows consist solely of principal and interest, the principal is defined as the fair value of the debt 
instrument at initial recognition, which can change over the life if there are repayments or capitalisation of interest. 
Interest cash flows are consistent with components per a basic lending arrangement including consideration for time value 
of money, credit risk, liquidity risk as well as administrative costs and profit margin. If there are contractual features 
introducing an exposure to other risks or volatility, it is not considered to consist of solely payments of principal and 
interest. Debt instruments are presented in the Statement of financial position items: Receivables from credit institutions, 
Loans to the public and Debt securities, and include instruments in the following measurement categories. 

Fair value through profit or loss: Debt instruments are classified in this category if not meeting the criteria for amortised 
cost or fair value through other comprehensive income. This is the case if the business model is held for trading; where 
financial assets are considered held for trading if they are held with the intention to be sold in the short-term and for the 
purpose of generating profits. Debt instruments are mandatorily measured at fair value through profit or loss if the assets 
are managed and evaluated on a fair value basis or the assets are held with an intention to sell alternatively if the cash 
flows do not consist of solely payments of principal and interest. Debt instruments that would otherwise be classified as 
fair value through other comprehensive income or amortised cost are also included in this category if, upon initial 
recognition, designated at fair value through profit or loss (fair value option). The fair value option can be applied only in 
situations where such designation reduces measurement inconsistencies. 

Amortised cost: Debt instruments are classified in this category if both of the following criteria are met: 

(a) the business model objective is to hold assets to collect contractual cash flows; and  

(b) the contractual cash flow characteristics consist of solely payments of principal and interest.  

The gross carrying amount of these assets is measured using the effective interest method and adjusted for expected 
credit losses. 

Financial instruments by IFRS 9 measurement categories are presented in the Note 31. 

1.6.2. Equity instruments 

Equity instruments are classified as financial assets at fair value through profit or loss. An irrevocable election can be made 
on initial recognition to classify equity instruments (not held for trading) at fair value through other comprehensive income. 
This election has not been applied in the Group. 

1.6.3. Derivatives 

Derivatives are classified as fair value through profit or loss (held for trading) unless designated as hedging instruments. 

1.6.4. Modification 

The Group may renegotiate loans and modify contractual terms. If the new terms are substantially different from the 
original terms, the Group derecognizes the original financial asset and recognises a new asset. The Group also assesses 
whether the new financial asset is credit-impaired at initial recognition. If the terms are not substantially different, the 
modification does not result in derecognition and the Group recalculates the gross carrying amount based on the new cash 
flows using the original effective interest rate of the financial asset and recognises a modification gain or loss. 

1.6.5. Write-off 

The Group writes off financial assets measured at atmortized cost, in whole or in part, when it is unlikely to collect debt 
from the borrower and it cannot be recovered from a sale of collateral. Write-offs constitute derecognition event and shall 
include amounts caused both by reductions of the carrying amount of financial assets recognised directly in profit or loss 
as well as reductions in the amounts of the allowance accounts for credit losses taken against the carrying amount of 
financial assets. 

The Group may write-off financial assets that are still subject to enforcement activity. The outstanding contractual 
amounts of such assets written off during the year ended 31 December 2020 is 6.0 million euros (31 December 2019 –   
  



AS „SEB banka”, Annual Report 2020   

 21

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (continued) 
1. Significant accounting policies (continued) 

1.6.  Financial assets (continued) 

8.9 million euros).The Group still seeks to recover amounts it is legally owed in full, but which have been partially written 
off due to no reasonable expectation on full recovery.  

 

1.7. Financial guarantees 

Financial guarantees are contracts that require the Group to make specified payments to reimburse the holder for a loss 
it incurs because a specified debtor fails to make payment when due in accordance with the terms of a debt instrument. 
Financial guarantee liabilities are initially recognised at their fair value (which most often equals the premium received) 
and subsequently at the higher of the amount determined in accordance with the expected credit loss model under IFRS 
9 Financial Instruments and the amount initially recognised less, where appropriate, the cumulative amount of income 
recognised. The contractual amounts according to financial guarantees are not recognised in the statement of financial 
position but disclosed as obligations. 

 

1.8. Expected credit loss 

1.8.1. Measurement 

The impairment requirements are based on an expected credit loss (ECL) model. The guiding principle of the ECL model is 
to reflect the general pattern of deterioration or improvement in the credit quality of financial instruments. All financial 
assets measured at amortised cost, as well as lease receivables, financial guarantees contracts and certain loan 
commitments are in scope for expected credit loss. 

The ECLs on financial assets measured at amortised cost and lease receivables are presented as allowances, i.e., as an 
integral part of the measurement of those assets in the Statement of financial position . The allowance reduces the gross 
carrying amount. The ECLs on loan commitments and financial guarantee contracts are presented as provisions, i.e., as a 
liability, in the Statement of financial position . Adjustment to the loss allowance and provision due to changes in ECLs is 
recognised in the income statement as Net expected credit losses.  

The assessment of credit risk, and the estimation of ECL, shall be unbiased and probability-weighted, and shall incorporate 
all available information which is relevant to the assessment, including information about past events, current conditions 
and reasonable and supportable forecasts of future events and economic conditions at the reporting date. The  Group uses 
both models and expert credit judgement (ECJ) for calculating ECLs. 

The ECL model has a three-stage approach based on changes in the credit risk. A 12-month ECL (Stage 1) applies to all 
items, unless there is a significant increase in credit risk since initial recognition. For items where there is a significant 
increase in credit risk (Stage 2) or in default (Stage 3), lifetime ECL applies. 

1.8.2. Significant increase in credit risk 

At the end of each reporting period the Group perform an assessment of whether credit risk has increased significantly 
since initial recognition. The assessment of whether there has been a significant change in credit risk is based on 
quantitative and qualitative indicators. Both historic and forward-looking information shall be used in the assessment. 

For arrangements with an initial origination date as at 1 January 2018 or later, the primary indicator is changes in lifetime 
probability of default (PD) by comparing the scenario-weighted annualized lifetime PD at the reporting date with the 
scenario-weighted annualized lifetime PD at initial recognition. For arrangements with an initial origination date prior to 1 
January 2018 changes in Group’s and Bank’s internal risk classifications since initial origination are used as the primary 
indicator. 

Regardless of the quantitative indicator, a significant increase in credit risk is triggered if the following back-stop indicators 
occur: 

 payments are past due >30 days but <90 days; or 
 financial assets that have been classified as watch-listed; or  
 financial assets are forborne (where due to the customer’s financial difficulties the contractual terms of the 

loans have been revised and concessions given). 

Back-stop indicators normally overlap with the quantitative indicator of significant increase in credit risk. 

In case there has been a significant increase in credit risk since initial recognition, an allowance for lifetime ECL shall be 
recognised and the financial instrument is transferred to Stage 2. The approach is symmetrical, meaning that in 
subsequent reporting periods, if the credit quality of the financial instrument improves such that there is no longer a 
significant increase in credit risk since initial recognition, the financial assets move back to Stage 1. 

If credit quality of financial instrument deteriorates further, the financial instrument is transferred to Stage 3. Transfer to  
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (continued) 
1. Significant accounting policies (continued) 

1.8. Expected credit loss (continued) 

Stage 3 is triggered if the following indications occur: 
- Payments are past due more than 90 days; 
- Financial instrument is in default (PD = 100 per cent). 
 
Definition of default 

Financial instruments in default are in Stage 3. The Group apply a definition of default for accounting purposes that is 
consistent with how it is defined in the capital requirements regulation (Article 178 of Regulation (EU) No 575/2013 of 
the European Parliament and of the Council on prudential requirements for credit institutions and investment firms and 
amending Regulation (EU) No 648/2012), which includes financial assets past due more than 90 days. All financial assets 
in Stage 3 are considered credit-impaired. 

1.8.3. Modelling 

The ECL is calculated as a function of the probability of default (PD), the exposure at default (EAD) and the loss given 
default (LGD), as well as the timing of the loss. The Group’s IFRS 9 methodology for ECL measurement is based on existing 
internal rating-based risk models (IRB) to the extent allowed under IFRS 9. As the objectives of these frameworks differ, 
the manner in which the expected credit losses are calculated also differs and appropriate adjustments are made to the 
IRB parameters to meet IFRS 9 requirements. Adjustments include the conversion of through-the-cycle and downturn 
parameters used in IRB risk models to point-in-time parameters used under IFRS 9 that considers forward-looking 
information. 

PD represents the likelihood that a loan will not be repaid and will go into default in either a 12-month or lifetime horizon. 
The expected PD for each individual instrument incorporates a consideration of past events, current market conditions 
and reasonable and supportable information about future economic conditions. The Group use IFRS 9 specific PD models. 
The models are calibrated based on a combination of assets class and product type. EAD represents an estimate of the 
outstanding amount of credit exposure at the time a default may occur. For off-balance sheet amounts, EAD includes an 
estimate of any further amounts to be drawn at the time of default. For IFRS 9, EAD models are adjusted for a 12-month 
or lifetime horizon. LGD is the amount that may not be recovered in the event of default. LGD takes into consideration the 
amount and quality of any collateral held as well as the probability of cure, whereby the borrower repays all his past due 
obligations on the defaulted loan and recommences contractual repayments. The Group use existing LGD models adjusted 
to meet IFRS 9 requirements. 

When measuring ECL, the Group use the maximum contractual period during which the Group is exposed to risk. All 
contractual terms are considered when determining the expected life, including prepayment options and extension and 
rollover options. For revolving facilities, such as credit cards, and retail mortgage facilities the expected life is modelled 
based on historical behavior. The residual behavioral expected life for such facilities is based on historically observed 
survival curve and it is affected by the time since origination of the arrangement. 

1.8.4. Forward-looking information 

The Group uses internally developed macroeconomic forecasts as the basis for the forward-looking information 
incorporated in the ECL measurement. In order to ensure an unbiased estimation of credit losses under IFRS 9, at least 
three scenarios are used. One of the scenarios is the base case scenario, representing the most likely outcome, which is 
also applied in the financial planning and budgeting process, while other case scenarios represent more positive or 
negative outcomes. 

The forward-looking scenarios are prepared by the Group Economic Research Department. The scenarios are approved 
by the Group Risk Committee. 

A scenario consists of a qualitative description of the macroeconomic development and a quantitative part, with forecasts 
of key macroeconomic variables for three subsequent years, as well as the likelihood of occurrence (scenario- weight). 
The scenarios are reviewed on a quarterly basis. In case of significant changes in the macroeconomic environment and 
outlook, the scenarios will be updated more frequently. The base scenario variables are benchmarked to various external 
sources of similar forward-looking scenarios, e.g. from OECD, IMF, EU Commission and National Statistics Offices. 

1.8.5. Expert Credit Judgement 

The Group use both models and expert credit judgement (ECJ) in order to determine ECLs. The degree of judgement that 
is required to estimate ECL depends on the model outcome, materiality and the availability of detailed information. The 
model provides guidance and transparency as to how economic events could affect the impairment of financial assets. 
ECJ may be applied to the modelled outcome to incorporate an estimated impact of factors not captured by the model. 
Such judgmental adjustment to the model-generated ECLs may be applied to significant exposures at a counterparty  level.  
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (continued) 
1. Significant accounting policies (continued) 

1.8. Expected credit loss (continued) 

The adjustments are decided by the relevant credit committee using the model ECLs as guidance. In addition there may be 
a need for adjustments at a portfolio level, which is decided by the SEB Group Risk Committee. 

 

1.9. Financial liabilities 

Financial liabilities are measured at fair value on initial recognition. In case the financial liabilities are measured at fair 
value through profit or loss, transaction costs directly attributable to the acquisition or the issuance of the financial liability 
are recognised in profit or loss. For other financial liabilities direct transaction cost are recognised as a deduction from the 
fair value. 

Financial liabilities are derecognised when extinguished, that is, when the obligation is discharged, cancelled or expired. 

The Group and the Bank classify and subsequently measure their financial liabilities in the following categories: 

Financial liabilities at fair value through profit or loss 

Financial liabilities at fair value through profit or loss are classified as held for trading. Financial liabilities held for trading 
are derivatives not designated as hedging instruments.  

Other financial liabilities 

The category other financial liabilities primarily include the Group’s short-term and long-term borrowings. After initial 
recognition other financial liabilities are measured at amortised cost, using the effective interest method. The Statement 
of financial position items Deposits from central banks and credit institutions, Deposits and borrowings from the public and 
Other financial liabilities are included in this category. 

 

1.10.  Fair value measurement 

The objective of the fair value measurement is to arrive at the price at which an orderly transaction would take place 
between market participants at the measurement date under current market conditions. The best evidence of fair value 
is a quoted price for the instrument being measured in an actively traded market. Where the market for a financial 
instrument is not active, fair value is calculated using an established valuation technique. These valuation techniques 
involve a degree of estimation, the extent of which depends on the instrument’s complexity and the availability of market-
based data. When valuing financial liabilities at fair value own credit standing is reflected. Given the uncertainty and 
subjective nature of valuing financial instruments at fair value, it is possible that the outcomes in the next financial year 
could differ from the assumptions used. 

For some of the Group’s financial assets and liabilities, especially for certain derivatives, quoted prices are not available, 
and valuation models are used to estimate fair value. As part of the fair value measurement, valuation adjustments are 
made when valuing derivative financial instruments, to incorporate counterparty and own credit risk. The methodologies 
for estimating valuation adjustments are continuously revised as a result of changing market practices in response to 
regulatory and accounting policy changes, as well as general market developments. 

 

1.11.  Offsetting financial transactions 

Financial assets and liabilities are offset and the net amount reported in the Statement of financial position when there is 
a legal right to offset transactions and an intention to settle net or realise the asset and settle the liability simultaneously. 

 

1.12.  Property, plant and equipment 

Property, plant and equipment are initially recognized at cost, consisting of the purchase price, non-refundable taxes and 
other direct costs related to taking the asset in to use. Subsequently property, plant and equipment is measured at cost 
and depreciated according to plan on a straight line basis over the estimated useful life of the asset. The depreciation 
period for buildings is up to 50 years, for other property, plant and equipment - between 2 and 10 years. Subsequent costs 
are included in the asset’s carrying amount or recognised as a separate asset, as appropriate, only when it is probable that 
future economic benefits associated with the item will flow to the Group and the cost of the item can be measured reliably. 
All other repairs and maintenance are charged to the income statement during the reporting period in which they are 
incurred. Gains and losses on disposals are determined by comparing proceeds with carrying amount and are included in 
the income statement. 

Property, plant and equipment is tested for impairment whenever there is an indication of impairment. 
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (continued) 
1. Significant accounting policies (continued) 

1.13.  Intangible assets 

Intangible assets are identifiable, non-monetary assets without physical substance. For an intangible asset to be 
recognised an entity must be able to demonstrate control of the intangible asset, which implies that the entity has the 
ability to ensure that the future economic benefits flowing from the underlying resource will accrue to the company. 
Intangible assets, other than goodwill, are only recognised in the statement of financial position if it is probable that the 
future economic benefits attributable to the asset will accrue to the Group and if the acquisition cost of the asset can be 
measured reliably. 

Intangible assets are measured initially at acquisition cost, and thereafter at cost less any accumulated amortisation and 
any accumulated impairment losses. 

Intangible assets with finite useful lives, i.e. all intangible assets except goodwill, are amortised on a straight line basis 
over their useful lives (3 years) and tested for impairment annually and whenever events or changes in circumstances 
indicate that the carrying amount may not be recoverable. Internally generated intangible assets, such as software 
development, are amortised over a period of 8 years. 

The recoverable amount of an intangible asset is determined if there is indication of a reduction in the value of the asset. 
An impairment loss is recognised if the carrying amount exceeds the recoverable amount of the asset. 

 

1.14.  Impairment of non-financial assets 

Assets that are subject to amortization and depreciation are reviewed for impairment whenever events or changes in 
circumstances indicate that the carrying amount may not be recoverable. In such circumstances the recoverable value of 
the asset is assessed and compared to its carrying value. An impairment loss is recognised for the amount by which the 
asset’s carrying amount exceeds its recoverable amount. The recoverable amount is the higher of an asset’s fair value less 
costs to sell and value in use. For the purposes of assessing impairment, assets are grouped at the lowest levels for which 
there are separately identifiable cash flows. Non-financial assets other than goodwill that suffered impairment are 
reviewed for possible reversal of the impairment at each reporting date. 

 

1.15.  Leasing 

1.15.1. The Group and the Bank as lessor 

The receivables from the financial lease agreements are recognized in net present value of the minimum lease payments, 
from which the payments of principal received have been deducted, plus unguaranteed residual value at the end of 
contract. Lease payments collected are allocated between repayment of principal and financial income. Financial income 
is recognized over the rental period based on the pattern reflecting a constant periodic rate of return on the lessor’s net 
investment in the financial lease. Initial service fees collected at issuance are included into the calculation of effective 
interest rate and lessor’s net investment. Lessor’s direct expenses, related to the contract, are part of effective interest 
rate and are booked as decrease of leasing income over the period of leasing contract. Allowances for lease receivables 
are presented on the respective line of statement of financial position at negative value. 

The lease receivable from the client is recognized in the statement of financial position as of the moment of delivering the 
assets being the object of the agreement to the client. In case of transactions, in which the assets being the object of the 
agreement having a long delivery term have not yet been delivered to the client, the payments received from the lessees 
under these agreements are recognized in the statement of financial position as prepayments of buyers in line “Other  
liabilities”. The amounts paid by the leasing firm for the assets under lease agreements not yet delivered are recognized 
in the statement of financial position as prepayments to suppliers on line “Other assets”. 

Assets under operating leases when the Group are lessors are recognized as property and equipment. The assets under 
operating lease are recognized at historical cost net of accumulated depreciation. Depreciation of assets under operating 
lease is calculated on the difference between historic cost and estimated residual value at the end of the useful life. 
Depreciation is calculated on a straight-line basis over the estimated useful life of fixed assets and the charge is included 
in “Depreciation, amortization and impairment of tangible and intangible assets”.  

Income receivable under operating leases is credited to the income statement on a straight-line basis over the lease term 
and is included in “Other operating income”. 
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (continued) 
1. Significant accounting policies (continued) 

1.15. Leasing (continued) 

1.15.2.  The Group and the Bank as lessee  

Leases are recognized as a right-of-use asset and a corresponding liability at the date at which the leased asset is available 
for use by the Group and the Bank. Each lease payment is allocated between the liability and finance cost. The finance cost 
is charged to the income statement over the lease period so as to produce a constant periodic rate of interest on the 
remaining balance of the liability for each period. The lease payments are discounted using the interest rate implicit in the 
lease, if that rate can be determined, or the Group’s incremental borrowing rate. The right-of-use asset is depreciated over 
the shorter of the asset's useful life and the lease term on a straight-line basis. The lease payments include fixed payments 
less any lease incentives receivable and variable lease payments that depend on an index or a rate. 

The Group and the Bank has elected not to recognize right-of-use assets and lease liabilities for short-term leases that 
have a lease term of 12 months or less and leases for low-value assets. The Group and the Bank recognizes the lease 
payments associated with these leases as an expense on a straight-line basis over the lease term. 

 

1.16.  Provisions 

Provisions are recognised for present obligations arising as consequences of past events where it is more likely than not 
that a transfer of economic benefit will be necessary to settle the obligation, and it can be reliably estimated. 

Provisions are determined by discounting the expected future cash flows at pre-tax rate that reflects current market 
assessments of the time value of money and, where appropriate, the risks specific to the liability. 

Provisions are made for undrawn loan commitments and similar facilities if it is probable that the facility will be drawn by 
a debtor in financial difficulties. ECLs on loan commitments and financial guarantee contracts are presented as provisions. 
Provisions and changes in provisions are recognised in the income statement as Net credit losses. 

Provisions are evaluated at each reporting date and are adjusted as necessary. 

 

1.17.  Operating income 

1.17.1.  Interest income and interest expenses 

The effective interest method is applied to recognise interest income and interest expenses in profit or loss for financial 
assets and financial liabilities measured at amortised cost. 

The effective interest method is a method of calculating the amortised cost of a financial asset or a financial liability and 
of allocating interest income and interest expenses. The effective interest rate is the rate that discounts estimated future 
cash payments or receipts through the expected life of the financial instrument to the net carrying amount of the financial 
instrument. When calculating future payments, all payments included in the terms and conditions of the contracts, such as 
advance payments, are taken into consideration. The calculation of the effective interest rate includes fees and points to 
be received and paid that are an integral part of the effective interest rate.  However, expected credit losses are not taken 
into account. 

If a financial asset subsequently has become credit impaired the interest income is recognised applying the effective 
interest rate to the amortised cost, i.e. gross carrying amount adjusted for the loss allowance. In case a financial asset is 
credit-impaired at initial recognition, the expected credit losses are included in the estimated cash flows to calculate a 
credit adjusted effective interest rate which then is applied to recognise the interest income. 

1.17.2.  Fee and commission income 

The recognition of revenue from contracts with customers is reported as fee and commission income. This does not apply 
for revenue from leasing contracts or financial instruments and other contractual obligations within the scope of IFRS 9 
Financial Instruments. 

Fees that are included in the calculation of the effective interest rate of a financial instrument measured at amortised cost, 
such as loan origination fees, are allocated over the expected tenor of the instrument applying the effective interest 
method and presented in Net interest income. 

Fee and commission income is recognised to depict the transfer of promised services to the customers in an amount that 
reflects the consideration to which SEB expects to be entitled in exchange for the service. Group’s and Bank’s revenue 
contracts do not typically include multiple performance obligations. The major types of fees are described below. 
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (continued) 
1. Significant accounting policies (continued) 

1.17. Operating income (continued) 

1.17.2.  Fee and commission income (continued) 

Fee and commission income from services where performance obligations are satisfied over time  

Performance obligations are satisfied over time where the customer simultaneously receives and consumes the benefits 
provided by the Group's performance as the Group performs. 

Securities revenue: revenue from asset management, custody and advisory services is recognized over time. Performance 
based fees are recognised when it is highly probable that a significant reversal of recognised revenue will not occur, which 
is when the performance criteria are fulfilled. 

Deposit revenue: fee income charged for the current account handling is recognized over time.   

Payment revenue: payment service plans fee, subscription fees are recognized over time. 

Lending revenue: commitment fees related to the undrawn portion of the loan commitment and, as such, change based on 
the portion of the unused commitment at that time. In such circumstances, the fee is not related to the amount being lent, 
but relates to a service being provided by the Group, and is accounted for as a service over time in accordance with IFRS 
15. 

Guarantees revenue: income from issued financial guarantees is amortised over the duration of the instrument and 
recognized over time. 

Fee and commission income from providing services where performance obligations are satisfied at a point in time 

Services provided where the Group's performance obligations are satisfied at a point in time are recognized once control 
of the services is transferred to the customer. This is typically on completion of the underlying transaction or service. 

Card payments revenue: fee income from cards transactions, interchange fees, income from cash management activities 
is generally recognized when the service is provided. 

Payments revenue: income from money transfer services is recognized at the time of transaction. 

Other revenue: other fees and commissions are mainly recognized at point in time, when control of the service is 
transferred to the customer. 

Expenses that are directly related to the generation of fee and commission income are recognised as fee and commission 
expense. 

1.17.3.  Net financial income 

Gains and losses arising from changes in fair value of financial assets and liabilities measured at fair value through profit 
or loss are reported under the item Net financial income. 

1.17.4.  Dividend income 

Dividends are recognised when the entity’s right to receive payment is established. 

 

1.18.  Employee benefits 

1.18.1.  Short-term benefits 

Liabilities for wages and salaries, including non-monetary benefits, annual leave and accumulating sick leave that are 
expected to be settled wholly within 12 months after the end of the period in which the employees render the related 
service are recognised in respect of employees’ services up to the end of the reporting period and are measured at the 
amounts expected to be paid when the liabilities are settled. The liabilities are presented as Other non-financial liabilities 
in the statement of financial position. 

1.18.2.  Termination benefits 

Termination benefits are payable whenever an employee’s employment is terminated before the normal retirement date 
or whenever an employee accepts voluntary redundancy in exchange for these benefits. The Group recognizes 
termination benefits when it is demonstrably committed to either terminate the employment of current employees 
according to a detailed formal plan without possibility of withdrawal or to provide termination benefits as a result of an 
offer made to encourage voluntary redundancy. 
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (continued) 
1. Significant accounting policies (continued) 

1.18. Employee benefits (continued) 

1.18.3.  Defined contribution plans or insurance contracts 
The Group is paying into the defined contribution plans or life insurance contracts on behalf of its employees. A defined 
contribution plan is a pension plan where the Group pays a contribution to AS "SEB atklātais pensiju fonds" and has no 
further obligation once the contribution is paid. Pension costs for defined contribution pension plans and life insurance 
premiums are recognised as an expense during the period the employees carry out the service to which the payment 
relates. 

1.18.4.  Share-based payments 

The Group operates a number of share-based incentive programmes based on Skandinaviska Enskilda Banken AB (publ) 
shares, under which it awards SEB equity instruments to its employees. Only key persons can participate in those 
programmes. The programmes, referred to above, are the Share Deferral Program (SDP) and Share Matching Program 
(SMP).Equity-settled share-based incentive programmes entitle employees to receive SEB equity instruments. Cash-
settled share-based incentive programmes entitle employees to receive cash based on the price or value of equity 
instruments of SEB. Fair value of these rights is determined by using appropriate valuation models, taking into account the 
terms and conditions of the award and the Group’s estimate of the number of rights that will eventually vest, which is 
reassessed at each reporting date. Social security costs, if applicable,  are accounted for over the vesting period and the 
provision for social security costs is reassessed on each reporting date to ensure that the provision is based on the rights’ 
fair value at the reporting date. The recording of expenses will last until the end of the qualification period of the respective 
programs. 

The cost of equity-settled share-based incentive programmes is measured by reference to the fair value of equity 
instruments on the date they are granted and recognised as an expense on a straight-line basis over the vesting period 
with a corresponding increase in equity. The vesting period is the period that the employees have to remain in service in 
SEB in order for their rights to vest. For cash-settled share-based incentive programmes, the services acquired and liability 
incurred are measured at the fair value of the liability and recognised as an expense over the vesting period, during which 
the employees render service. Until settlement, the fair value of the liability is remeasured, with changes in fair value 
recognised in the income statement. 
 

1.19.  Taxes 

The Group’s tax for the period consists of current and deferred tax. Current tax assets and liabilities for the current and 
prior periods are measured at the amount expected to be paid to or from tax authorities using the tax rates and tax laws 
that have been enacted or substantively enacted at the reporting date.  

Based on Latvian Corporate income tax law, starting from year 2018, corporate income tax is calculated on the basis of 
distributed profit or in case of expenses treated as deemed profit distribution (20/80 of the net amount payable to 
shareholders). 

Current tax arising from distributed profit is recognized when the shareholder of the Bank makes a decision on profit 
distribution, while tax on deemed profit distribution is recognized in profit and loss statement in the period for which it is 
assessed. Deferred tax in consolidated financial statements arises from undistributed profits of subsidiaries, since it is 
expected that the earnings of subsidiaries will be distributed in the foreseeable future. To the extent that subsidiaries’ 
profit distribution is assumed, the deferred tax liability is recognized in consolidated financial statements by using 20 per 
cent rate that is applicable to profit distributions. 
 

1.20.  Fiduciary activities 

The Group and the Bank provides asset management services and offers fund management services. The assets owned 
by third parties, but managed by the Group, and income arising thereon, are excluded from these financial statements, as 
they are not assets of the Group. Assets managed by the Group and the Bank and commissions received from fiduciary 
activities are  disclosed in Note 30 Commission income is presented in fee and commission income. 
 

1.21.  Share capital, equity reserves and dividends 

Ordinary shares are classified as equity. Incremental costs directly attributable to the issue of new shares are shown in 
equity as a deduction, net of tax, from the proceeds. Any excess of the fair value of consideration received over the par 
value of shares issued is recorded as share premium in equity. 

General and other reserves 

General and other reserves represent general reserve for possible losses, that can only be offset with the current losses, 
and share based compensation reserve , that will be paid in the share capital equivalent of Skandinaviska Enskilda Banken 
AB (publ) Class A shares to employees participating in the share based premium program.  
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (continued) 
1. Significant accounting policies (continued) 

1.21. Share capital, equity reserves and dividends (continued) 

Dividends are recorded in equity in the period in which they are declared. Any dividends declared after the end of the 
reporting period and before the financial statements are authorised for issue, are disclosed in the subsequent events note. 
 

1.22.  New and amended Standards and interpretations 
New International Financial Reporting Standards, amendments to published standards and interpretations by the 
International Financial Reporting Interpretations Committee. 

1.22.1. Adoption of New or Revised Standards and Interpretations 

The following new or revised standards and interpretations became effective for the Group from 1 January 2020 that 
would be expected to have an impact to the Group. 
 
Conceptual Framework in IFRS standards 
The IASB issued the revised Conceptual Framework for Financial Reporting on 29 March 2018. The Conceptual 
Framework sets out a comprehensive set of concepts for financial reporting, standard setting, guidance for preparers in 
developing consistent accounting policies and assistance to others in their efforts to understand and interpret the 
standards. IASB also issued a separate accompanying document, Amendments to References to the Conceptual 
Framework in IFRS Standards, which sets out the amendments to affected standards in order to update references to the 
revised Conceptual Framework. Its objective is to support transition to the revised Conceptual Framework for companies 
that develop accounting policies using the Conceptual Framework when no IFRS Standard applies to a particular 
transaction. For preparers who develop accounting policies based on the Conceptual Framework, it is effective for annual 
periods beginning on or after 1 January 2020.  
 
IFRS 3: Business Combinations (Amendments) 
The IASB issued amendments in Definition of a Business (Amendments to IFRS 3) aimed at resolving the difficulties that 
arise when an entity determines whether it has acquired a business or a group of assets. The Amendments are effective 
for business combinations for which the acquisition date is in the first annual reporting period beginning on or after 1 
January 2020 and to asset acquisitions that occur on or after the beginning of that period, with earlier application 
permitted. The Group has assessed that there is not a material effect on the financial statements of the Group. 
 
IAS 1 Presentation of Financial Statements and IAS 8 Accounting Policies, Changes in Accounting Estimates and 
Errors: Definition of ‘material’ (Amendments) 
The Amendments are effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January 2020 with earlier application permitted. 
The Amendments clarify the definition of material and how it should be applied. The new definition states that, 
’Information is material if omitting, misstating or obscuring it could reasonably be expected to influence decisions that the 
primary users of general purpose financial statements make on the basis of those financial statements, which provide 
financial information about a specific reporting entity’. In addition, the explanations accompanying the definition have 
been improved. The Amendments also ensure that the definition of material is consistent across all IFRS Standards. The 
Group has assessed that there is not a material effect on the financial statements of the Group.  
 
Interest Rate Benchmark Reform - IFRS 9, IAS 39 and IFRS 7 (Amendments) 
In September 2019, the IASB issued amendments to IFRS 9, IAS 39 and IFRS 7, which concludes phase one of its work to 
respond to the effects of Interbank Offered Rates (IBOR) reform on financial reporting. The amendments published, deal 
with issues affecting financial reporting in the period before the replacement of an existing interest rate benchmark with 
an alternative interest rate and address the implications for specific hedge accounting requirements in IFRS 9 Financial 
Instruments and IAS 39 Financial Instruments: Recognition and Measurement, which require forward-looking analysis. 
The amendments provide temporary reliefs, applicable to all hedging relationships that are directly affected by the 
interest rate benchmark reform, which enable hedge accounting to continue during the period of uncertainty before the 
replacement of an existing interest rate benchmark with an alternative nearly risk-free interest rate. There are also 
amendments to IFRS 7 Financial Instruments: Disclosures regarding additional disclosures around uncertainty arising from 
the interest rate benchmark reform. The amendments are effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January 
2020 and must be applied retrospectively. Phase two (ED) focuses on issues that could affect financial reporting when 
an existing interest rate benchmark is replaced with a risk-free interest rate (an RFR). The Group has assessed that there 
is not a material effect on the financial statements of the Group.  
 
There are no other new or revised standards or interpretations that are effective for the first time for the financial year 
beginning on or after 1 January 2020 that would be expected to have material impact to the Group. 
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (continued) 
1. Significant accounting policies (continued) 

1.22. New and amended Standards and interpretations  (continued) 

1.22.2. New Accounting Pronouncements  

Certain new or revised standards and interpretations have been issued that are mandatory for the Group’s annual periods 
beginning on or after 1 January 2021 and which the Group has not early adopted. 
 
Amendment in IFRS 10 Consolidated Financial Statements and IAS 28 Investments in Associates and Joint Ventures: 
Sale or Contribution of Assets between an Investor and its Associate or Joint Venture 
The amendments address an acknowledged inconsistency between the requirements in IFRS 10 and those in IAS 28, in 
dealing with the sale or contribution of assets between an investor and its associate or joint venture. The main 
consequence of the amendments is that a full gain or loss is recognized when a transaction involves a business (whether 
it is housed in a subsidiary or not). A partial gain or loss is recognized when a transaction involves assets that do not 
constitute a business, even if these assets are housed in a subsidiary. In December 2015 the IASB postponed the effective 
date of this amendment indefinitely pending the outcome of its research project on the equity method of accounting. The 
amendments have not yet been endorsed by the EU. Management is assessing if there will be a material effect on the 
financial statements of the Group and the Bank. 
 
IAS 1 Presentation of Financial Statements: Classification of Liabilities as Current or Non-current (Amendments) 
The amendments are effective for annual reporting periods beginning on or after January 1, 2022 with earlier application 
permitted. However, in response to the covid-19 pandemic, the Board has deferred the effective date by one year, i.e. 1 
January 2023, to provide companies with more time to implement any classification changes resulting from the 
amendments. The amendments aim to promote consistency in applying the requirements by helping companies determine 
whether, in the statement of financial position, debt and other liabilities with an uncertain settlement date should be 
classified as current or non-current. The amendments affect the presentation of liabilities in the statement of financial 
position and do not change existing requirements around measurement or timing of recognition of any asset, liability, 
income or expenses, nor the information that entities disclose about those items. Also, the amendments clarify the 
classification requirements for debt which may be settled by the company issuing own equity instruments. These 
Amendments have not yet been endorsed by the EU. Management is assessing if there will be a material effect on the 
financial statements of the Group and the Bank. 
 
IFRS 3 Business Combinations; IAS 16 Property, Plant and Equipment; IAS 37 Provisions, Contingent Liabilities and 
Contingent Assets as well as Annual Improvements 2018-2020 (Amendments) 
The amendments are effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January 2022 with earlier application permitted. 
The IASB has issued narrow-scope amendments to the IFRS Standards as follows: 

 IFRS 3 Business Combinations (Amendments) update a reference in IFRS 3 to the Conceptual Framework for 
Financial Reporting without changing the accounting requirements for business combinations. 

 IAS 16 Property, Plant and Equipment (Amendments) prohibit a company from deducting from the cost of 
property, plant and equipment amounts received from selling items produced while the company is preparing 
the asset for its intended use. Instead, a company will recognise such sales proceeds and related cost in profit or 
loss. 

 IAS 37 Provisions, Contingent Liabilities and Contingent Assets (Amendments) specify which costs a company 
includes in determining the cost of fulfilling a contract for the purpose of assessing whether a contract is onerous. 

 Annual Improvements 2018-2020 make minor amendments to IFRS 1 First-time Adoption of International 
Financial Reporting Standards, IFRS 9 Financial Instruments, IAS 41 Agriculture and the Illustrative Examples 
accompanying IFRS 16 Leases 

The amendments have not yet been endorsed by the EU. Management is assessing if there will be a material effect on the 
financial statements of the Group and the Bank. 
 
IFRS 16 Leases- Covid 19 Related Rent Concessions (Amendment) 
The amendment applies, retrospectively, to annual reporting periods beginning on or after 1 June 2020. Earlier application 
is permitted, including in financial statements not yet authorized for issue at 28 May 2020. IASB amended the standard to 
provide relief to lessees from applying IFRS 16 guidance on lease modification accounting for rent concessions arising as 
a direct consequence of the covid-19 pandemic. The amendment provides a practical expedient for the lessee to account 
for any change in lease payments resulting from the covid-19 related rent concession the same way it would account for 
the change under IFRS 16, if the change was not a lease modification, only if all of the following conditions are met: 

 The change in lease payments results in revised consideration for the lease that is substantially the same as, or 
less than, the consideration for the lease immediately preceding the change. 
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (continued) 
1. Significant accounting policies (continued) 

1.22. New and amended Standards and interpretations  (continued) 

1.22.2. New Accounting Pronouncements (continued) 

 
 Any reduction in lease payments affects only payments originally due on or before 30 June 2021. 
 There is no substantive change to other terms and conditions of the lease. 

Management is assessing if there will be a material effect on the financial statements of the Group and the Bank. 
 

Interest Rate Benchmark Reform – Phase 2 – IFRS 9, IAS 39, IFRS 7, IFRS 4 and IFRS 16 (Amendments) 
In August 2020, the IASB published Interest Rate Benchmark Reform – Phase 2, Amendments to IFRS 9, IAS 39, IFRS 7, 
IFRS 4 and IFRS 16, completing its work in response to IBOR reform. The amendments provide temporary reliefs which 
address the financial reporting effects when an interbank offered rate (IBOR) is replaced with an alternative nearly risk-
free interest rate (RFR). In particular, the amendments provide for a practical expedient when accounting for changes in 
the basis for determining the contractual cash flows of financial assets and liabilities, to require the effective interest rate 
to be adjusted, equivalent to a movement in a market rate of interest. Also, the amendments introduce reliefs from 
discontinuing hedge relationships including a temporary relief from having to meet the separately identifiable requirement 
when an RFR instrument is designated as a hedge of a risk component. Furthermore, the amendments to IFRS 4 are 
designed to allow insurers who are still applying IAS 39 to obtain the same reliefs as those provided by the amendments 
made to IFRS 9. There are also amendments to IFRS 7 Financial Instruments: Disclosures to enable users of financial 
statements to understand the effect of interest rate benchmark reform on an entity’s financial instruments and risk 
management strategy. The amendments are effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January 2021 with 
earlier application permitted. While application is retrospective, an entity is not required to restate prior periods. The 
amendments have not yet been endorsed by the EU. Management is assessing if there will be a material effect on the 
financial statements of the Group and the Bank. 
 
There are no other new or revised standards or interpretations that are not yet effective that would be expected to have 
a material impact on the Group and the Bank. 
 

1.23.  Critical accounting estimates and judgements in applying accounting policies 

1.23.1. Expected credit loss model  

When calculating expected credit loss (ECL) there are a number of key concepts that require a high level of judgement. 
Estimating expected credit loss is, by its very nature, uncertain and the accuracy of these estimates depends on many 
factors, e.g. macroeconomic forecasts and involves complex modelling and judgements. At the end of each reporting 
period the Group and the Bank performs an assessment of whether credit risk has increased significantly since initial 
recognition by considering the change in the risk of default occurring over the remaining life of the financial instrument, 
using key risk indicators that are used in the Group’s existing risk management processes. Another area requiring 
significant judgement is the incorporation of forward-looking information and macroeconomic scenarios. IFRS 9 requires 
an unbiased and probability-weighted estimate of credit losses by evaluating a range of possible outcomes that 
incorporates forecasts of future economic conditions. The Group uses internally developed macroeconomic forecasts as 
the basis for the forward-looking information in the ECL measurement. The Group uses both models and expert credit 
judgement (ECJ) in order to determine ECLs. The objective of applying ECJ is to incorporate the estimated impact of factors 
not captured in the modelled ECL. The degree of judgement that is required to estimate expected credit losses depends 
on the outcome from calculations, materiality and the availability of detailed information. The models, assessment and 
assumptions are regularly reviewed by the risk organization of the Group and approved by the Group Risk Committee. The 
assumptions and sensitivity analysis are further described in Note 2.2.  

1.23.2. Fair value measurement of financial instruments 

The objective of the fair value measurement is to arrive at the price at which an orderly transaction would take place 
between market participants at the measurement date under current market conditions. The best evidence of fair value 
is a quoted price for the instrument being measured in an actively traded market. Where the market for a financial 
instrument is not active, fair value is calculated using an established valuation technique. These valuation techniques 
involve a degree of estimation, the extent of which depends on the instrument’s complexity and the availability of market-
based data. When valuing financial liabilities at fair value own credit standing is reflected. Given the uncertainty and 
subjective nature of valuing financial instruments at fair value, it is possible that the outcomes in the next financial year 
could differ from the assumptions used. 
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (continued) 
1. Significant accounting policies (continued) 

1.23. Critical accounting estimates and judgements in applying accounting policies (continued) 

1.23.2. Fair value measurement of financial instruments (continued) 

 

For some of the Group’s financial assets and liabilities, especially for certain derivatives, quoted prices are not available, 
and valuation models are used to estimate fair value. As part of the fair value measurement, valuation adjustments are 
made when valuing derivative financial instruments, to incorporate counterparty and own credit risk. The methodologies 
for estimating valuation adjustments are continuously revised as a result of changing market practices in response to 
regulatory and accounting policy changes, as well as general market developments. 

The Group has an established control environment for the determination of fair values of financial instruments that 
includes a review, independently from the business, of valuation models and prices.  

For disclosure purposes, fair values are classified in a fair value hierarchy according to the level of observability of the 
inputs, see Note 3 Fair value measurement of assets and liabilities . 
 

 Risk policy and management 

2.1. Risk policy and structure 

The Group and Bank defines risk as the possibility of a negative deviation from an expected financial outcome. Group’s 
and Bank’s profitability is directly dependent upon its ability to evaluate, manage and price the risks encountered, while 
maintaining an adequate capital and liquidity position to meet unforeseen events. The Supervisory Board is responsible 
for setting the maximum acceptable levels of risks to be taken by the bank. The risk tolerance statements convey the 
direction and level of risk, funding structure, and necessary liquidity and capital buffers. 

The Group and Bank’s main risk is credit risk. Other risks include market risk, operational risk, business risk, and liquidity 
risk. In order to cover the risks, SEB holds a capital buffer and liquidity reserves in case of unforeseen events. SEB strives 
to continuously identify and manage risks in its operations, both existing and emerging risks, in a designated risk 
management process. The aggregate risk profile of SEB is regularly monitored and reported to the management bodies. 
In the annual capital adequacy process, the capital needs are evaluated based on the risk profile and future business 
strategy, taking into consideration the financial stability requirements of the regulators, debt investors, business 
counterparties and shareholders’ required rate of return. 
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2. Risk policy and management (continued) 

2.1.  Risk policy and structure (continued) 

RISK PROFILE 
 

Risk type  SEB Banka Group shall  2020 development and position 

Credit risk and asset 
quality 

 Have a robust credit culture based on 
long-term relationships, knowledge about 
the customers and focus on their 
repayment ability. This will lead to a high 
quality credit portfolio. 

 • The Group and the Bank have a 
wellbalanced credit portfolio with main 
exposure to corporates and households in 
Latvia. 

• Despite Covid-19 pandemic credit 
portfolio quality remained strong. 

• The Bank strengthened monitoring of 
credit metrics. 

• To accommodate potential losses from 
pandemic the bank has accounted for 
additional provisions. 

Market risk  Achieve low earnings volatility by 
generating revenues based on customer-
driven business. 

 • Market risk arises in SEB's customer-
driven trading activity and its liquidity 
portfolio. Generally, Group's and Bank’s 
market risk is low. 

• Interest rate risk arises due to 
mismatches in rates and maturities in the 
bank's assets and liabilities, and is 
managed by the Treasury function. 

Operational and 
reputational risk 

 Strive to mitigate operational risks in all 
business activities and maintain the bank’s 
reputation. 

 • Continuously working to maintain an 
effective internal control framework and 
ensure a structured and consistent usage 
of risk mitigating tools and processes for 
all identified operational risks. 

• Managing and mitigating IT, cyber and 
information risks are key priorities to 
ensure secure and available information, 
services and products for customers 

• To manage effects from Covid-19 
pandemic additional business continuity 
measures were implemented, including 
critical function physical split and adjusted 
service model 

Liquidity and 
funding risk 

 Have a soundly structured liquidity 
position and sufficient liquid reserves to 
meet potential net outflows in a stressed 
scenario. 

 • Strong liquidity position, large buffers 
above regulatory ratios 

• Group’s and Bank’s primary funding 
sources are customer deposits and 
wholesale funding. 

Aggregated risk and 
capital adequacy 

 Maintain satisfactory capital strength in 
order to sustain aggregated risks, and 
guarantee the bank’s long-term survival 
and its position as a financial counterparty, 
while operating within regulatory 
requirements. 

 • The Group and the Bank are strongly 
capitalised in relation to regulatory capital 
requirements. 

• The aim is to hold a capital adequacy 
buffer of around 100 basis points above 
the regulatory requirement. 
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2. Risk policy and management (continued) 

2.2. Credit risk 

Definition 

Credit risk is the risk of loss due to the failure of an obligor to fulfil its obligations towards The Group. The definition also 
comprises counterparty risk derived from the trading operations, country risk, settlement risk, and credit concentration 
risk.  

Credit risk is the main risk in the Group, which arises in the lending and commitments to customers, including corporates, 
financial institutions, public sector entities and private individuals. This is referred to as the credit portfolio. The Group’s 
total credit exposure consists of the credit portfolio as well as debt instruments. 

Risk management 

Credit policies and approval process 

The main principle in The Group’s credit policy is that all lending is based on credit analysis and is proportionate to the 
customer’s cash flow and ability to repay. The customer shall be known by the bank and the purpose of the loan shall be 
fully understood. The business units take full responsibility of the credit risk until repayment. 

A credit approval is based on an evaluation of the customer’s creditworthiness and type of credit. Relevant factors include 
the customer’s current and anticipated financial position and protection provided by covenants and collateral. A credit 
approval takes the proposed transaction into account as well as the customer’s total business with the bank. The credit 
decision also includes a risk classification of the customer based on this analysis. The process differs depending on the 
type of customer (e.g., retail, corporate or institutional), risk level, and size and type of transaction. For larger corporate 
customers, independent and professional credit analysis is particularly important, and decisions are mostly taken by a 
credit committee. For households and small businesses, the credit approval is often based on credit scoring models. 
Deciding on the risk taking is performed collegially by credit committees or by the authorised persons in accordance with 
the decision-making limits established by the bank’s management. 

The Group’s credit policies reflect the Group’s approach to sustainability as described in the Corporate Sustainability 
Policy, the Environmental Policy, the Human Rights Policy, and the Credit Policy on Corporate Sustainability. Position 
statements on climate change, child labour and access to fresh water as well as number of industry sector policies shall 
be considered in the credit granting process and are also used in customer dialogues. Environmental, social and 
governance risks shall be considered in the credit analysis. 

Risk mitigation 

In order to reduce the credit risk, a number of credit risk mitigation techniques are used. The method used depends on its 
suitability for the product and the customer in question, its legal enforceability, and on SEB’s experience and capacity to 
manage and control the particular technique. The most important credit risk mitigation techniques are collateral pledges 
and guarantees. The most common types of pledges are real estate, floating charges (commercial pledge – account 
receivables, inventories, machinery, equipment and vehicles) and financial securities. The main guarantors are state, 
municipalities and credit institutions whose creditworthiness is assessed by the same methods and the frequency as the 
same customer group borrowers creditworthiness. 

The Group’s policies regarding obtaining collateral have not significantly changed during the reporting period and there 
has been no significant change in the overall quality of the collateral held by the Group since the prior period. 

Limits and monitoring 

To manage the credit risk for individual customers or customer groups, a limit is established that reflects the maximum 
exposure that The Group is willing to accept.  

The Group continuously reviews the quality of its credit exposures. All limits and risk classes are reviewed at least annually 
by a credit approval body (a credit committee consisting of at least two bank officers as authorised by the Credit 
Instruction, adopted by the Management Board). 

For regular monitoring of private individuals and small corporates - retail portfolio - the behavioral scoring models are in 
use. The models are based on the application scoring models used in loans analysis process. Client executives have an 
obligation to update financials of small corporates at least once a year. Behavioral score is calculated monthly for all 
private individuals and small corporates loans. 

Client executives have an obligation to review collateral values at least once a year and update if necessary. Non-retail 
collateral values are normally reviewed by credit committees in the process of customer annual review. Collateral values 
of living spaces and land are being adjusted with indexes calculated in-house based on transaction statistics of LATIO.  
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2. Risk policy and management (continued) 

2.2.  Credit risk (continued) 

Weak or impaired exposures are subject to more frequent reviews. The objective is to identify credit exposures with an 
elevated risk of loss at an early stage and to work together with the customer towards a solution that enables the customer 
to meet its financial obligations and the Group to avoid or limit credit losses. Problem exposures and recovering written-
off loans are handled by Special Credit Management Division by using several methods: negotiations with clients, 
rehabilitation, execution, bankruptcy proceedings. Special Credit Management Division specialists are involved with 
problem loans (or potential problem loans) at the early stage to ensure most valuable outcome for both the client and the 
bank. 

Allowances are made for expected credit losses of financial assets in scope of the accounting standard IFRS 9 Financial 
Instruments. The guiding principle of the expected credit loss model is to reflect the general pattern of deterioration or 
improvement in the credit quality of the assets.  

Loans where the contractual terms have been amended in favour of the customer due to financial difficulties are referred 
to as forborne loans. Forbearance measures range from amortisation holidays (the most common measure) to refinancing 
with new terms and debt forgiveness. A relevant credit approval body shall approve the forbearance measures as well as 
the classification of the loan as being forborne or not. 

Credit portfolio analysis and stress tests 

The risk organisation regularly reviews and assesses the aggregate credit portfolio based on industry, geography, risk 
class, product type, size and other parameters. Risk concentrations in geographic and industry sectors as well as in large 
single names are thoroughly analysed, both in respect of direct and indirect exposures and in the form of collateral, 
guarantees and credit derivatives.  

Stress tests of the credit portfolio, including reverse stress tests, are performed regularly as a part of the Group annual 
internal capital adequacy assessment process. Specific analyses and stress tests of certain sectors or sub-portfolios are 
performed as required. 

Risk measurement 

Credit risk is measured for all exposures, both in the banking book and the trading book.  

The Group divides loan portfolio into two broad segments:  

1) non-retail portfolio including loans to legal entities belonging to counterparty group’s with credit risk assumed by the 
Group exceeding 500 000 euros (2019: 500 000 euros); and  

2) retail portfolio consisting of small businesses’ and private individuals’ sub-segments.  

An internal ratings-based (IRB) risk classification system approved by the regulator is used for the majority of the bank’s 
portfolios and reflects the risk of default on payment obligations.  

For significant corporate portfolios, the risk classification system contains specific rating tools and PD (probability of 
default) scales. Larger and mid-sized counterparties are measured on a risk class scale of 1–16, while Small and Medium-
sized Enterprises (SMEs) are measured on a scale of 1–12.. Defaulted counterparties are given the highest risk class, and 
the three risk classes prior to default are defined as “watch list”. For each risk class scale, SEB makes individual one-year, 
through-the-cycle probability of default estimates, which are based on more than 20 years of internal and external data. 

For private individuals and small businesses, the Group uses credit scoring systems to estimate PD for the customer. The 
scoring model for small businesses considers financial condition based on last two annual reports, credit history with the 
bank and based on external credit history register, experience of the customer. The outcome of the scoring model is credit 
score, expressing risk level and determining decision-making level. Depending on the score clients are divided into quality 
classes A, B, C and D, where A is the best and D is the worst quality class. Customers with insufficient information for score 
calculation are included to the worst quality class. 

In analysing loans to private individuals the credit scoring and left-to-live model (this measures the customer’s ability to 
service the loan taking into account net income and cost of living) is used. The output of the model is credit score. Based 
on the score the clients are divided into quality classes A, B, C, and D, where A is the best and D is the worst quality class.   
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2. Risk policy and management (continued) 

2.2. Credit risk (continued) 

Counterparty risk in derivative contracts 

The Group enters into derivatives contracts primarily to support customers in the management of their financial exposures 
and then normally manages the resulting positions by entering offsetting contracts with the parent company. 

Counterparty credit risk in derivative contracts is the risk of a counterparty not living up to its contractual obligations 
where the Group has a claim on the counterparty. The claim on the counterparty corresponds to a net positive exposure 
in favour of the Group. Since the market value of a derivative fluctuates during the term to maturity, the uncertainty of 
future market conditions must be taken into account and a credit risk equivalent is calculated. 

Credit risk related to derivatives is handled in Note 3.Fair value measurement of assets and liabilities. So in Credit risk 
chapter we concentrate on credit risk arising from loans and receivables from customers and credit institutions (other 
credit institutions). 

Counterparty risk in derivative contracts affects the profit and loss through credit/debit valuation adjustments (CVA/DVA) 
reflecting the credit risk associated with derivative positions. These adjustments depend on market risk factors such as 
interest rate, foreign exchange rates and credit spreads. 

Measurement of ECL allowances 

The Group uses both models and expert credit judgement (ECJ) for calculating ECL allowances. The degree of judgement 
depends on model outcome, materiality and information available and ECJ may be applied to incorporate factors not 
captured by the models. In 2020, ECJ was used to estimate model overlays to capture potential negative effects on the 
asset quality arising from the uncertain economic outlook in light of the Covid-19-pandemic. The model overlays were 
determined through top-down scenario analysis combined with bottom-up customer analysis of larger corporate 
customers and exposed sector analysis for other customer segments. 

Key macroeconomic variable assumptions for calculating ECL allowances 

The Group uses internally developed macroeconomic forecasts as the basis for the forward-looking information 
incorporated in the ECL measurement. In order to ensure an unbiased estimation of credit losses under IFRS 9, at least 
three scenarios are used with different probability weightings . One of the scenarios is the base case scenario, representing 
the most likely outcome, which is also applied in the financial planning and budgeting process, while the other case 
scenarios represent more positive or negative outcomes. The probability weights assigned to each scenario are 
determined using a combination of statistical analysis and expert judgment. The scenarios are reviewed four times a year, 
or more frequently when appropriate due to rapid  or significant changes in the economic environment. 

The three scenarios that are currently used are based on different assumptions around how rapidly economies will reopen 
following the pandemic, which may depend both on strategic trade-offs between medical and economic aspects, but also 
on the continued spread of the coronavirus and the vaccination process. The base scenario assumes that the world must 
go through the winter without mass vaccinations and the risk of a worsening pandemic situation. Large scale vaccination 
is assumed to be available during the second half of 2021, reducing the need for restrictions. 

The most significant macroeconomic variable assumptions of the Base scenario used as of 31 December 2020, are set out 
below. Individual scenarios for SEB’s home markets are used. 

 
 Latvia 2021 2022 2023 

Domestic GDP growth 4.3% 3.3% 3.5% 

Commercial Real estate price growth 2.5% 2.5% 3.5% 

Unemployment rate 8.9% 7.5% 7.0% 

Household consumption expenditure growth 5.7% 3.5% 3.5% 

Residential real estate price growth 3.5% 2.5% 3.5% 

Nominal wage growth 4.7% 4.7% 4.5% 

Inflation rate 1.9% 2.3% 2.5% 

Source: SEB's Nordic Outlook from November 2020 
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2.2. Credit risk (continued) 

The most significant assumptions affecting the ECL allowance of the non-retail, retail corporates and private individuals 
portfolios, respectively, are as follows: 

 
Non-retail portfolios    
(i) GDP  impact on companies' performance  
(ii) Real estate price development impact on collateral valuations 
    

Retail portfolios:   
(i) Unemployment rate impact on borrowers' ability to meet their contractual repayments 
(ii) Household consumption expenditure 
growth 

impact on borrowers' ability to meet their contractual obligations 

(iii) Residential real estate price growth impact on mortgage collateral valuations 
 
The positive scenario assumes that large scale vaccinations start early 2021 and are more effective or that economic 
policy stimulus is more effective than estimated. The negative scenario reflects the risk that the pandemic will take off 
again during the winter in such a severe way and that vaccines are not as effective so that new lockdowns and tougher 
restrictions are necessary resulting in a direct effect on GDP and severe negative impact on confidence both in the real 
economy and in financial markets. 

In the calculation of ECL allowances as of 31 December 2020, the probabilities of the three scenarios were 55 per cent 
for the base scenario, 20 per cent for the positive scenario, and 25 per cent for the negative scenario.  

Sensitivity analysis of macroeconomic assumptions 

In general, a worsening of the outlook on forecasted macroeconomic variables for each scenario or an increase in the 
probability of the negative scenario occurring will both increase the number of loans migrating from Stage 1 to Stage 2 
and increase the estimated ECL allowances. On the other hand, an improvement in the outlook on forecasted 
macroeconomic variables or an increase in the probability of the positive scenario occurring will have the opposite positive 
impact. 

Should the positive and negative scenarios be assigned 100 per cent probability of occurring, the model calculated ECL 
allowances would increase by 4 per cent and decrease by 3 per cent, respectively compared to the weighted scenario. 

 ECL allowances resulting from 
scenario 

Difference from the probability 
weighted ECL allowances, % 

Negative scenario 48.44 4% 
Positive scenario 45.17 -3% 

Key assumptions for triggering significant increase in credit risk (SICR)  

For arrangements with initial origination date as of 1 January 2018 or later, the primary indicator is changes in lifetime 
probability of default (PD) by comparing the scenario weighted annualised lifetime PD at the reporting date with the 
scenario weighted annualised lifetime PD at initial recognition. For arrangements with an initial origination date prior to 1 
January 2018 changes in SEB internal risk classification since initial origination are used as the primary indicator. 

Quantitative measures for triggering significant increase in credit risk (SICR) 
 

 For arrangements originated prior 
to 1 January 2018 

For arrangements originated on or 
after 1 January 2018 

Watch list * * 

Investment grade 2 - 7  grades 
Annualised lifetime PD increase by 
200% and ≥ 50 basis points 

Standard monitoring 1 - 2 grades 
Annualised lifetime PD increase by 
200% and ≥ 50 basis points 

* Placement of a financial asset on watch list automatically classifies it as a significant increase in credit risk and places it in 
Stage 2. 
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2.2. Credit risk (continued) 

Regardless of the quantitative indicator, a significant increase in credit risk is triggered if the following back-stop indicators 
occur:  

- payments are past due >30 days but < 90 days, or 
- financial assets are forborne (where due to the customer’s financial difficulties the contractual terms of the loans 
have been revised and concessions given). 

Back stop indicators normally overlap with the quantitative indicator of significant increase in credit risk. 

Following the Covid-19 pandemic, governments have enabled measures to support corporates and private individuals. In 
line with EBA’s guidelines, such measures do not automatically trigger a significant increase in credit risk, and thereby a 
transfer to stage 2 and increased ECL allowances. 

Concentration of financial assets, contingent liabilities and financial commitments by economic sector 

(millions of EUR) 
  In the statement of financial position   

31/12/2020 

Cash and balances 
with central bank, 

loans to credit 
institutions, loans to 

the public 

Securities and 
derivatives 

Contingent 
liabilities, 
financial 

commitments 

    

Central bank 375.0 - 0.1 

General government 114.1 276.0 56.5 

Credit institutions 472.1 25.3 42.5 

Other financial corporations 6.6 - 56.4 

Non-financial corporations 1,843.2 5.8 602.6 

of which:    

Agriculture, forestry and fishing 235.5 - 42.2 

Mining and quarrying 6.2 - 1.5 

Manufacturing 148.1 - 92.4 

Electricity, gas, steam and air conditioning supply 322.8 1.7 109.6 

Water supply 14.4 - 2.8 

Construction 15.8 - 94.5 

Wholesale and retail trade 266.4 2.4 130.7 

Transport and storage 112.1 - 25.2 

Accommodation and food service activities 19.5 - 0.7 

Information and communication 31.6 - 36.3 

Real estate activities 583.1 1.7 26.2 

Professional, scientific and technical activities 9.5 - 1.1 

Administrative and support service activities 34.9 - 1.7 

Education 0.9 - - 
Human health services and social work activities 15.3 - 2.9 

Arts, entertainment and recreation 2.4 - 0.1 

Other services 24.7 - 34.7 

Households 1,098.6 - 74.4 

Total 3,909.6 307.1 832.5 
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2.2. Credit risk (continued) 

 
(millions of EUR)  

 In the statement of financial position   

31/12/2019 

Cash and balances 
with central bank, 

loans to credit 
institutions, loans to 

the public 

Securities and 
derivatives 

Contingent 
liabilities, 
financial 

commitments  

    

Central bank                                     602.3  - 0.1 

General government                                      55.1                                150.9  2.2 

Credit institutions                                        39.6                                    38.3  42.3 

Other financial corporations                                           9.1                                       -  55.7 

Non-financial corporations                               1,892.8                                       6.0  457.9 

of which:    

Agriculture, forestry and fishing                                     247.0  - 36.8 

Mining and quarrying                                           2.8  - 0.5 

Manufacturing                                    176.9                                       0.1  77.2 

Electricity, gas, steam and air conditioning supply                                     227.9                                       2.0  5.6 

Water supply                                        13.3  - 2.5 

Construction                                        15.7  - 59.3 

Wholesale and retail trade                                   291.0                                       2.0  126.5 

Transport and storage                                  215.9  - 79.3 

Accommodation and food service activities                                           7.5  - 0.8 

Information and communication                                      22.3  - 18.1 

Real estate activities                                     567.5                                       1.9  30.5 

Professional, scientific and technical activities                                          5.9  - 3 

Administrative and support service activities                                       37.9  - 2 

Education                                           1.3  - - 
Human health services and social work activities                                        16.1  - 2.3 

Arts, entertainment and recreation                                           3.3  - 0.8 

Other services                                        40.5  - 12.7 

Households                                1,071.1  - 78.2 

Total 3,670.0 195.2 636.4 
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2.2. Credit risk (continued) 
 
Large exposures 
 

    31/12/2020  31/12/2019 
 Number/

Amount 
% from net 
own funds 

 Number/
Amount 

% from net 
own funds 

      
Number of customer with large exposures 44 -  46 - 
Due from customer with large exposures (EUR mil.) 716.0 191.3%  561.7 177.4% 
      

Own funds included in calculation of capital adequacy 374.3 -  316.7 - 

 

Large exposures contain due from central bank, credit institutions or customers (loans, interests, securities) and off-
balance sheet commitments to central bank, credit institutions or customers, which may turn into claims. 

The following is deducted from large exposures: 
- claims to the parent company of the bank and their subsidiaries which are under the consolidated supervision of financial 
inspections of concerned states; 
- due from central bank, central government and government authorities, which belong to a group with credit risk 
considered at 0 per cent; 
  - 80 per cent of exposures to Regional governments or local authorities with 20 per cent risk weight. 

Large credit risk exposure is defined by the Regulation No 575/2013 of the European Parliament and of the Council and 
is the total exposure of one party or related parties to the Group which exceeds 10 per cent of the Group's net own funds, 
37.8 million euros as at 31 December 2020 (31.6 million euros as at 31 December 2019). All instruments where credit 
risk may arise to the Group are taken into consideration. The limit of the total exposure of one party or related parties is 
25 per cent. Total exposure of any group of related parties did not exceed the regulatory limit of 25 per cent in the Group. 
 
Maximum exposure to credit risk before collateral held or other enhancement 
 
(millions of EUR) 

 2020   2019  
      
Subject to ECL allowances:      

Balances with central bank 375.0   563.3  
Loans to credit institutions   472.1   39.6  
Loans to the public 3,062.5   3,028.1  

   Corporates 1,849.8   1,901.9  
   Public sector 114.1   55.1  
   Mortgage 898.7   861.2  
   Other loans to Private individuals 199.9   209.9  

Other financial assets 19.4   42.3  
      
Not subject to ECL allowances:      

Debt securities 275.7   150.6  
Derivatives 31.4   44.7  
Equity instruments 4.4   8.5  

      
Exposures related to off-balance sheet items and 
guarantees 

832.5 
  

636.4 
 

      

Maximum exposure 
             

4,240.5  
 

             
3,877.1  
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2.3. Liquidity risk 

Definition 

Liquidity risk is the risk that the Group is unable to refinance its existing assets or is unable to meet the demand for 
additional liquidity. Liquidity risk also entails the risk that the Group is forced to borrow at unfavourable rates or is forced 
to sell assets at a loss in order to meet its payment commitments.  

Liquidity management and risk measurement 

The Supervisory Board has established a comprehensive framework for managing the Group’s liquidity requirements and 
risks in the short- and long-term. The aim of the Group’s liquidity risk management is to ensure that the Group has a 
controlled liquidity risk situation, with adequate volumes of liquid assets to meet its liquidity requirements in all 
foreseeable circumstances, without incurring substantial cost.  

 The liquidity risk is managed through the risk tolerances and management alert levels set by the Management Board. The 
treasury function has the overall responsibility for liquidity management and funding. Risk department measures limit 
utilisation based on different market conditions and liquidity stress tests on a daily basis. The liquidity risk position is 
reported at least on a quarterly basis to ALCO (Assets and Liability Committee), Management Board  and  the Risk 
Committee of the Supervisory Board.  

Liquidity management and the structuring of the Statement of financial position from a liquidity point of view are built on 
three basic perspectives:  

(i) the structural liquidity perspective, in which stable funding is put in relation to illiquid assets;  
(ii) the Group’s tolerance for short-term stress in the form of a shutdown of the wholesale and interbank funding 

markets (wholesale funding dependence); and,  
(iii) the Group’s tolerance to a severe stress scenario (survival horizon) where, in addition to a shutdown of the 

funding market, the bank experiences a severe outflow of deposits. 

Structural liquidity risk 

In order to maintain a sound structural liquidity position, the structure of the liability side should be based on the 
composition of assets. The more long-term lending and other illiquid assets, the more stable funding is required. In The 
Group, this is measured as the Core Gap ratio, which is conceptually equivalent to the Net Stable Funding Ratio (NSFR), 
i.e., a ratio between stable funding (over 1 year maturity) and illiquid assets (over 1 year maturity). The difference 
between the internal Core Gap ratio and the external NSFR is that the Core Gap ratio is calculated on a more detailed level 
based on internal statistics, which results in different weightings of available and required stable funding. 

Wholesale funding dependence 

The Group measures wholesale funding dependence as the loan to deposit ratio which, is calculated by dividing the bank’s 
total loans to the public by its total deposits from the public. A ratio below 100 per cent means that lending to the public 
is being fully financed by deposits from the same segment, i.e. there is no reliance on other types of funding (typically 
wholesale funding). 

Stressed survival horizon 

Severe stress can be modelled by combining assumptions of a wholesale funding market shutdown with assumptions of 
deposit outflows, drawdowns on commitments, etc. The outcome is captured by the regulatory defined Liquidity Coverage 
Ratio (LCR) where, in a stressed scenario, modelled net outflows during a 30-day period are related to the amount of total 
liquid assets. The Group also measures the time it would take for the liquid assets to be depleted in a severely stressed 
scenario, expressed as the stressed survival horizon.  

Internal liquidity adequacy assessment process 

Liquidity risk is not primarily mitigated by capital. However, there are strong links between a bank’s capital and liquidity 
position. Hence, an internal liquidity adequacy assessment process (ILAAP) complements the ICAAP. The ILAAP is 
designed to identify potential gaps against SEB’s long-term desired level of liquidity adequacy, taking into account that 
effective liquidity management is a continuous process. 
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (continued) 
2. Risk policy and management (continued) 

2.3. Liquidity risk (continued) 

 

Liquidity risk management measures 
  31/12/2020      31/12/2019 
Core Gap ratio 132.6% 107.0% 
Loan to deposit ratio 87.7%  98.4% 
Liquidity Coverage ratio 428.0% 176.3% 

Due to COVID-19 restrictions, total amount of Deposits from the public significantly increased with liquidity buffer, which 
resulted in a corresponding increase in all Liquidity risk measures, including, LCR. 

Retail deposits, which are stable to large extent, are the most important financing source for the Group. Belonging to the 
international banking group gives the Group additional assurance to manage long-term liquidity. Liquidity is managed in 
co-operation with the SEB Group Treasury. Through the parent company the Group has better access to the international 
money markets than on individual basis. 

Next table presents the cash flows payable by the Group under non-derivative financial liabilities by remaining contractual 
maturity as of 31 December 2020. The amounts disclosed in the table are the contractual undiscounted cash flows. 

 
(millions of EUR) 

Maturity On demand 
Up to 3 
month 

3-12 
month 1-5 years 

Over 5 
years Total 

Carrying 
value in 

statement 
of financial 

position  

Cash and balances with 
central bank 375.0 - - - - 375.0 375.0 

Demand deposits from 
Credit Institutions 436.3 - - - - 436.3 436.3 

Government bonds - 28.2 26.3 221.2 - 275.7 275.7 
Total assets used for 

liquidity management 811.3 28.2 26.3 221.2 - 1,087.0 1,087.0 
Deposits from central 

banks and credit 
institutions 20.0 0.5 0.3 216.3 - 237.1 235.5 

Deposits and borrowings 
from the public 3,503.5 0.4 - - 1.4 3,505.3 3,505.0 

Other financial liabilities 18.4 0.9 3.6 5.3 16.4 44.6 43.3 
Total undiscounted non-

derivative financial 
liabilities 3,541.9 1.8 3.9 221.6 17.8 3,787.0 3,783.8 

Irrevocable off-balance 
sheet commitments - 87.4 289.9 166.0 92.8 636.1 - 
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (continued) 
2. Risk policy and management (continued) 

2.3. Liquidity risk (continued) 

The table below allocates the Group’s financial liabilities and liquid assets cash flows as at 31 December 2019.  

 
(millions of EUR) 

Maturity On demand 
Up to 3 
month 

3-12 
month 1-5 years 

Over 5 
years Total 

Carrying 
value in 

statement 
of financial 

position  
Cash and balances with 

central bank 563.3 - - - 39.0 602.3 602.3 
Demand deposits from 

Credit Institutions 37.8 - - - - 37.8 37.8 

Government bonds - 23.3 4.4 123.0 - 150.7 150.6 
Total assets used for 

liquidity management 601.1 23.3 4.4 123.0 39.0 790.8 790.7 
Deposits from central 

banks and credit 
institutions 36.8 51.7 145.3 96.3 - 330.1 327.6 

Deposits and borrowings 
from the public 3,000.9 26.6 57.7 1.7 2.3 3,089.2 3,089.2 

Other financial liabilities 32.1 0.1 1.1 12.9 38.1 84.3 84.3 
Total undiscounted non-

derivative financial 
liabilities 3,069.8 78.4 204.1 110.9 40.4 3,503.6 3,501.1 

Irrevocable off-balance 
sheet commitments - 77.8 204.3 90.7 92.3 465.1 - 

 

Next table presents undiscounted derivative instruments analysis for the Group as of 31 December 2020. Gross-settled 
derivatives are included in the analysis whether their fair value is negative or positive at reporting date. Pay leg of such 
derivatives is presented as outflow and receive leg as inflow. 
 
Gross-settled derivatives 
 
(millions of EUR) 

Maturity On demand Up to 3 month 3-12 month 1-5 years 
Over 5 

years Total 
       

Foreign exchange derivatives       

Outflow - 114.7 300.3 - - 415.0 

Inflow - 114.0 300.2 - - 414.2 

 
 
The table below allocates the Group’s derivative cash flows as at 31 December 2019: 
 
Gross-settled derivatives 
 
(millions of EUR) 

 
Maturity On demand Up to 3 month 3-12 month 1-5 years 

Over 5 
years Total 

       

Foreign exchange derivatives       

Outflow - 118.5 1.2 311.1 - 430.8 

Inflow - 118.3 1.2 311.1 - 430.6 
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (continued) 
2. Risk policy and management (continued) 

2.4. Market risk 

Definition 

Market risk is the risk of losses in positions and obligations in the Statement of financial position, arising from adverse 
movements in market prices. Market risk can arise from changes in interest rates, foreign exchange rates, credit spreads, 
commodity and equity prices, implied volatilities, inflation and market liquidity. A clear distinction is made between market 
risks related to trading activity, i.e., trading book risks, and structural market and net interest income risks, i.e., banking 
book risks. Whereas positions in the trading book are held with a trading intent and under a daily mark-to-market regime, 
positions in the banking book do not have a trading intent and are typically held at amortised cost. 

Risk management 

Market risks in the trading book arises from bank’s customer-driven trading activities. Market risk also arises in the form 
of interest rate risk in the banking book as a result of Statement of financial position mismatches in currencies, interest 
terms and interest rate periods. The treasury function has overall responsibility for managing these risks. The treasury 
function also manages a liquidity portfolio, which is part of bank’s liquidity reserve. The market risk from the liquidity 
portfolio comes from credit spread risk and interest rate risk in pledgeable and highly liquid bonds. 

Bank‘s risk appetite is defined in the Risk Tolerance statements through which Banks Supervisory Board  defines how 
much market risk is acceptable. Risk Committee of the Supervisory Board sets tolerance levels within given market risk 
limits. 

The Group measures the risks using different methods of risk valuation and management pursuant to the type of risk. 
Important role in risk prevention is diversification of risk assets and limitation for trading positions. 

The risk organisation measures, follows up and reports the market risk taken by the various units within The Group on a 
daily basis. The risk control function monitors limit compliance and market prices at closing as well as valuation standards 
and the introduction of new products. In addition to daily reports, Market risks are reported at least on a quarterly basis 
to the ALCO and to the Risk Committee of the Supervisory Board. 

Risk measurement  

When assessing the market risk exposure, the Group uses measures that capture losses under normal and stressed market 
conditions. Market risks under normal market circumstances are measured using Value at Risk (VaR) as well as specific 
measures that are relevant for the various risk types. These measures are complemented by stress tests and scenario 
analyses, in which potential losses under extreme market conditions are estimated. Since no measurement method can 
cover all risks at all times, several approaches are used, and the results are assessed based on judgment and experience. 

Value at Risk and Stressed Value at Risk 

VaR expresses the maximum potential loss that could arise during a certain time period with a given degree of probability. 
The Group uses a historical simulation VaR model with a ten-day time horizon and 99 per cent confidence interval to 
measure, limit and report VaR. The model aggregates market risk exposure for all risk types and covers a wide range of 
risk factors in all asset classes. The Group also uses a stressed VaR measure, where VaR is calculated for the current 
portfolio using market data from a historic, turbulent time period covering the Lehman Brothers’ default. The VaR model 
is subject to validation using back-testing analysis. 

A limitation of the Group’s VaR model is that it uses historical data to estimate potential market changes. As such it may 
not predict all outcomes, especially in a rapidly changing market. Also, VaR does not take into account any actions to 
reduce risk as the model assumes that the portfolio is unchanged. 

 
(millions of EUR) 

 31/12/2020 31/12/2019 

Interest risk (stand-alone) 1.0 0.5 

Credit spread risk (stand-alone) 0.0 0.0 

Foreign exchange risk (stand-alone) 0.0 0.0 

Equity price risk (stand-alone) 1.0 0.9 

Diversification effect -0.7 -0.4 

Total 1.3 1.0 
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (continued) 
2. Risk policy and management (continued) 

2.4. Market risk (continued) 
 
Scenario analysis and Stress tests   

Scenario analysis and stress tests are a key part of the risk management framework, complementing the VaR measure. In 
particular, they test the portfolios using scenarios other than those available in the VaR simulation window, and cover 
longer time horizons. The Group stresses its portfolios by applying extreme movements in market factors which have been 
observed in the past (historical scenarios) as well as extreme movements that could potentially happen in the future 
(hypothetical or forward-looking scenarios).  

This type of analysis provides management with a view on the potential impact that large market moves in individual risk 
factors, as well as broader market scenarios, could have on a portfolio.  

Specific risk measures 

VaR and stress tests are complemented by specific risk measures including Delta 1 per cent and NII sensitivity for interest 
risk, and single and aggregated FX for currency risk. 

In addition, all units that handle risk for financial instruments valued at market are limited by a stop-loss limit. The stop-
loss limit indicates the maximum loss a unit can incur before mitigating actions are taken. 
 

2.4.1. Foreign exchange risk 

Foreign exchange risk arises both through the Group’s foreign exchange trading and because the Group’s activities are 
carried out in various currencies. The Group’s main objective for taking foreign exchange risk is to facilitate smooth foreign 
exchange trading for its customers and to manage the flows from customers’ deals effectively. Together with the 
customers’ deals related flows the Group manages the structural foreign exchange risk inherent in the structure of the 
Statement of financial position and earnings.  

Market risks arising from the foreign exchange positions are measured internally within the overall VaR framework. As a 
complement ALCO has set limits for open foreign currency positions by individual currencies and also on an aggregated 
level as a sum of long or short positions, depending of which one is higher on absolute terms. Management of open foreign 
currency positions is the responsibility of the Markets department, analysis and limit follow-up is performed by the Risk 
department. 

The table below summarizes the Group’s exposure to foreign currency exchange rate risk at the reporting date. ECB 
closing rates are used. 
 

Currency 

 31/12/2020 

 

31/12/2019 

Rates 
Position, 
EUR mil. 

Percentage of 
capital 

 Position, 
EUR mil. 

Percentage of 
capital 

       

U.S. Dollars (USD) 10.4468 0.1 0.0  0.1 0.0 

The remaining long positions N/A 0.3 0.1  0.2 0.1 

The remaining short positions N/A -0.3 0.1  -0.2 -0.1 

       
Open position N/A 0.1 0.0  0.1 0.0 

 

Net currency position was under 1 per cent level of net own funds, 3.7 million euros as at 31 December 2020 (3.2 million 
euros as at 31 December 2019). 

 

2.4.2. Interest rate risk 

Interest rate risk refers to the risk that the value of the Group’s assets, liabilities and interest-related derivatives will be 
negatively affected by changes in interest rates or other relevant risk factors. 

The majority of the Group’s interest rate risks are structural and arise within the banking operations when there is a 
mismatch between the interest fixing periods of assets and liabilities, including derivatives. 
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (continued) 
2. Risk policy and management (continued) 

2.4. Market risk (continued) 

2.4.2. Interest rate risk (continued) 

The Group uses Delta 1% methodology for measuring the assets-liability mismatch risk, arising from the structure of 
Assets exposed to interest rate risk (Financial Assets) and Liabilities exposed to interest rate risk (Financial Liabilities) to 
reflect change in economic value due to change in interest rates. Delta 1% is defined as the change in market value arising 
from an adverse one percentage unit parallel shift in all interest rates in each currency. Delta 1% method enables to 
effectively measure the impact of interest rate changes to Assets exposed to interest rate risk and Liabilities exposed to 
interest rate risk. Delta 1% should be kept within the limit set by the Management Board. 

The Group also uses NII sensitivity metrics to reflect change in the net interest income due to the change of interest rates. 
For 2020 NII sensitivity was defined as change in value of annual Net Interest Income per 200 bps parallel shift of interest 
rates with additional assumptions, e.g. interest rate floors accounting for very low current yield level. The Group does not 
have a limit on NII sensitivity, but instead a risk tolerance measure relative to Risk Exposure Amount is established by the 
Risk Committee of the Supervisory Board. 

 Daily management of interest rate risk is the responsibility of the Treasury department, and measuring and analysing that 
of the Risk department. 

Interest rate sensitivity 31/12/2020 31/12/2019 

Net effect on the economic value of equity (delta 1%) -10.2 -9.0 

The  Group Delta 1% has been negative which means that the average duration of Assets exposed to interest rate risk is 
higher than average duration of Liabilities exposed to interest rate risk and the Group is more exposed to interest rate 
increase. The biggest contributors to the Delta 1% figure are loans from the asset side and deposits and funding from the 
parent company from the liabilities side which balance the mismatch from loans. Further information on interest rate 
sensitivity can be found through table below “Exposure to interest rate risk by interest fixation period”. It includes the 
Group’s financial assets and liabilities at carrying amounts, categorised by the earlier of contractual repricing or maturity 
date. 

Exposure to interest rate risk by interest fixation period 

(millions of EUR) 
31/12/2020 

 Within 
1 month 

1-3   
months 

3-6  
months 

6-12 
months 

1-5   
years 

Over 
5 years 

Non-
interest 
bearing Total 

Financial assets         
Cash and balances with central bank 340.3 - - - - - 34.7 375.0 
Receivables from credit institutions 436.4 35.5 0.1 0.1 - - - 472.1 
Loans to the public 778.9 1,059.6 625.2 437.1 151.0 7.5 3.2 3,062.5 
Debt securities 20.2 7.1 16.5 9.7 220.9 - 1.3 275.7 
Derivatives 0.2 0.1 25.4 - 0.9 4.8 - 31.4 
Equity instruments - - - - - - 4.4 4.4 
Other assets - - - - - - 19.4 19.4 
Total financial assets 1,576.0 1,102.3 667.2 446.9 372.8 12.3 63.0 4,240.5 
         
Financial liabilities          
Deposits from central banks and credit 
institutions 20.3 215.0 - - - - 0.2 235.5 
Deposits and borrowings from the public 3,072.3 428.0 1.0 2.1 0.1 - 1.5 3,505.0 
Derivatives 0.8 0.2 25.7 - 1.9 4.9 - 33.5 
Other financial liabilities - - - - - - 43.3 43.3 
Total financial liabilities 3,093.4 643.2 26.7 2.1 2.0 4.9 45.0 3,817.3 
         
Total interest repricing gap of on-
balance sheet position -1,517.4 459.1 640.5 444.8 370.8 7.4 49.0 423.2 
         
Derivative assets 275.9 167.1 362.2 8.2 45.5 54.7 - 913.6 
Derivative liabilities 163.2 35.5 366.9 8.2 279.0 61.7 - 914.5 
         
Total interest repricing gap -1,404.7 590.7 635.8 444.8 137.3 0.4 49.0 422.3 
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2. Risk policy and management (continued) 

2.4. Market risk (continued) 

2.4.2. Interest rate risk (continued) 

 
(millions of EUR) 
31/12/2019 

 Within 
1 month 

1-3   
months 

3-6  
months 

6-12 
months 

1-5   
years 

Over 
5 years 

Non-
interest 
bearing Total 

Financial assets         
Cash and balances with central bank 563.3 - - - - - 39.0 602.3 
Receivables from credit institutions 38.3 0.9 - 0.4 - - - 39.6 
Loans to the public 784.6 1,006.3 635.6 414.4 188.4 1.8 -3.0 3,028.1 
Debt securities - 16.3 20.5 1.0 111.8 - 1.0 150.6 
Derivatives 0.7 1.3 4.7 - 38.0 - - 44.7 
Equity instruments - - - - - - 8.5 8.5 
Other assets - - - - - - 42.3 42.3 
Total financial assets 1,386.9 1,024.8 660.8 415.8 338.2 1.8 87.8 3,916.1 
         
Financial liabilities          
Deposits from central banks and credit 
institutions 37.3 51.0 31.4 112.8 94.7 - 0.4 327.6 
Deposits and borrowings from the public 2,627.1 403.3 3.2 54.1 0.1 - 1.4 3,089.2 
Derivatives 1.3 1.9 4.5 - 38.2 - - 45.9 
Other financial liabilities - - - - - - 10.4 10.4 
Total financial liabilities 2,665.7 456.2 39.1 166.9 133.0 - 12.2 3,473.1 
         
Total interest repricing gap of on-
balance sheet position -1,278.8 568.6 621.7 248.9 205.2 1.8 75.6 443.0 
         
Derivative assets 186.3 119.7 93.1 35.6 374.9 56.2 - 865.8 
Derivative liabilities 148.9 47.5 111.1 35.6 466.7 56.2 - 866.0 
         
Total interest repricing gap -1,241.4 640.8 603.7 248.9 113.4 1.8 75.6 442.8 
         

2.4.3. Equity price risk 

The Group and the Bank does not have equities in Trading book. The reported VaR exposure in equities is from banking 
Book Position in strategic investments. 

 

2.5. Operational risk 

Definition 

Operational risk is the risk of loss resulting from inadequate or failed internal processes, people and systems (e.g., 
breakdown of IT systems, mistakes, fraud, other deficiencies in internal control) or from external events (natural 
disasters, external crime, etc.). The definition includes conduct, compliance, legal and financial reporting, information-, 
cyber- and physical security, and venture execution risk, but excludes strategic and reputational risk. 

Risk management 

Operational risk is inherent in all of the Group’s operations and the responsibility to manage operational risks rests with all 
managers throughout the bank. The Group aims to maintain a sound risk culture with low operational risk and loss level 
through an effective internal control environment by ensuring a structured and consistent usage of risk mitigating tools 
and processes.  

All new or changed products, processes and/or systems as well as reorganisations are evaluated in a group-common New 
Product Approval Process (NPAP). The aim is to identify potential operational risks and ensure that proactive measures 
are taken to protect the Group from entering into unintended risk-taking that cannot be immediately managed by the 
organisation. 

All business units with significant risk embedded in their operations shall regularly complete Risk and Control Self-
Assessments (RCSA) according to a group-wide methodology. The assessments are designed to identify and mitigate 
significant operational risks embedded in the Group’s various business and support processes. There is comprehensive 
participation by each business unit throughout the organisation. The RCSA framework is used to analyse the Group’s 
operational risk profile and help achieve operational excellence and high performance. 
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2. Risk policy and management (continued) 

2.5. Operational  risk (continued) 

The Group ensures that the organisation is prepared to respond to and operate throughout a period of major disruption by 
identifying critical activities and maintaining updated and tested business continuity plans in a group-wide system for this 
purpose. 

All employees are required to escalate and register risk-related events or incidents so that risks can be properly identified, 
assessed, monitored, mitigated and reported. The Group uses a group-wide IT application to capture risk events and other 
operational risk data for analysis. 

The Group conducts regular training and education in key areas, including mandatory training for all staff in general 
operational risk, information security, fraud prevention, anti-money laundering, know-your-customer procedures, GDPR 
and SEB’s Code of Business Conduct. The Group also has a formal whistle-blower procedure that encourages employees 
to report improprieties and unethical or illegal conduct. 

The Group’s approach to meet cyber and other security threats is to prioritise technical protection, raise awareness and 
continuously enhance the cyber risk culture among both employees and customers. Necessary security updates, system 
upgrades, and implementation of new features and secure measurements are performed on a regular basis. The Group 
continuously work to enhance and improve its already well established processes for mitigating, evaluating and following 
up on existing and future cyber risks. 

The risk department is responsible for measuring and reporting The Group’s operational risks. Significant incidents and the 
risk level are analysed and reported on a quarterly basis to the Management Board and the Risk Committee of the 
Supervisory Board. In 2020, the total operational losses from operational incidents amounted to 0.8 million euros (2019: 
1.9 million euros) - for further details see section Governance principles in Statement of the Management of the Bank. 

Risk measurement 

The Group uses the Advanced Measurement Approach (AMA) to calculate the regulatory capital requirement for 
operational risk.  

Regulatory supervision 

The Group is subject to various legal requirements. Over the past years, the rules and regulations of the financial industry 
have expanded and further sharpened and the regulators have increased their supervision. This is a development, which 
is expected to continue to evolve. Supervisory authorities regularly conduct reviews of Group’s regulatory compliance, 
including areas such as financial stability, market conduct related activities, anti-money laundering and terrorist financing, 
international sanctions and data privacy. The Group has policies and procedures in place with the purpose to always 
comply with applicable rules and regulations. It cannot, however, be ruled out that current and future supervisory reviews 
could lead to criticism or sanctions. 

At the end of December 2020 SEB Latvia has submitted all evidence to Latvian Financial Supervisory Authority to close 
all identified issues. Authority approved that administrative case is closed. 

 

2.6. Business risk 

Definition 
Business risk is the risk of lower revenues due to reduced volumes, price pressure or competition. Business risk includes 
venture decision risk (related to undertakings such as acquisitions, large IT projects, transformations, outsourcing, etc.). 
Strategic risk is close in nature to business risk, but focuses on large-scale or structural risk factors. Reputational risk is 
the risk arising from negative perception of the Group or the industry in general. 

Risk management 

Business, strategic and reputational risks are inherent in doing business. Digitalisation of the banking industry is 
accelerating and new types of competitors are emerging. The extensive new regulatory framework for banking and 
financial institutions is significantly impacting the industry. Corporate sustainability plays an increasingly important part 
of a company’s reputation. The Group continuously works to mitigate business, strategic and reputational risks in many 
ways, for example, with regular strategic business reviews, proactive cost management, an agile step-by-step IT 
development approach, an ambitious corporate sustainability agenda and active dialogues on regulatory matters. 
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2.7. Capital adequacy and capital management 

Group’s and capital adequacy target, capital allocation and return on allocated capital are risk-based measures built on an 
assessment of all identified risks incurred in the operations. Capital management is forward-looking and aligned with short-
term and long-term business plans and the macroeconomic environment. Management of the Bank uses an internal model 
to calculate how much capital is necessary to cover its risks (so called Economic Capital). Stress testing is an important 
parameter when assessing capital adequacy and setting capital targets. This is evaluated in the annual internal capital 
adequacy assessment process (ICAAP).  

As part of the capital planning, the Group maintains a recovery plan which assesses possible capital contingency measures 
and outlines governance in the event of a stressed capital situation.  

Capital management ensures that capital is used where it can generate the best risk-adjusted returns. The management 
of the Bank uses an internal capital allocation framework (business equity) that allocates the capital needed based on the 
risks taken by the business units. 

Capital adequacy refers to the sufficiency of the Group’s capital resources to cover credit risks, operational and market 
risks arising from the portfolio of assets of the Group and the exposure from commitments and contingent liabilities of the 
Group. 

The Group’s capital adequacy ratios are being calculated in accordance with Basel III (CRR 575/2013) requirements. 

In accordance with the Basel III requirements, the Group’s and the Bank’s risk based capital adequacy ratios as at 31 
December 2020 were 20.85 per cent (2019: 17.33 per cent) and 20.63 per cent (2019: 17.98 per cent) respectively 
which is above the minimum required to maintain a capital adequacy ratio of 8 per cent of risk weighted assets and 
commitments and contingent liabilities (See Notes 35 and 36). In addition, the Group and the Bank shall comply with the 
combined buffer requirement: Capital conservation buffer – 2.5 per cent and other systemically important institution (O-
SII) buffer – 1.75 per cent. 

 

2.8. Individual minimum requirement for own funds and eligible liabilities (MREL) on a sub-consolidated basis 

The BRRD (Bank recovery and resolution directive) requires banks to meet MREL targets to absorb losses and restore 
their capital position, allowing them to continuously perform their critical economic functions during and after a crisis. 
MREL represents one of the key tools in enhancing banks’ resolvability. In 2017, the Single Resolution Board (SRB) 
developed its MREL policy and adopted its first binding decisions for major banking groups. 

As MREL decisions must be reviewed annually, the SRB considers any relevant supervisory decision affecting the banks 
within its remit or any change in the banks’ financial structures and risk profiles.  

MREL shall be calculated as the amount of own funds and eligible liabilities expressed as a percentage of the institution's 
total liabilities and own funds (TLOF). AS SEB banka has been compliant with the individual MREL since September 30, 
2020. 

 

 Fair value measurement of assets and liabilities 

The objective of the fair value measurement is to arrive at the price at which an orderly transaction would take place 
between market participants at the measurement date under current market conditions. 

The Group has an established control environment for the determination of fair values of financial instruments that 
includes a review, independent from the business, of valuation models and prices. If the validation principles are not 
adhered to, exceptions of material and principal importance require approval from respective decision making bodies. 

In order to arrive at the fair value of a financial instrument the Group uses different methods; quoted prices in active 
markets, valuation techniques incorporating observable data and valuation techniques based on internal models. For 
disclosure purposes, financial instruments carried at fair value are classified in a fair value hierarchy according to the level 
of market observability of the inputs. Risk control function classifies and continuously reviews the classification of financial 
instruments in the fair value hierarchy.  

An active market is one in which transactions occur with sufficient volume and frequency to provide pricing information 
on an ongoing basis. The objective is to arrive at a price at which a transaction without modification or repackaging would 
occur in the principal market for the instrument to which the Group has immediate access. 

Fair value is generally measured for individual financial instruments, in addition portfolio adjustments are made to cover 
the credit risk. To reflect counterparty risk and own credit risk in OTC derivatives, adjustments are made based on the net 
exposure towards each counterpart. These adjustments are calculated on a counterparty level based on estimates of 
exposure at default, probability of default and recovery rates. Probability of default and recovery rate information is 
generally sourced from the CDS markets. For counterparties where this information is not available, or considered  
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3. Fair value measurement of assets and liabilities (continued) 

unreliable due to the nature of the exposure, alternative approaches are taken where the probability of default is based 
on generic credit indices for specific industry and/or rating.  

When valuing financial liabilities at fair value own credit standing is reflected. 

 Level 1: Quoted market prices 

Valuations in Level 1 are determined by reference to unadjusted quoted market prices for identical instruments in active 
markets where the quoted prices are readily available and the prices represent actual and regularly occurring market 
transactions on an arm’s length basis. 

Examples of Level 1 financial instruments are listed equity securities, debt securities, and exchange-traded derivatives. 
Instruments traded in an active market for which one or more market participants provide a binding price quotation on the 
reporting date are also examples of Level 1 financial instruments. 

Level 2: Valuation techniques with observable inputs 

In Level 2 valuation techniques, all significant inputs to the valuation models are observable either directly or indirectly. 
Level 2 valuation techniques include using discounted cash flows, option pricing models, recent transactions and the price 
of another instrument that is substantially the same. 

Examples of observable inputs are foreign currency exchange rates, binding securities price quotations, market interest 
rates (LIBOR, etc.), volatilities implied from observable option prices for the same term and actual transactions with one 
or more external counterparts executed by the Group. An input can transfer from being observable to being unobservable 
during the holding period due to e.g. illiquidity of the instrument. Examples of Level 2 financial instruments are most OTC 
derivatives such as options and interest rate swaps based on the LIBOR swap rate or a foreign-denominated yield curve. 

Level 3: Valuation techniques with significant unobservable inputs 

Level 3 valuation techniques incorporate significant inputs that are unobservable. These techniques are generally based 
on extrapolating from observable inputs for similar instruments, analysing historical data or other analytical techniques. 
Examples of Level 3 financial instruments are more complex OTC derivatives, long dated options for which the volatility is 
extrapolated or derivatives that depend on an unobservable correlation. Other examples are instruments for which there 
is currently no active market or binding quotes, such as unlisted equity instruments and private equity holdings. 

If the fair value of financial instruments includes more than one unobservable input, the unobservable inputs are 
aggregated in order to determine the classification of the entire instrument. The level in the fair value hierarchy within 
which a financial instrument is classified is determined on the basis of the lowest level of input that is significant to the fair 
value in its entirety. 

The hierarchy of fair value measurement of asset and liabilities presented on the Group’s statement of financial position 
at fair value:  

 
(millions of EUR) 

31/12/2020 Quoted price in active 
markets 

Valuation techniques 
using observable inputs 

Valuation techniques using 
non-observable inputs 

 

 (Level 1) (Level 2) (Level 3) Total 

Assets     

Debt securities 275.5 - - 275.5 
Derivatives - 31.4 - 31.4 
Equity instruments - - 4.4 4.4 
     

Total 275.5 31.4 4.4 311.3 

Liabilities     

Derivatives - 33.5 - 33.5 
     

Total - 33.5 - 33.5 
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3. Fair value measurement of assets and liabilities (continued) 

The table below allocates the Group’s assets and liabilities measured at fair value as at 31 December 2019:  

 
(millions of EUR) 

31/12/2019 Quoted price in active 
markets 

Valuation techniques 
using observable inputs 

Valuation techniques using 
non-observable inputs 

 

 (Level 1) (Level 2) (Level 3) Total 

Assets     

Debt securities 150.6 - - 150.6 
Derivatives - 44.7 - 44.7 
Equity instruments - - 8.5 8.5 
         

Total 150.6 44.7 8.5 203.8 

Liabilities     

Derivatives - 45.9 - 45.9 
         

Total -  45.9 -  45.9 
     

Transfers between levels may occur when there are indications that market conditions have changed, e.g. a change in 
liquidity.  

Fair value of investments 

Fair values for investments listed in an active market are based on quoted market prices. If the market for a financial 
instrument is not active, fair value is established by using valuation techniques based on discounted cash flow analysis, 
net asset value, valuation with reference to financial instruments that is substantially the same, and valuation with 
reference to observable market transactions in the same financial instrument. 

If the net present value of estimated cash flows differs by +/-5 per cent while other factors are unchanged the change in 
fair value of the material level 3 instruments for the  Group would be estimated higher or lower by EUR 0.2 million  (2019: 
EUR 0.4 million).  

The table below represents the changes of the Group’s Level 3 instruments for the year ended 31 December 2020 and 
2019: 

 
      (millions of EUR) 

 Equity instruments 

Balance as of 1 January 2019 5.9 
Gains (losses) in income statement - unrealised 2.6 
Balance as of 31 December 2019 8.5  
  
Balance as of 1 January 2020 8.5 
Gains (losses) in income statement - unrealised -4.1 
Balance as of 31 December 2020 4.4 

 

Unrealised gain on equity instruments recognized in the income statement is presented within ‘Net financial income’ line.  
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (continued) 
3. Fair value measurement of assets and liabilities (continued) 

The table below summarizes the carrying amounts and fair values of those financial assets and liabilities presented on the 
Group’s statement of financial position at amortized cost:  

 
(millions of EUR) 
 31/12/2020  31/12/2019 

 Carrying value Fair value  Carrying value Fair value 

      
Balances with the Central Bank 375.0 375.1  602.3 602.4 
Loans and advances to banks 472.1 471.9  39.6 39.6 
Loans to the public 3,062.5 2,987.5  3,028.1 2,914.8 
   General governments 114.1 110.5  55.1 54.5 
   Other financial corporations 6.6 6.7  9.1 9.1 
   Non-financial institutions 1,843.2 1,832.3  1,892.8 1,862.6 
   Households 1,098.6 1,038.0  1,071.1 988.6 

Total financial assets valued at amortized cost 3,909.6 3,834.5  3,670.0 3,556.8 
      

Deposits from central banks and credit institutions 235.5 239.5  327.6 328.8 
Current and demand deposits 3,452.6 3,453.1  3,002.8 3,003.4 
Term deposits from the public 52.4 52.4  86.4 86.4 

Total financial liabilities valued at amortized cost 3,740.5 3,745.0  3,416.8 3,418.6 

The Group conducts assessment of fair value of financial assets and liabilities which are not presented in the Group’s 
statement of financial position at their fair value. All financial instruments not measured at fair value are specified at Level 
3 in hierarchy of valuation of fair value, because of using unobservable inputs. 

When calculating fair value for floating interest rate loans and for fixed-interest rate lending, future cash flows are 
discounted based on the market interest curve, which has been adjusted for applicable margins of new lending. Fixed-
interest rate deposits, floating interest rate and fixed-interest rate balances due to credit institutions, have been 
calculated similarly. 

 

 Net interest income 
 
   (millions of EUR) 

 2020  2019 
Interest income    

Loans to the public 63.5  63.3 
Negative interest income 0.9  0.8 
Loans to credit institutions and central banks 0.4  0.5 

Total interest income calculated using the effective interest rate method 64.8  64.6 
    
    
Loans to the public (leasing portfolio) 7.9  7.8 
Debt securities 0.2  0.4 

Total other interest and similar income 8.1  8.2 
Total interest income 72.9  72.8 

    
Regulatory fees -6.7  -5.4 
Deposits from credit institutions -3.2  -0.9 
Negative interest expenses -1.4  -1.9 
Deposits and borrowings from the public -0.3  -0.7 

Total interest expenses -11.6  -8.9 
    
Net interest income 61.3  63.9 
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 Net fee and commission income 
 
   (millions of EUR) 

 2020 2019 
    

Payment cards commissions 20.5  21.9 
Deposits commissions 11.5  9.1 
Securities commissions 9.7  9.5 
Payment commissions 8.9  10.0 
Lending commissions 2.0  1.7 
Guarantees commissions 1.3  1.2 
Credit contracts commissions 1.2  0.9 
Other fees and commissions 0.5  0.4 
Insurance brokerage fees 0.3  0.4 

Fee and commission income 55.9  55.1 
    
Fee and commission expense    

Payment cards commissions -12.3  -11.8 
Securities commissions -1.5  -1.6 
Payments commissions -2.0  -2.4 
Other fees and commissions -1.8  -1.6 

Expenses on services and commissions -17.6  -17.4 
      
Net fee and commission income 38.3  37.7 

 

 Net financial income 
 
   (millions of EUR) 

 2020 2019 
 FVHFT* FVMPL** Other Total  FVHFT* FVMPL** Other Total 
          
Gain (loss) from debt securities - 0.7 - 0.7  - 1.0 - 1.0 
Gain (loss) from derivatives -6.6 - - -6.6  3.1 - - 3.1 
Gain (loss) from equity instruments - 2.7 - 2.7  - 2.5 - 2.5 
Gain (loss) from foreign exchange trading 4.2  - 4.2  3.6 - - 3.6 
Exchange differences - - 6.7 6.7  - - -1.5 -1.5 
                  

Net financial income -2.4 3.4 6.7 7.7  6.7 3.5 -1.5 8.7 
 
* FVHFT – Fair Value Through Profit and Loss Held for Trading 
** FVMPL - Fair Value Through Profit and Loss Mandatorily  
 
Exchange differences in amount of EUR 6.7 million mainly consist of revaluation result of changes in open currency positions and ECB 
foreign exchange rates. 
 

 Other operating income  
 
   (millions of EUR) 

 2020  2019 
    

Income from sale of services to related companies 1.3  1.2 
Pension fund members’ earnings -  -0.1 
Rental income under operating leases 0.3  0.3 
Other operating income 0.2  0.1 

Other operating income 1.8  1.5 
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 Personnel expenses 
 
   (millions of EUR) 

 2020  2019 
    
Salary expenses -20.7  -20.6 
Social security expenses -4.9  -5 

 Defined contribution plan expenses -0.5  -0.5 
 Share-based payments -0.4  -0.2 
 Other personnel expenses -1.0  -1.2 
Total -27.5  -27.5 

 

The average number of personnel employed by the Group during the respective year is specified as follows: 

 

 2020  2019 
    
Members of the Board of Directors 6  6 
Other managing personnel 90  84 
Staff  810  828 

Total number of personnel employed 906  918 
 
 
The total number of personnel employed by the Group as at 31 December 2020 was 906 (918). 
 
The following table illustrates the number and weighted average exercise prices (WAEP) of, and movements in  
share options during the year: 
 

  2020  2019 
  Number WAEP  Number WAEP 
       
Outstanding at 1 January  222,380     212,089    
Granted during the year  93,429     115,249    
Forfeited during the year  -34,696     -53,349    
Exercised during the year*  -34,494  8.19  -51,609  8.75 

Expired during the year 
 

-   
                                        

-      
Outstanding at 31 December  246,619     222,380    
Exercisable at 31 December  36,164     23,750    

 
*The weighted average share price at the date of exercise of these options was EUR 8,19 (2020); EUR 8,75 (2019). 
 
The weighted average remaining contractual life for the share options outstanding as at 31 December 2020 was 
4,67 years (2019:4,70 years). 
 
The range of exercise prices for options outstanding at the end of the year was EUR 7,02 to EUR 9,74 
(2019: EUR 7,87 to EUR 9,09). 
 

 Depreciation, amortization and impairment of tangible and intangible assets 
 
  (millions of EUR) 

 2020  2019 
    
Amortization of intangible assets -1.8  -1.5 
Depreciation of tangible assets -2.2  -2.4 
Depreciation of right of use assets -3.4  -3.4 

Total -7.4  -7.3 
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 Other expenses  
 
  (millions of EUR) 

 2020  2019 
    
IT costs -7.1  -7.4 
Cost of premises -3.0  -3.1 
Supervisory and regulatory fees   -2.1  -2.2 
Marketing -1.0  -1.3 
Information services -0.3  -0.3 
Travel and entertainment -0.2  -0.7 
Direct cost of equipment and stationary -0.2  -0.3 
Consultants  -0.1  -0.3 
Other operating expenses -4.4  -5.3 

Total -18.4  -20.9 
 
The amount of “Other operating expenses” line consist of several not material amounts. 
 
During the year 2020 and 2019 the Groups have acquired following services from it's auditor SIA "Ernst & Young Baltic": 
 
  (millions of EUR) 

 2020  2019 
    
Audit services 0.2  0.1 

Total 0.2  0.1 
 

 Net expected credit losses 

Net ECL level is calculated as Net credit impairments in relation to the opening balance of the year of loans to the public 
and loans to credit institutions measured at amortised cost, financial guarantees and loan commitments, net of ECL 
allowances. 
  
  (millions of EUR) 

 2020  2019 
    
Impairment gains or losses - Stage 1 -5.4  - 
Impairment gains or losses - Stage 2 -0.9  0.4 
Impairment gains or losses - Stage 3 -9.7  -5.4 
Impairment gains or losses (IFRS 9)  -16.0  -5.0 
    
Write-offs and recoveries    
Total write-offs -6.2  -13.8 
Reversals of allowances for write-offs 4.7  10.8 
Write-offs previously not provided for -1.5  -3.0 
    
Recoveries from previous write-offs 1.7  2.7 
Net write-offs 0.2  -0.3 
    
Net expected credit losses -15.8  -5.3 
Net ECL level, % 0.43  0.15 
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 Income tax expenses  
 
Income tax expenses comprise the following items: 

  (millions of EUR) 
 2020  2019 
    
Previous years’ correction -0.2  - 
Change in deferred income tax 1.3  1.2 

Total  1.1  1.2 
 
The Group has recognised deferred tax liabilities from profit earned by subsidiaries SIA SEB līzings un IPAS 
“SEB Investment Management” starting from 2018. The tax will become payable when dividends are distributed. 
 

 Cash and balances with central bank 
 
  (millions of EUR) 

 31/12/2020  31/12/2019 
    
Cash 34.7  39.0 
Demand deposits 340.3  563.3 

      of which mandatory reserve requirement 33.2  31.3 
Total  375.0  602.3 

 

The correspondent account with the Bank of Latvia reflects the balance of the Bank's correspondent account on which 
interest is paid in the amount of the compulsory reserve requirement.  

The Bank is required to comply with minimum reserve requirements set by the Bank of Latvia. This requires the Bank’s 
monthly average EUR balance on its correspondent account with the Bank of Latvia to exceed a specified minimum during 
the maintenance period of requirements.  

The Bank was in compliance with the reserve requirement during the reporting period and during the previous period. 
 

 Loans to credit institutions 
 
   (millions of EUR) 

 31/12/2020  31/12/2019 
    
Loans (Note 15) 35.8  1.8 
Current accounts 436.3  37.8 

 Total * 472.1  39.6 
* Change due to reason that almost all cash balances at the end of 2019 were placed with the Central Bank, while at the 
end of 2020 cash balances were split between SEB and the Central Bank. 
 

 Loans to the public and credit institutions 
 
   (millions of EUR) 

 31/12/2020  31/12/2019 
    
General governments 114.1                  55.1  
Credit institutions 472.1                  39.6  
Other financial corporations 6.6                      9.1  
Non-financial corporations 1,843.3          1,892.8  
Households 1,098.5          1,071.1  

 Total 3,534.6  3,067.7  
 
 
Loans to public and credit institutions balance include also finance lease receivables (see Note 21).
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15. Loans to the public and credit institutions (continued) 

The table below shows gross carrying amounts for exposures on balance measured at amortised cost and nominal amounts for exposures off-balance divided by stage as a mean to put ECL allowances in 
context to total exposure. 

 
 (millions of EUR) 
  Gross carrying amounts/ Nominal amounts  ECL allowances  Carrying amounts/ Net amounts 
Balance as at 31 December 2020  Stage 1 (12 

month ECL) 
Stage 2 

(lifetime 
ECL) 

Stage 3 (credit 
impaired/ 

lifetime ECL) 

Total  Stage 1 (12 
month ECL) 

Stage 2 
(lifetime ECL) 

Stage 3 (credit 
impaired/ 

lifetime ECL) 

Total  Stage 1 (12 
month ECL) 

Stage 2 
(lifetime ECL) 

Stage 3 (credit 
impaired/ 

lifetime ECL) 

Total 

Loans to public and credit institutions                
General governments  114.1 - - 114.1  - - - -  114.1 0 0 114.1 
Credit institutions  472.1 - - 472.1  - - - -  472.1 0 0 472.1 
Other financial corporations  6.6 - - 6.6  - - - -  6.6 0 0 6.6 
Non-financial corporations  1,719.9 84.3 68.6 1,872.8  -3.6 -3.5 -22.4 -29.5  1,716.3 80.8 46.2 1,843.3 
Households  1,025.3 66.5 20.6 1,112.4  -2.4 -2.8 -8.7 -13.9  1,022.9 63.7 11.9 1,098.5 
                            
Total  3,338.0 150.8 89.2 3,578.0  -6.0 -6.3 -31.1 -43.4  3,332.0 144.5 58.1 3,534.6 

                
Financial guarantees and loan commitments                
Central banks  0.1 - - 0.1  - - - -  0.1 - - 0.1 
General governments  56.5 - - 56.5  - - - -  56.5 - - 56.5 
Credit institutions  42.5 - - 42.5  - - - -  42.5 - - 42.5 
Other financial corporations  56.4 - - 56.4  - - - -  56.4 - - 56.4 
Non-financial corporations  573.4 10.7 18.4 602.5  -1.1 -0.1 -1.4 -2.6  572.3 10.6 17.0 599.9 
Households  73.2 1 0.3 74.5  -0.3 -0.1 0 -0.4  72.9 0.9 0.3 74.1 
                            
Total  802.1 11.7 18.7 832.5  -1.4 -0.2 -1.4 -3.0  800.7 11.5 17.3 829.5 

                
Total Loans to public and credit institutions and 
Financial guarantees and loan commitments 

               

Central banks  0.1 - - 0.1  - - - -  0.1 - - 0.1 
General governments  170.6 - - 170.6  - - - -  170.6 - - 170.6 
Credit institutions  514.6 - - 514.6  - - - -  514.6 - - 514.6 
Other financial corporations  63.0 - - 63.0  - - - -  63.0 - - 63.0 
Non-financial corporations  2,293.3 95.00 87.0 2,475.3  -4.7 -3.6 -23.8 -32.1  2,288.6 91.4 63.2 2,443.2 
Households  1,098.5 67.5 20.9 1,186.9  -2.7 -2.9 -8.7 -14.3  1,095.8 64.6 12.2 1,172.6 
                            
Total  4,140.1 162.5 107.9 4,410.5  -7.4 -6.5 -32.5 -46.4  4,132.7 156.0 75.4 4,364.1 

                
ECL coverage ratio       0.18 4.00 30.12 1.05      
Share of total ECL allowances       16% 14% 70%       
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15. Loans to the public and credit institutions (continued) 

 
 (millions of EUR) 
(  Gross carrying amounts/ Nominal amounts  ECL allowances  Carrying amounts/ Net amounts 
Balance as at 31 December 2019  Stage 1 (12 

month ECL) 
Stage 2 

(lifetime 
ECL) 

Stage 3 (credit 
impaired/ 

lifetime ECL) 

Total  Stage 1 (12 
month ECL) 

Stage 2 
(lifetime ECL) 

Stage 3 (credit 
impaired/ 

lifetime ECL) 

Total  Stage 1 (12 
month ECL) 

Stage 2 
(lifetime ECL) 

Stage 3 (credit 
impaired/ 

lifetime ECL) 

Total 

Loans to public and credit institutions                
General governments  55.1 - - 55.1  - - - -  55.1 - - 55.1 
Credit institutions  39.6 - - 39.6  - - - -  39.6 - - 39.6 
Other financial corporations  9.1 - - 9.1  - - - -  9.1 - - 9.1 
Non-financial corporations  1,719.7 131.6 63.7 1,915.0  -0.8 -4.5 -16.9 -22.2  1,718.9 127.1 46.8 1,892.8 
Households  994.7 64.0 25.2 1,083.9  -0.9 -1.0 -10.9 -12.8  993.8 63.0 14.3 1,071.1 
                
Total  2,818.2 195.6 88.9 3,102.7  -1.7 -5.5 -27.8 -35.0  2,816.5 190.1 61.1 3,067.7 

                
Financial guarantees and loan commitments                
Central banks  0.1 - - 0.1  - - - -  0.1 - - 0.1 
General governments  2.2 - - 2.2  - - - -  2.2 - - 2.2 
Credit institutions  42.2 0.1 - 42.3  - - - -  42.2 0.1 - 42.3 
Other financial corporations  55.7 - - 55.7  - - - -  55.7 - - 55.7 
Non-financial corporations  441.5 13.6 2.8 457.9  -0.1 -0.1 -0.2 -0.4  441.4 13.5 2.6 457.5 
Households  77.1 0.9 0.2 78.2  -0.2 - - -0.2  76.9 0.9 0.2 78.0 
                
Total  618.8 14.6 3.0 636.4  -0.3 -0.1 -0.2 -0.6  618.5 14.5 2.8 635.8 
                
Total Loans to public and credit institutions and 
Financial guarantees and loan commitments 

               

Central banks  0.1 - - 0.1  - - - -  0.1 - - 0.1 
General governments  57.3 - - 57.3  - - - -  57.3 - - 57.3 
Credit institutions  81.8 0.1 - 81.9  - - - -  81.8 0.1 - 81.9 
Other financial corporations  64.8 - - 64.8  - - - -  64.8 - - 64.8 
Non-financial corporations  2,161.2 145.2 66.5 2,372.9  -0.9 -4.6 -17.1 -22.6  2,160.3 140.6 49.4 2,350.3 
Households  1,071.8 64.9 25.4 1,162.1  -1.1 -1.0 -10.9 -13.0  1,070.7 63.9 14.5 1,149.1 
                
Total  3,437.0 210.2 91.9 3,739.1  -2.0 -5.6 -28.0 -35.6  3,435.0 204.6 63.9 3,703.5 

                
ECL coverage ratio       0.06 2.82 30.47 0.95      
Share of total ECL allowances       6% 16% 79%       
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15. Loans to the public and credit institutions (continued) 

Table below shows the Group’s movements of allowance accounts for on balance exposures and off balance exposures. 

During the year 2020 there were no significant changes in gross carrying amounts of loans to public, which contributed 
significantly to changes in the loss allowance. Changes in the loss allowance were mainly affected by assessing the 
possible negative impact of Covid-19, which resulted in loss allowance increase.  

 
(millions of EUR) 
31/12/2020  

Stage 1 (12-
month ECL)  

Stage2 (lifetime 
ECL)  

Stage 3 (credit 
impaired/ 

lifetime ECL)  Total 
Non-financial corporations         
ECL allowance as of 1 January 2020  0.8  4.5  16.9  22.2 
New and derecognised financial assets, net  0.4  -2.4  -2.9  -4.9 
Changes due to change in credit risk  2.4  1.3  11.8  15.5 
Changes due to modifications    -   0.1   -   0.1 
Changes due to methodology change   -   -   0.1   0.1 
Decrease in allowance account due to write-
offs  -  -  -3.0  -3.0 

Exchange rate differences  -  -  -0.5  -0.5 
Total  3.6  3.5  22.4  29.5 
         
Households         
ECL allowance as of 1 January 2020  0.9  1.0  10.9  12.8 
New and derecognised financial assets, net  0.2  -0.1  -0.6  -0.5 
Changes due to change in credit risk  1.3  1.9  0.2  3.4 
Decrease in allowance account due to write-
offs 

 -  -  -1.8  -1.8 

Exchange rate differences  -  -  -  - 
Total  2.4  2.8  8.7  13.9 
         
Total loans         
ECL allowance as of 1 January 2020  1.7  5.5  27.8  35.0 
New and derecognised financial assets, net  0.6  -2.5  -3.5  -5.4 
Changes due to change in credit risk  3.7  3.2  12.0  18.9 
Changes due to modifications    -   0.1   -   0.1 
Changes due to methodology change   -   -   0.1   0.1 
Decrease in allowance account due to write-
offs 

 -  -  -4.8  -4.8 

Exchange rate differences  -  -  -0.5  -0.5 
Total  6.0  6.3  31.1  43.4 
         
Financial guarantees and loan 
commitments         

ECL allowance as of 1 January 2020  0.3  0.1  0.2  0.6 
New and derecognised financial assets, net  0.1  -  -  0.1 
Changes due to change in credit risk  1.0  0.1  1.2  2.3 
Total  1.4  0.2  1.4  3.0 
         
Total loans and financial guarantees and 
loan commitments         

ECL allowance as of 1 January 2020  2.0  5.6  28.0  35.6 
New and derecognised financial assets, net  0.7  -2.5  -3.5  -5.3 
Changes due to change in credit risk   4.7   3.3   13.2   21.2 
Changes due to modifications    -   0.1   -   0.1 
Changes due to methodology change   -   -   0.1   0.1 
Decrease in allowance account due to write-
offs 

  -   -   -4.8   -4.8 

Exchange rate differences   -   -   -0.5   -0.5 
Total   7.4   6.5   32.5   46.4 
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(millions of EUR) 
31/12/2019  

Stage 1 (12-
month ECL)  

Stage2 (lifetime 
ECL)  

Stage 3 (credit 
impaired/ 

lifetime ECL)  Total 
Non-financial corporations         
ECL allowance as of 1 January 2019  0.8  4.6  18.1  23.5 
New and derecognised financial assets, net  0.3  -  -0.1  0.2 
Changes due to change in credit risk  -0.4  -0.2  6.0  5.4 
Decrease in allowance account due to write-
offs 

 -  -  -7.2  -7.2 

Exchange rate differences  -  -  0.3  0.3 
Total  0.7  4.4  17.1  22.2 
         
Households         
ECL allowance as of 1 January 2019  0.8  1.2  15.0  17.0 
New and derecognised financial assets, net  0.4  -0.1  -0.6  -0.3 
Changes due to change in credit risk  -0.3  -0.1  0.1  -0.3 
Decrease in allowance account due to write-
offs 

 -  -  -3.6  -3.6 

Exchange rate differences  -  -  -  - 
Total  0.9  1.0  10.9  12.8 
         
Total loans         
ECL allowance as of 1 January 2019  1.6  5.8  33.1  40.5 
New and derecognised financial assets, net  0.7  -0.1  -0.7  -0.1 
Changes due to change in credit risk  -0.7  -0.3  6.1  5.1 
Decrease in allowance account due to write-
offs 

 -  -  -10.8  -10.8 

Exchange rate differences  -  -  0.3  0.3 
Total  1.6  5.4  28.0  35.0 
         
Financial guarantees and loan 
commitments 

        

ECL allowance as of 1 January 2019  0.3  0.1  0.2  0.6 
New and derecognised financial assets, net  0.1  -  -0.1  - 
Changes due to change in credit risk  -0.1  -  0.1  - 
Total  0.3  0.1  0.2  0.6 
         
Total loans and financial guarantees and 
loan commitments 

        

ECL allowance as of 1 January 2019  1.9  5.9  33.3  41.1 
New and derecognised financial assets, net  0.8  -0.1  -0.8  -0.1 
Changes due to change in credit risk  -0.8  -0.3  6.2  5.1 
Decrease in allowance account due to write-
offs 

 
- 

 
- 

 
-10.8 

 
-10.8 

Exchange rate differences  -  -  0.3  0.3 
Total  1.9  5.5  28.2  35.6 
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (continued) 
15. Loans to the public and credit institutions (continued) 
 
The table below shows the Group’s gross carrying amounts and ECL allowances for credit-impaired loans divided by stage 
3 and the fair value of collaterals for these assets. 
 
(millions of EUR) 

Stage 3 (credit impaired/ lifetime ECL) Gross carrying 
amounts/ 

Nominal 
amounts 

 ECL 
allowances 

 Carrying 
amount  

 Fair value of 
collateral 

held 

31/12/2020        
        
Non-financial corporations 87.0  -23.8  63.2  40.9 
Households 20.9  -8.7  12.2  11.0 
 107.9  -32.5  75.4  51.9 
 
 

 
 

 
 

 
 

 

  
Stage 3 (credit impaired/ lifetime ECL) Gross carrying 

amounts/ 
Nominal 
amounts 

 ECL 
allowances 

 Carrying 
amount  

 Fair value of 
collateral 

held 

31/12/2019        
        
Non-financial corporations                        66.5   -17.1  49.4  40.7 
Households                        25.4   -10.9  14.5  13.5 

                        91.9   -28.0  
                  

63.9  
                         

54.2  
 

The table below shows gross carrying amounts for exposures on balance and nominal amounts for exposures off-balance 
divided by stage and risk classification category. As at 31 December 2020 the Group and the Bank had exposures on 
purchased or originated credit-impaired financial assets in amount of EUR 4.5 million (EUR 4.9 million) and ECL allowances 
for these exposures in amount of EUR 4.5 million (EUR 4.9 million). The risk classification categories are further explained 
in Note 2.2. 
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (continued) 
15. Loans to the public and credit institutions (continued) 

 
(millions of EUR) 
31/12/2020  

Stage 1 (12-
month ECL)  

Stage2 
(lifetime ECL)  

Stage 3 (credit 
impaired/ 

lifetime ECL)  Total Risk classification category 
         
General governments         
Investment grade  -  -  -  - 
Standard monitoring  114.1  -  -  114.1 
Watch list  -  -  -  - 
Default  -  -  -  - 
Total  114.1  -  -  114.1 
         
Credit institutions         
Investment grade  472.1  -  -  472.1 
Standard monitoring  -  -  -  - 
Watch list  -  -  -  - 
Default  -  -  -  - 
Total  472.1  -  -  472.1 
         
Other financial corporations         
Investment grade  2.4  -  -  2.4 
Standard monitoring  4.2  -  -  4.2 
Watch list  -  -  -  - 
Default  -  -  -  - 
Total  6.6  -  -  6.6 
         
Non-financial corporations         
Investment grade  559.8  -  -  559.8 
Standard monitoring  1,159.9  57.8  -  1,217.7 
Watch list  0.2  26.1  -  26.3 
Default  -  0.4  68.6  69.0 
Total  1,719.9  84.3  68.6  1,872.8 
         
Households         
Investment grade  -  -  -   
Standard monitoring  1,025.4  65.8  0.3  1,091.5 
Watch list  -  -  -  - 
Default  -  0.7  20.3  21.0 
Total  1,025.4  66.5  20.6  1,112.5 
         
Financial guarantees and loan 
commitments 

        

Investment grade  407.0  -  -  407.0 
Standard monitoring  394.8  11  -  405.8 
Watch list  0.3  0.7  -  1.0 
Default  -  -  18.7  18.7 
Total  802.1  11.7  18.7  832.5 
         
Total by risk classification category         
Investment grade  1,441.3  -  -  1,441.3 
Standard monitoring  2,698.3  134.6  0.3  2,833.2 
Watch list  0.5  26.8  -  27.3 
Default  -  1.1  107.6  108.7 
Total  4,140.1  162.5  107.9  4,410.5 
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Notes to the Consolidated FinanGross carruing amountcial Statements (continued) 
15. Loans to the public and credit institutions (continued) 

 
(millions of EUR) 
31/12/2019  

Stage 1 (12-
month ECL)  

Stage2 
(lifetime ECL)  

Stage 3 (credit 
impaired/ 

lifetime ECL)  Total Risk classification category 
         
General governments         
Standard monitoring  55.1  -  -  55.1 
Total  55.1  -  -  55.1 
         
Credit institutions         
Investment grade  39.5  -  -  39.5 
Standard monitoring  -  -  -  - 
Watch list  0.1  -  -  0.1 
Default  -  -  -  - 
Total  39.6  -  -  39.6 
         
Other financial corporations         
Investment grade  1.5  -  -  1.5 
Standard monitoring  7.6  -  -  7.6 
Total  9.1  -  -  9.1 
         
Non-financial corporations         
Investment grade  621.7  -  -  621.7 
Standard monitoring  1,097.3  81.6  0.1  1,179.0 
Watch list  0.7  49.9  -  50.6 
Default  -  0.1  63.6  63.7 
Total  1,719.7  131.6  63.7  1,915.0 
         
Households         
Investment grade  1.2  -   -   1.2 
Standard monitoring  993.5  63.5  0.2  1,057.2 
Watch list   -  -   -   - 
Default  -  0.5  25.0  25.5 
Total  994.7  64.0  25.2  1,083.9 
         
Financial guarantees and loan 
commitments 

        

Investment grade  267.7  -  -  267.7 
Standard monitoring  350.7  14.0  -  364.7 
Watch list  0.4  0.6  -  1.0 
Default  -  -  3.0  3.0 
Total  618.8  14.6  3.0  636.4 
         
Total by risk classification category         
Investment grade  931.6  -  -  931.6 
Standard monitoring  2,504.2  159.1  0.3  2,663.6 
Watch list  1.2  50.5  -  51.7 
Default  -  0.6  91.6  92.2 
Total  3,437.0  210.2  91.9  3,739.1 
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (continued) 
 

 Debt securities 
 
   (millions of EUR) 

 31/12/2020  31/12/2019 
    

Fair value through profit or loss mandatorily 275.7  150.6 
Total 275.7  150.6 

 
As at 31 December 2020 and 2019 majority of the Group’s financial assets designated at fair value through profit or loss 
represent investments in Lithuanian and Latvian Government securities. 

 

 Derivatives 

The Group’s derivative financial instruments: 

 
   (millions of EUR) 

31/12/2020 Notional amount  Fair value 
 Purchase Sale  Assets Liabilities 

      
Interest related 172.6 326.8  5.9 7.2 
Currency related 171.5 242.7  25.5 26.3 

      
Total 344.1 569.5  31.4 33.5 

 
31/12/2019 Notional amount  Fair value 

 Purchase Sale  Assets Liabilities 
      
Interest related 170.6 264.5  5.9 6.9 
Currency related 205.2 225.5  38.8 39.0 

      
Total 375.8 490.0  44.7 45.9 

 
 

 Equity instruments 

The table below shows breakdown of equity instruments as at 31 December 2020 and 2019. 

 
   (millions of EUR) 

 31/12/2020  31/12/2019 
    

Fair value through profit or loss mandatorily 4.4  8.5 
Total 4.4  8.5 

 

Equity instruments in VISA Inc. amount to EUR 4.4 million. Visa Inc. long-term rating is AA- based on Standard & Poor’s 
ratings. More information about VISA Inc. shares is provided in the Note 3 Fair value measurement of assets and liabilities. 
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (continued) 
 

 Intangible assets  

As at 31 December 2020 and 2019, intangible assets of the Group consisted of the following: 
   (millions of EUR) 

 Intangible assets 

2020  

Balance at 1 January 2020 21.2 
Additions  1 
Retirements and disposals -0.3 

Acquisition cost at 31 December 2020 21.9 
  
Balance at 1 January 2020 12.5 
Amortisation (Note 9) 1.8 
Retirements and disposals -0.3 

Accumulated amortisation and impairment at 31 December 2020 14.0 
  
Net carrying value at 31 December 2020 7.9 
  
2019  
Balance at 1 January 2019 21.9 
Additions  1.0 
Retirements and disposals -1.7 
Acquisition cost at 31 December 2019 21.2 
  
Balance at 1 January 2019 12.7 
Amortisation (Note 9) 1.5 
Retirements and disposals -1.7 
Accumulated amortisation and impairment at 31 December 2019 12.5 
  
Net carrying value at 31 December 2020 8.7 
  

 
In 2020 SEB Group has completed its IT system alignment process in all the three Baltic countries and launched the final 
step of new core IT platform, which operates majority of banking services and business processes.  
The carrying amount of Baltic core IT platform recognized in assets of the Bank was EUR 7.7 million as at 31 December 
2020 (EUR 7.7 million as at 31 December 2019), its estimated useful life is 8 years from the introduction of the system.  
During the year 2020 acquisitions from internal developments amounted to EUR 0.1 million (EUR 0.3 million during the 
year 2019).  
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (continued) 
 

 Property, plant and equipment  

As at 31 December 2020 and 2019, property and equipment of the Group consisted of the following: 

 
   (millions of EUR) 

 
 
 

Assets under 
operating lease 

  Other 
 equipment Total 

2020    

Balance at 1 January 2020 3.6 16.6 20.2 
Additions  - 0.6 0.6 
Retirements and disposals  -0.2 -1.7 -1.9 

Acquisition cost at 31 December 2020 3.4 15.5 18.9 
    
Balance at 1 January 2020 1.2 10.4 11.6 

Depreciation (Note 9) 0.4 1.7 2.1 
Retirements and disposals  -0.1 -1.7 -1.8 

Accumulated depreciation and 
impairment at 31 December 2020 

1.5 10.4 11.9 

    
Net carrying value at 31 December 2020 1.9 5.1 7.0 
    
2019    
Balance at 1 January 2019 3.5 16.5 20.0 
Additions  0.3 2.0 2.3 
Retirements and disposals  -0.2 -1.9 -2.1 
Acquisition cost at 31 December 2019 3.6 16.6 20.2 
    
Balance at 1 January 2019 1.0 10.2 11.2 
Depreciation (Note 9) 0.4 2.0 2.4 
Retirements and disposals  -0.2 -1.8 -2.0 
Accumulated depreciation and impairment 
at 31 December 2019 

1.2 10.4 11.6 

    
Net carrying value at 31 December 2019 2.4 6.2 8.6 
    

Assets under operating lease are transport vehicles leased to customers under operating lease agreements. 
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (continued) 
 

 Leases 
 
   (millions of EUR) 

Lessee   31/12/2020  31/12/2019 
 Income statement     
Expenses relating to short-term 

leases Other expenses  0.4  0.4 

Expenses relating to leases of 
low-value leases Other expenses  0.1  0.1 

      

Depreciation expense of right of 
use assets 

Depreciation, amortisation 
and impairment of tangible 
and intangible and right of 

use assets  

3.4 

 

3.4 

      

 
Statement of financial 

position     

Closing balance Right of use assets  6.9  10.2 
Lease liabilities Other liabilities  6.4  9.8 

 
 
   (millions of EUR) 

Lessor 31/12/2020  31/12/2019 
Finance lease    
Undiscounted lease payments expected after reporting date and within 
Year 1 102.5  103.0 
Year 2 80.5  82.7 
Year 3 60.0  62.8 
Year 4 37.7  38.8 
Year 5 19.8  22.9 
over 5 years 3.0  5.5 

 Total undiscounted lease payments receivable 303.5  315.7 
Unearned finance income -12.9  -14.1 
Net investment leasing 290.6  301.6 
    
Finance income (interest income) on the net investment 7.1  7.5 

Lessor portfolio mainly includes transport vehicles, machinery and facilities. Residual value risk is not significant, because 
of the existence of secondary market. 

 

 Other assets 
 
   (millions of EUR) 

 31/12/2020  31/12/2019 
    
Trade receivables 0.1  0.1 
Client receivables 11.3  40.3 
Cash in transit 6.2  0.1 
Other financial assets 1.8  1.8 
      

Total  19.4  42.3 
    

 
There are no significant overdue or impaired amounts. 
The carrying values of Other financial assets approximate their fair value. The most part of amount is related to accrued 
income receivable.   
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (continued) 
 

 Prepaid expenses and accrued income  
   (millions of EUR) 

 31/12/2020  31/12/2019 
    
Sub-lease receivables 0.2  0.2 
Prepaid expenses and accrued income 3.0  3.0 
Other non-financial assets 2.7  3.2 

Total  5.9  6.4 
 
 

   

 Deposits from central banks and credit institutions 
   (millions of EUR) 

 31/12/2020  31/12/2019 
    
Current and demand deposits 2.9  6.0 
Term deposits 232.6  321.6 

Total  235.5  327.6 

 

 

 Deposits and borrowings from the public 
   (millions of EUR) 

 31/12/2020  31/12/2019 

    

Current and demand deposits 3,452.6  3,002.8 
Term deposits  52.4  86.4 

Total 3,505.0  3,089.2 

Deposits and borrowings from the public by type of customer: 

 
   (millions of EUR) 

 31/12/2020  31/12/2019 
    
General governments 156.0  245.8 
Other financial corporations 191.8  160.5  
Non-financial corporations 1,178.8  935.7  
Households 1,978.4  1,747.2  

Total 3,505.0  3,089.2  

 

 

 Provisions 
 
   (millions of EUR) 

 31/12/2020  31/12/2019 

    

Provisions for off-balance sheet liabilities 3.0  0.7 
Provisions for long-term employee benefits 2.2  2.2 
Total  5.2  2.9 

Provisions for off balance sheet items have been made in respect of ECL arising from contingent liabilities and contractual 
commitments, including guarantees and credit commitments. 

Movement of provisions for off-balance sheet liabilities for the year 2020 and 2019 is presented in Note 15. 
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (continued) 
26. Provisions (continued) 

Movement of provisions for long-term employee benefits is presented below. Accounting policy for long-term employee 
benefits is disclosed in Note 1.18.3  Defined contribution plans.  

   (millions of EUR) 
 2020 

Balance at 1 January 2020 2.4 
Additions  0.8 
Amounts used 1.0 

Balance at 31 December 2020 2.2 
 
  

 Other liabilities 
 
   (millions of EUR) 

 31/12/2020  31/12/2019 
    

Trade payables 6.0  9.1 
Client payables 24.5  65.3 
Lease liabilities 6.4  9.8 
Cash in transit 6.4  0.1 

Total  43.3  84.3 
    

The carrying values of Other financial liabilities approximates their fair value. 

 

 

 Accrued expenses and prepaid income 
 
   (millions of EUR) 

 31/12/2020  31/12/2019 
    
Accrued expenses 7.2  6.6 
Prepaid income 0.3  0.1 
Other non-financial liabilities 4.8  3.7 

Total  12.3   10.4 
    

 
 

 Shareholder’s equity 

Authorised shares 

 31/12/2020  31/12/2019 
 Number of 

shares 
Percentage 

of total 
number 

Paid-in 
capital 

 Number of 
shares 

Percentage 
of total 
number 

Paid-in 
capital 

   EUR mil.    EUR mil. 
        
Ordinary shares of 1.40 EUR 
per value each, fully paid 103,773,755 100.00 145.3  103,773,755 100.00 145.3 

 

100 per cent of authorised shares of the Bank is owed by Skandinaviska Enskilda Banken AB (publ), registered in Sweden. 

Share-based payments 

SEB Group has developed long-term equity based programmes as part of remuneration system to build long-term 
commitment to SEB. The long-term equity based variable compensation at SEB shall be determined based on long-term 
equity based variable compensation programme principles developed by the SEB Group and has to be agreed specifically 
with the employee, towards whom it is applied. The programmes, referred to above, are the Share Deferral Program (SDP) 
and Share Matching Program (SMP). 
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (continued) 
29. Shareholder’s equity (continued) 

 

The purpose of the programmes is to reward senior managers and key employees and to encourage all employees to 
become shareholders in SEB, thereby aligning employee interests with those of shareholders.  

The costs of Share Savings Programme incurred by the Group during the year 2019 were EUR 0.2 million (EUR 0.3 million) 
accounted in Other expenses in the income statement. 

The costs of Share Savings Programme incurred by the Group during the year 2020 were EUR 0.4 million (EUR 0.2 million) 
accounted in Personnel expenses in the income statement. 

The above-described share-based payments are treated as equity-settled because the Group has no obligation to settle 
the transactions related to the Share Savings Programme. 

 

 

 Assets under management  

The Group, through the operations of Private Banking client service centre and the Bank’s asset management subsidiary, 
SEB Investment Management, manages short- and long-term investment assets on behalf of clients. The asset 
management operations include management of fund portfolios, Latvian 2nd and 3rd pillar pension savings and 
institutional customers’  investment portfolios. 

 
   (millions of EUR) 

 31/12/2020 
(unaudited) 

 31/12/2019 

    
Deposits in banks 148.5  107.7  
Fixed income securities 1,157.0  1,162.9  
Investment funds 483.1  407.4  
Real estate 0.1   -  
Equities 8.5   3.1  

Total  1,797.2  1,681.1  
 
For the year ended 31 December 2020, the management fee for the assets management amounted to EUR 9.2 million 
(2019: EUR 7.4 million). It is included in  Net fee and commission income line in the income statement. 
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 Financial instruments by measurement categories  

Distribution of Group’s and Bank’s financial instruments by measurement categories is presented in the tables below. 

(millions of EUR) 
31/12/2020 FVHFT* FVMPL** AmC*** Total 
Assets     
Cash and balances with central bank - -            375.0             375.0  
Loans to credit institutions - -            472.1             472.1  
Loans to the public - -        3,062.5         3,062.5  
Debt securities -            275.7 -            275.7  
Derivatives                31.4  - -               31.4  
Equity instruments -                 4.4  -                 4.4  
Other financial assets -  -               19.4                19.4  
Total financial assets               31.4             280.1         3,929.0         4,240.5  

Other assets (non-financial)  - -  27.8 27.8 

Total                31.4             280.1         3,956.8         4,268.3  

     

Liabilities     
Deposits from central banks and credit institutions - -            235.5             235.5  
Deposits and borrowings from the public - -        3,505.0         3,505.0  
Derivatives 33.5 - -               33.5  
Other liabilities  -  - 43.3               43.3  
Total financial assets 33.5 - 3,783.8 3,817.3 

Other liabilities (non-financial) - - 20.8 20.8 

Equity -   - 430.2 430.2 
Total 33.5  - 4,234.8 4,268.3 

     
* FVHFT – Fair Value Through Profit and Loss Held for Trading 
** FVMPL - Fair Value Through Profit and Loss Mandatorily  
*** AmC – Amortised Cost 
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (continued) 
31. Financial instruments by measurement categories (continued) 
 
(millions of EUR) 
31/12/2019 FVHFT* FVMPL** AmC*** Total 
Assets     
Cash and balances with central bank - - 602.3 602.3 
Loans to credit institutions - - 39.6 39.6 
Loans to the public - - 3,028.1 3,028.1 
Debt securities - 150.6 - 150.6 
Derivatives  44.7 - - 44.7 
Equity instruments - 8.5 - 8.5 
Other financial assets - - 42.3 42.3 
Total financial assets 44.7 159.1 3,712.3 3,916.1 

Other assets (non-financial) - - 37.1 37.1 

Total  44.7 159.1 3,749.4 3,953.2 

     

Liabilities     
Deposits from central banks and credit institutions - -            327.6             327.6  
Deposits and borrowings from the public - -        3,089.2         3,089.2  
Derivatives               45.9  - -               45.9  
Other financial liabilities -  -                84.3                84.3  
Total financial assets               45.9  -        3,501.1         3,547.0  

Other liabilities (non-financial) - -               15.3                15.3  

Equity -  -             390.9             390.9  
Total               45.9  -         3,907.3         3,953.2  

     
* FVHFT – Fair Value Through Profit and Loss Held for Trading 
** FVMPL - Fair Value Through Profit and Loss Mandatorily  
*** AmC – Amortised Cost 
 
 

 Current and non-current assets and liabilities  
 
(millions of EUR) 
 31/12/2020  31/12/2019 
 

Current 
assets 

Non-
current 

assets Total  
Current 

assets 

Non-
current 

assets Total 
Assets        
Cash and balances with central bank 375.0 - 375.0  602.3 - 602.3 
Loans to credit institutions 472.1 - 472.1  39.6 - 39.6 
Loans to the public 858.4 2,204.1 3,062.5  738.6 2,289.5 3,028.1 
Debt securities 54.5 221.2 275.7  27.7 122.9 150.6 
Derivatives  1.0 30.4 31.4  1.6 43.1 44.7 
Equity instruments - 4.4 4.4  - 8.5 8.5 
Intangible assets - 7.9 7.9  - 8.7 8.7 
Property, plant and equipment - 7.0 7.0  - 8.5 8.5 
Right of use assets - 6.9 6.9  - 10.2 10.2 
Investment property - 0.1 0.1  - 0.1 0.1 
Deferred income tax assets - - -  - 3.1 3.1 
Other assets 8.3 11.1 19.4  31.4 10.9 42.3 
Prepaid expenses and accrued income 3.0 2.9 5.9  3.3 3.2 6.5 
Total assets   1,772.3 2,490.0  4,268.3  1,444.5  2,508.7  3,953.2 
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32. Current and non-current assets and liabilities (continued) 
 
(millions of EUR) 

 31/12/2020  31/12/2019 

 Current 
liabilities 

Non-
current 

liabilities Total  
Current 

liabilities 

Non-
current 

liabilities Total 
Liabilities        

Deposits from central banks and credit 
institutions 20.5 215.0 235.5  233.8 93.8 327.6 

Deposits and borrowings from the public 3,503.6 1.4 3,505.0  3,085.2 4.0 3,089.2 
Derivatives 26.7 6.8 33.5  1.8 44.1 45.9 
Deferred income tax liabilities 3.3 - 3.3  2.0 - 2.0 
Provisions 1.5 3.7 5.2  0.5 2.4 2.9 
Other liabilities 23.8 19.5 43.3  33.3 51.0 84.3 
Accrued expenses and prepaid income 2.3 10.0 12.3  2.1 8.3 10.4 

Total liabilities 3,581.7 256.4 3,838.1  3,358.7 203.6 3,562.3 

Net -1,809.4 2,239.6 430.2  -1,914.2 2,305.1 390.9 
 
Assets and liabilities are classified as current assets and current liabilities when they are cash or cash equivalents, are 
held for trading purposes, are expected to be sold, settled or consumed in normal business, and are expected to be realised 
within twelve months. All other assets and liabilities are classified as non-current.  
 
 

 Related parties 

The following are considered to be related parties to the Group: 

- key management personnel; 
- parent company; 
- companies consolidated by the parent company; 
- associates to parent company. 
- entities with significant influence or significantly influenced by key management personnel are presented as other 

related parties. 

Key management personnel are considered to be: 

- - Board members and their close relatives; 
- - Supervisory board members and their close relatives; 

Transaction with related parties 

A number of banking transactions are entered into with related parties in the normal course of business. The following 
table provides the total amount of transactions and year-end balances that have been entered into with related parties 
for the relevant financial year. 
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (continued) 
33. Related parties (continued) 
 
(millions of EUR) 
  Parent  Parent group companies  Key management  Other related parties 
31/12/2020  Interest rate Assets/ 

Liabilities 
 Interest rate 

 
Assets/ 

Liabilities 
 Interest rate 

 
Assets/ 

Liabilities 
 Interest rate 

 
Assets/ 

Liabilities 
             
Demand deposits  (-0.75) - (+4.94) 403.9  (-0.50) - (+3.63) 22.3  - -  - - 
Loans and advances  (-0.88) - (+0.16) 35.7  - -  (0.00) -(+21.00) 1.6  (0.00) - (+24.00) 0.1 
Derivatives  (-0.56) - (+5.51) 25.3  - -  - -  - - 
Other receivables  - 0.8  - 0.2  - -  - - 
             
Deposits  (-0.41) - (+5.63) 233.9  (0.00) - (+0.10) 5.4  (0.00) - (+0.41) 1.7  (0.00) - (+0.70) 0.4 
Derivatives  (-0.52) - (+4.00) 8.0  - -  - -  - - 
Other payables  - 0.4  (0.00) - (+0.02) 0.4  - -  - - 
             
  Interest rate Off-balance 

commitments 
 Interest rate Off-balance 

commitments 
 Interest rate Off-balance 

commitments 
 Interest rate Off-balance 

commitments 
             
Commitments given  (0.00) - (+0.16) 6.1  - -  (0.00) - (+21.00) 0.1  (0.00) - (+24.00) 0 
Credit institutions  - -  - -  - -  - - 
             
Guarantees received  - 314.1  - 8.2  - -  - - 
Guarantees given  - 17.5  - 8.2  - -  - - 

 
  Parent 

 
 Parent group 

companies 
 

      
Interest income  0.5  -  
Interest expense  -4.2  -0.1  
      
Fee and commission income  0.7  0.9  
Fee and commission expense  -0.8  -0.5  
      
Other income  0.4  0.8  
Other expense  -1.6  -4.6  
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (continued) 
33. Related parties (continued) 
 
(millions of EUR) 
  Parent  Parent group companies  Key management  Other related parties 
31/12/2019  Interest rate Assets/ 

Liabilities 
 Interest rate 

 
Assets/ 

Liabilities 
 Interest rate 

 
Assets/ 

Liabilities 
 Interest rate 

 
Assets/ 

Liabilities 
             
Demand deposits  (0.75) - (+8.28) 7.4  (0.50) - (+1.53) 29.3  - -  - - 
Loans and advances  - -  (0.00) - (0.00) 1.4  (0.00) - (+21.00) 1.4  (0.76) - (+12.00) 0.1 
Derivatives  (-0.34) - (+5.51) 38.3  - -  - -  - - 
Other receivables  - 0.6  - 0.1  - -  - - 
             
Deposits  (-0.5) - (+0.92) 322.1  (0.00) - (0.5) 7.0  (0.00) - (+0.10) 1.1  (0.00) - (+0.70) 0.4 
Derivatives  (-0.45) - (+5.51) 7.5  - -  - -  - - 
Other payables  - 0  - 0.1  - -  - - 
             
  Interest rate Off-balance 

commitments 
 Interest rate Off-balance 

commitments 
 Interest rate Off-balance 

commitments 
 Interest rate Off-balance 

commitments 
             
Commitments given  - 5.4  - -  (0.00) - (+21.00) 0.1  - - 
Credit institutions  - -  - -  - -  - - 
             
Guarantees received  - 332.0  - 16.6  - -  - - 
Guarantees given  - 13.6  - 11.0  - -  - - 

 
  Parent 

 
 Parent group 

companies 
 

      
Interest income  0.6  0.0  
Interest expense  -2.0  -0.1  
      
Fee and commission income  1.0  0.8  
Fee and commission expense  -0.6  -0.4  
      
Other income  0.5  -  
Other expense  -1.6  -4.2  
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (continued) 
33. Related parties (continued) 

 

Compensation of key management personnel of the Group: 

(millions of EUR) 
  31/12/2020  31/12/2019 
     
Short term employee benefits  1.6  1.3 
Other long-term benefits  0.2  0.1 
Total  1.8  1.4 
     

 

 Contingencies and commitments 
 
(millions of EUR) 

 31/12/2020  31/12/2019 

Contingent liabilities 196.3  171.3 
Financial guarantees given 190.4  164.4 
Letters of credit 5.9  6.9 

Loan commitments  636.2  465.1 
Total  832.5  636.4 

 
Potential liabilities arising from tax inspection 

The tax authorities may at any time inspect the books and records within 3 years subsequent to the reported tax year and 
may impose additional tax assessments and penalties, if any. The Group's management believes that there are no material 
tax liabilities in the future. 

 
Legal disputes 
There are no outstanding legal disputes from which the Group could suffer major losses.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (continued) 
 

 Capital adequacy  

The Group’s regulatory capital as managed by its central Group Treasury is divided into two tiers:  
• Tier 1 capital: share capital, reserve capital, retained earnings, general and other reserves, 
qualifying current year profit; 
• Tier 2 capital: IRB excess of provisions over expected losses; 
• Deductible amounts: the carrying value of intangible assets; investments in credit and financial 
institutions above 10 percent of their equity; and IRB provision shortfall.  

The risk-weighted assets are measured by using two methods – Standardized and Internal Ratings Based 
Approach (IRB). According to Standardized method assets are divided into 16 asset classes, IRB – 7. 
Considering the method used asset class, eligible collateral or guarantees, risk classes, scoring pools, country 
of the counterparty and other factors risk weight to every exposure is assigned.  

The table below summarises the components of capital adequacy calculation and the ratios of the Group and 
the Bank for the year ended 31 December 2020 and 2019:  

 
(millions of EUR) 

Position name 31/12/2020 
 

31/12/2019 
 

   
Capital base   
1. Own funds 393.8 316.1 
1.1. Tier 1 capital  393.8 316.1 
1.2. Tier 2 capital - - 
   
Risk weighted assets   

Total risk exposure amount 1,810.6 1,828.0 
1. Risk weighted exposure amounts for credit, counterparty 
credit and dilution risks and free deliveries 1,679.1 1,697.6 
1.1. Standardised approach (SA) 135.9 108.9 
1.2. Internal ratings based approach (IRB) 1,543.2 1,588.7 
1.2.1. IRB approaches when neither own estimates of LGD nor 
Conversion Factors are used 1,291.0 1,322.9 

1.2.2. IRB approaches when own estimates of LGD and/or 
Conversion Factors are used 

252.2 265.8 

2. Total risk exposure amount for position, foreign exchange 
and commodities risks 2.3 1.4 
3. Total risk exposure amount for operational risk (AMA) 129.2 129.0 
4. Total risk exposure amount for credit valuation adjustment - - 
5. Other risk exposure amounts   - - 

   
Capital ratios   
Own funds 393.8 316.1 
Total risk exposure amount Basel III* 1,810.6 1,828.0 
Own fund requirement (8 per cent) 144.9 146.2 
Total capital ratio 21.8% 17.3% 
Tier 1 Capital ratio  21.8% 17.3% 
CET 1 Capital ratio 21.8% 17.3% 
* (without additional risk exposure amount due to application of 

Basel I floor)   
Regulatory Common Equity Tier 1 capital requirement 
including buffer requirement (Pillar 1 only) 8.8% 8.8% 
of which capital conservation buffer requirement 2.5% 2.5% 
of which systemic risk buffer requirement 0.0% 0.0% 
of which countercyclical capital buffer requirement 0.0% 0.0% 
of which other systemically important institution buffer 1.8% 1.8% 
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (continued) 
35. Capital adequacy (continued) 

 
As at 31 December 2020 and 2019, the Bank and the Group were compliant with the capital adequacy minimum 
requirements. 
 

 Encumbered assets  

Encumbered assets of the Group in the amount of EUR 0.1 million (2019: EUR 0.09 million) are comprised of security 
deposits with other economic and basic activities partners. 

 

 Return on equity and return on assets  

 
 2020  2019 
    

Return on average equity (ROAE) 9,47%  13.15% 

Return on average assets (ROAA) 0,97%  1.28% 

Both return ratios are calculated based on FCMC regulations, taking annual average from monthly balances. ROAE is 
calculated as net profit for the year divided by annual average total equity. ROAA is calculated as net profit for the year 
divided by annual average total assets. 

 

 Reclassification of comparative information 

In 2020 financial statements, the Group and the Bank continued alignment of presentation of primary financial statements 
and disclosure notes with SEB group banks in Baltic states. As a result of alignment, the Group and the Bank have made 
certain reclassifications in the Income statement. The management believes that these reclassifications provide reliable 
and more relevant information. The corresponding figures were adjusted to reflect the new classification.  

Details of reclassifications made are presented in the table below. 

 

(millions of EUR) 

Impact on Consolidated 
Income Statement 2019 Reported Reclassification 2019 Reclassified 
    
Interest income calculated using 
the effective interest rate method 72.8 -8.2 64.6 
Other interest and similar income - 8.2 8.2 
Net interest income 72.8 - 72.8 
    
Other operating income 2.6 -1.1 1.5 
Net other income 2.6 -1.1 1.5 
    
Personnel expenses -26.3 -1.2 -27.5 
Other expenses -23.2 2.3 -20.9 
Total operating expenses -56.8 1.1 -55.7 
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (continued) 
38. Capital adequacy (continued) 
 
(millions of EUR) 

Impact on Income Statement 
of the Bank  2019 Reported Reclassification 2019 Reclassified 
    
Interest income calculated using 
the effective interest rate method 66.0 

-0.5 65.5 

Other interest and similar income - 0.4 0.4 
Net interest income 66.0 -0.1 65.9 
    
Other operating income 2.5 0.1 2.6 
Net other income 2.5 0.1 2.6 
    
Personnel expenses -25.1 -1.1 -26.2 
Other expenses -21.3 1.1 -20.2 
Total operating expenses -46.4 0.0 -46.4 

 

 

 Events after the reporting date  

No such material events have occurred after the end of the financial year in the Group and the Bank, that would affect the 
conditions of the assets and liabilities as at the reporting date 31 December 2020. 
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (continued) 
 

 Primary statements of parent company – the Bank – as a separate entity 

40.1.  Income Statement of the Bank  
 
(millions of EUR) 

  2020  2019 
reclassified 

(Note 38) 

 

      
      

Interest income calculated using the effective interest 
rate method 

 65.8 
 

65.5 
 

Other interest similar income  0.2  0.4  

Interest expense  -11.6  -8.9  

Net interest income  54.4  57.0  

      

Fee and commission income  51.6  51.2  

Fee and commission expense  -17.3  -17.1  

Net fee and commission income  34.3  34.1  

      

Net financial income  7.7  8.7  

      

Dividends   0.1  2.6  

Other operating income  2.7  2.6  

Net other income  2.8  5.2  

      

Personnel expenses  -26.1  -26.2  

Depreciation, amortization and impairment of  
tangible and intangible assets 

 
-6.9 

 
-6.9 

 

Other expenses  -17.9  -20.2  

Total operating expenses  -50.9  -53.3  

      

Net expected credit losses  -12.8  -4.5  

      

Profit before income tax  35.5  47.2  

      
Income tax expenses  0.2  -  
        
Net profit for the year  35.7  47.2  

      
 

Statement of comprehensive income of the Bank 
 
(millions of EUR) 

  2020  2019  
      
Net profit for the year  35.7  47.2  

Other comprehensive income for the year  -  -  

Total comprehensive income for the year  35.7  47.2  
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (continued) 
40. Primary statements of parent company – the Bank – as a separate entity (continued) 
 

40.2.  Statement of Financial Position of the Bank  

 
(millions of EUR) 

  31/12/2020   31/12/2019 
Assets      
Cash and balances with central bank  375.0   602.3 
Receivables from credit institutions  472.1   39.6 
Loans to the public  3,043.1   3,011.9 
Debt securities  275.7   150.6 
Derivatives  31.4   44.7 
Equity instruments  4.4   8.5 
Investments in subsidiaries  5.0   5.0 
Intangible assets  7.9   8.7 
Property, plant and equipment  5.1   6.2 
Right of use assets  6.8   10.1 
Investment property  0.1   0.1 
Deferred income tax assets  -   2.4 
Other assets  18.9   41.8 
Prepaid expenses and accrued income  2.8   2.7 
Total assets  4,248.3   3,934.6 
      
Liabilities      
Deposits from central banks and credit institutions  235.5   327.6 
Deposits and borrowings from the public  3,519.6   3,101.0 
Derivatives  33.5   45.9 
Provisions  5.0   2.7 
Other liabilities  37.7   77.4 
Accrued expenses and prepaid income  8.5   7.7 
Total liabilities  3,839.8   3,562.3 
      
Equity      

     

Share capital  145.3   145.3 
Share premium  5.1   5.1 
Other reserves  0.7   0.5 
Retained earnings  257.4   221.4 
Total equity  408.5   372.3 
      

Total liabilities and equity  4,248.3   3,934.6 
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (continued) 
40. Primary statements of parent company – the Bank – as a separate entity (continued) 
 

40.3.  Statement of Changes in the Equity of the Bank  

 
(millions of EUR) 

 Share 
capital 

Share 
premium 

Other 
reserves 

Retained 
earnings 

Total 
equity 

      

Balance at 1 January 2019 145.3 5.1 0.6 219.9 370.9 

Profit for the year - - - 47.1 47.1 

Total comprehensive income for the year - - - 47.1 47.1 

Dividends  - - - -45.9 -45.9 

Share-based compensation - - 0.2 - 0.2 

Realisation of share-based compensation - - -0.3 0.3 - 

Balance at 31 December 2019 145.3 5.1 0.5 221.4 372.3 

Profit for the year - - - 35.8 35.8 

Total comprehensive income for the year - - - 35.8 35.8 

Share-based compensation - - 0.4 - 0.4 

Realisation of share-based compensation - - -0.2 0.2 - 

Balance at 31 December 2020 145.3 5.1 0.7 257.4 408.5 
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (continued) 
40. Primary statements of parent company – the Bank – as a separate entity (continued) 
 

40.4.  Statement of Cash Flows of the Bank  

 
(millions of EUR) 

 2020  2019 
    
Cash flows from operating activities    
Profit before income tax  35.5  47.2 
Amortisation and depreciation of intangible assets and 
property and equipment 3.5  3.5 
Increase in allowances for loan impairment 12.8  4.5 
Interest income on loans -64.5  -64.2 
Interest expense on customer and bank deposits 3.4  1.6 
Profit / (loss) from revaluation of foreign currency -6.7  1.5 
Loss from disposal of tangible property and equipment  -  0.1 
Lease expenses 3.8  3.8 
Dividends received -  -2.5 
Increase in share based compensations 0.4  0.2 
(Increase) / decrease in other assets  23.6  -10.9 
Increase/ (decrease) in other liabilities -32.9  27.4 
Increase / (decrease) in cash and cash equivalents from 
operating activities  before changes in assets and liabilities -21.1  12.2 
    
Increase  in loans to credit institutions and mandatory reserve 
in central bank -1.9  -3.3 
Increase / (decrease) of securities designated at fair value 
through profit or loss -125.0  104.0 
Increase in balances due from banks -34.0  -0.8 
Increase in loans and advances to customers -44.2  -69.0 
Decrease in balances due to banks -91.9  -219.1 
Increase in deposits due to customers 418.5  397.1 
Increase in cash and cash equivalents from operating 
activities before income taxes 100.4  221.1 
    
Interest received from loans issued 64.6  64.4 
Interest paid on customer and bank deposits -3.5  -1.5 
Income tax received 2.7  - 
Net cash flows from operating activities 164.2  284.0 
    
Cash flows from investing activities    
Purchase of property and equipment   -1.6  -3.0 
Sale of property and equipment -  0.1 
Increase in investment securities 4.2  -2.7 
Dividends received -  2.5 
Net cash from / (used in) investing activities 2.6  -3.1 
    
Cash flows from financing activities    
Lease liabilities -4.1  -4.3 
Dividends paid out -  -45.9 
Net cash used in financing activities -4.1  -50.2 
    
Net cash inflow for the year 162.7  230.7 
    
Cash and cash equivalents at the beginning of the year 608.8  379.6 
    
Effect of exchange rates on cash and cash equivalents 6.7  -1.5 
    
Cash and cash equivalents at the end of the year 778.2  608.8 
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (continued) 
40. Primary statements of parent company – the Bank – as a separate entity (continued) 
 

40.5.  Capital adequacy of the Bank 

The following table shows the Bank’s calculation of the capital adequacy  ratio according to the Basel III requirements: 

  (millions of EUR) 

Position name 
31/12/2020 

 
31/12/2019 

 
   
Capital base   
1. Own funds 371.1 301.7 
1.1. Tier 1 capital  371.1 301.7 
1.2. Tier 2 capital - - 
   
Risk weighted assets   

Total risk exposure amount 1,720.0 1,677.7 
1. Risk weighted exposure amounts for credit, counterparty 
credit and dilution risks and free deliveries 

1,601.3 1,557.8 

1.1. Standardised approach (SA) 57.2 36.9 
1.2. Internal ratings based approach (IRB) 1,544.1 1,520.9 
1.2.1. IRB approaches when neither own estimates of LGD nor 
Conversion Factors are used 

1,291.9 1,255.1 

1.2.2. IRB approaches when own estimates of LGD and/or 
Conversion Factors are used 252.2 265.8 

2. Total risk exposure amount for position, foreign exchange 
and commodities risks 

0.7 0.5 

3. Total risk exposure amount for operational risk (AMA) 118.0 119.4 
4. Total risk exposure amount for credit valuation adjustment - - 
5. Other risk exposure amounts   - - 

   
Capital ratios   
Own funds 371.1 301.7 
Total risk exposure amount Basel III* 1,720.0 1,677.7 
Own fund requirement (8 per cent) 137.6 134.2 
Total capital ratio 21.6% 18.0% 
Tier 1 Capital ratio  21.6% 18.0% 
CET 1 Capital ratio 21.6% 18.0% 
* (without additional risk exposure amount due to application of 

Basel I floor) 
- - 

Regulatory Common Equity Tier 1 capital requirement 
including buffer requirement (Pillar 1 only) 8.8% 8.8% 
of which capital conservation buffer requirement 2.5% 2.5% 
of which systemic risk buffer requirement 0.0% 0.0% 
of which countercyclical capital buffer requirement 0.0% 0.0% 
of which other systemically important institution buffer 1.8% 1.8% 
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Translation from Latvian 

 

DOCUMENT DATE IS THE TIME OF ITS ELECTRONIC SIGNATURE 

To the Shareholder of SEB Banka AS 

Report on the Audit of the Financial Statements 

Opinion 

We have audited the accompanying consolidated financial statements of SEB Banka AS and its subsidiaries (the Group) set out 
on pages 13 to 83 of the accompanying Annual Report, which comprise the consolidated statement of financial position as at 
31 December 2020, consolidated statement of income and the consolidated statement of comprehensive income, consolidated 
statement of changes in equity and consolidated statement of cash flows for the year then ended, and notes to the consolidated 
financial statements, including a summary of significant accounting policies and other explanatory notes.  

In our opinion, the accompanying consolidated financial statements of the Group give a true and fair view of the consolidated 
financial position of the Group as at 31 December 2020, and of consolidated financial performance of the Group and consolidated 
cash flows of the Group  for the year then ended in accordance with the International Financial Reporting Standards as adopted 
by the European Union. 

Basis for Opinion 

We conducted our audit in accordance with International Standards on Auditing adopted in the Republic of Latvia (ISAs). Our 
responsibilities under those standards are further described in the consolidated 
Financial Statements section of our report. We are independent of the Group in accordance with the International Code of Ethics 
for Professional Accountants (including International Independence Standards) (IESBA Code) together with the independence 
requirements included in the Law on Audit Services of Republic of Latvia that are relevant to our audit of the consolidated 
financial statements in the Republic of Latvia. We have fulfilled our other ethical responsibilities in accordance with the Law on 
Audit Services of Republic of Latvia and the IESBA Code. We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and 
appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion. 

Key audit matters 

Key audit matters are those matters that, in our professional judgment, were of most significance in our audit of the consolidated 
financial statements of the Group of the current period. These matters were addressed in the context of our audit of the 
consolidated financial statements of the Group as a whole, and in forming our opinion thereon, and we do not provide a separate 
opinion on these matters. For each matter below, our description of how our audit addressed the matter is provided in that 
context. 

We have fulfilled the responsibilities described in the the audit of the consolidated financial 
statements section of our report, including in relation to these matters. Accordingly, our audit included the performance of 
procedures designed to respond to our assessment of the risks of material misstatement of the consolidated financial statements 
of the Group. The results of our audit procedures, including the procedures performed to address the matters below, provide the 
basis for our audit opinion on the accompanying consolidated financial statements of the Group.  
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The carrying amount of loans to the public as at 31 
December 2020 amounted to EUR 3 578 million, the 
impairment charge recognized amounted to EUR 15.8 
million and the total impairment loss allowance as at 31 
December 2020 amounted to EUR 43.4 million in the 
Group`s financial statements. 

provision policy is presented in the accounting policies 
section in Notes 1.8 and 1.23 to the financial statements. 
Critical accounting estimates and judgments, disclosures of 
loans and guarantees and the credit risk management are 
set out in Notes 2.2, 11 and 15 to the financial statements. 

Loan receivables are significant to the total assets of the 
Group`s financial statements. 

We identified this area to be significant for the audit 
because measurement and recognition of allowances for 

credit loss (ECL) model is associated with significant 
estimation as it requires the management to exercise 
judgement and apply complex and subjective assumptions 
both about the timing and amounts of such impairment. 
Key areas of judgement include the identification of 
exposures with a significant deterioration in credit quality, 
assumptions used in the expected credit loss model such 
as the financial condition of the counterparty, expected 
future cash flows and forward-looking macroeconomic 
factors, including COVID-19 pandemic impact.  

Due to the above circumstances, we considered loan 
impairment assessment to be the key audit matter. 

Our audit procedures included, among others, the following: 

We gained understanding and tested the key controls over the 
loan issuance, booking and monitoring and loan impairment 
provisioning processes.   

that is based on IFRS 9. With the support of IFRS 9 specialists, 
we assessed the compliance of the policy and the model with the 
requirements of IFRS 9 by assessing each significant model 
component: exposure at default, probability of default and loss 
given default, definitions of default and significant increase in 
credit risk, use of macroeconomic scenarios. 

In addition to testing key controls, for a sample of loans we 
performed testing of loan portfolio by comparing inputs to internal 
and external data, including contract dates, risk classes for non-
retail exposures and risk pool rates for retail exposures, collateral 
values and types, performing/ non-performing status and other 
inputs used in ECL calculator as at 31 December 2020. 

For a sample of loans and model outputs with the support of 
valuation specialistswe performed recalculations of ECL. ECL 
adjustments related to expert credit judgement were analyzed too. 

adjustments. 

We performed analytical procedures, such as a comparison of 
loan loss impairment allowance balances to industry levels, 
comparison to prior year, movements between stages etc. 

We have assessed the model overlay adjustments made by 
Group, e.g. pertaining to the assessed effect of the COVID-19 
pandemic on the ECL.   

We also assessed the adequacy of the financial statement 
disclosures in Notes 1.8, 1.23, 2.2, 11 and 15. 

 
Reporting on other information  
Management is responsible for the other information. The other information comprises: 
 

 the Statement of the Management of the Bank including Non-financial Statement, as set out on pages 3 to 11 of the 
accompanying Annual Report; 

 the Statement of Responsibility of the Management of the Bank, as set out on page 12 of the accompanying Annual 
Report; 
 

 
 
Our opinion on the consolidated financial statements does not cover the other information and we do not express any form of 
assurance conclusion thereon, except as described in the Other reporting responsibilities in accordance with the legislation of 
the Republic of Latvia section of our report. 
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In connection with our audit of the consolidated financial statements, our responsibility is to read the other information and, in 
doing so, consider whether the other information is materially inconsistent with the consolidated financial statements or our 
knowledge obtained in the audit or otherwise appears to be materially misstated.  

If, based on the work we have performed and in light of the knowledge and understanding of the Group and its environment 
obtained in the course of our audit, we conclude that there is a material misstatement of this other information, we are required 
to report that fact. We have nothing to report in this regard. 

Other reporting responsibilities in accordance with the legislation of the Republic of Latvia 

We have other reporting responsibilities in accordance with the Law on Audit Services of the Republic of Latvia with respect to 
the Statement of the Management of the Bank. These additional reporting responsibilities are beyond those required under the 
ISAs. 

Our responsibility is to consider whether the Statement of the Management of the Bank is prepared in accordance with the 
requirements of the 
for Banks, Investment Brokerage Firms and Investmen
Commission of the Republic of Latvia.  

Based solely on the work undertaken in the course of our audit, in our opinion: 

 the information given in the Statement of the Management of the Bank for the financial year for which the 
consolidated financial statements are prepared is consistent with the consolidated financial statements; and 

 the Statement of the Management of the Bank has been prepared in accordance with the requirements of the 
Regu

Commission of the Republic of Latvia. 

In accordance with the Law on Audit Services of the Republic of Latvia with respect to the Non-financial Statement our 
responsibility is to report whether the Group has prepared the Non-financial Statement and whether the Non-financial Statement 
is included in the Statement of the Management of the Bank or prepared as a separate element of the Annual Report or is 
included in the consolidated Non-financial Statement of the  Parent Company. 
 
We hereby report that the Group has prepared a consolidated Non-financial Statement, and it is included in the Statement of 
the Management of the Bank. 

Responsibilities of Management and Those Charged with Governance for the Financial Statements 

Management is responsible for the preparation of the financial statements that give a true and fair view in accordance with the 
International Financial Reporting Standards as adopted by the European Union and for such internal control as management 
determines is necessary to enable the preparation of financial statements that are free from material misstatement, whether due 
to fraud or error. 

In preparing the financial statements, management is responsible for assessing ability to continue as a going 
concern, disclosing, as applicable, matters related to going concern and using the going concern basis of accounting unless 
management either intends to liquidate the Group or to cease operations, or has no realistic alternative but to do so. 
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Responsibilities for the Audit of the consolidated Financial Statements 

Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the consolidated financial statements as a whole are free from 

assurance is a high level of assurance, but is not a guarantee that an audit conducted in accordance with ISAs will always detect 
a material misstatement when it exists. Misstatements can arise from fraud or error and are considered material if, individually 
or in the aggregate, they could reasonably be expected to influence the economic decisions of users taken on the basis of these 
financial statements. 

As part of an audit in accordance with ISAs, we exercise professional judgment and maintain professional scepticism throughout 
the audit. We also:  

 Identify and assess the risks of material misstatement of the financial statements, whether due to fraud or error, design 
and perform audit procedures responsive to those risks, and obtain audit evidence that is sufficient and appropriate to 
provide a basis for our opinion. The risk of not detecting a material misstatement resulting from fraud is higher than 
for one resulting from error, as fraud may involve collusion, forgery, intentional omissions, misrepresentations, or the 
override of internal control. 

 Obtain an understanding of internal control relevant to the audit in order to design audit procedures that are appropriate 
in the circumstances, but not for the purpose of expressing an opinion on the effectiveness of internal 
control. 

 Evaluate the appropriateness of accounting policies used and the reasonableness of accounting estimates and related 
disclosures made by management. 

 
audit evidence obtained, whether a material uncertainty exists related to events or conditions that may cast significant 
doubt on ability to continue as a going concern. If we conclude that a material uncertainty exists, we are 

disclosures are inadequate, to modify our opinion. Our conclusions are based on the audit evidence obtained up to 
the Group to cease to continue as a 

going concern. 
 Evaluate the overall presentation, structure and content of the financial statements, including the disclosures, and 

whether the financial statements represent the underlying transactions and events in a manner that achieves fair 
presentation. 

 Obtain sufficient appropriate audit evidence regarding the financial information of the entities or business activities 
within the Group to express an opinion on the consolidated financial statements. We are responsible for the direction, 
supervision and performance of the group audit. We remain solely responsible for our audit opinion. 

We communicate with those charged with governance regarding, among other matters, the planned scope and timing of the 
audit and significant audit findings, including any significant deficiencies in internal control that we identify during our audit. 

We also provide those charged with governance with a statement that we have complied with relevant ethical requirements 
regarding independence, and to communicate with them all relationships and other matters that may reasonably be thought to 
bear on our independence, and where applicable, related safeguards. 

From the matters communicated with those charged with governance, we determine those matters that were of most significance 
in the audit of the financial statements of the current period and are therefore the key audit matters. We describe these matters 

circumstances, we determine that a matter should not be communicated in our report because the adverse consequences of 
doing so would reasonably be expected to outweigh the public interest benefits of such communication. 
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Other reporting responsibilities and confirmations required by the legislation of the Republic of Latvia and European 
Union when providing audit services to public interest entities 

We were first appointed as auditors of the Group on 28th March 2019 by Shareholder. Our appointment has been renewed 
annually by shareholder resolution representing a total period of uninterrupted engagement appointment of 2 years. 

We confirm that: 

 our audit opinion is consistent with the additional report presented to the Audit Committee of the Group; 

 as stipulated in paragraph 376 of the Law on Audit Services of the Republic of Latvia we have not provided to the 
Group the prohibited non-audit services (NASs) referred to in EU Regulation (EU) No 537/2014. We also remained 
independent of the audited entity in conducting the audit. 

report is .  
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